
SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

South Lakeland House, Kendal, Cumbria LA9 4UQ 
www.southlakeland.gov.uk  
 
 

You are requested to attend a virtual meeting of  

the Cabinet 

on Wednesday, 25 November 2020, at 10.00 a.m. 

 

Please note that this meeting will be conducted remotely via Microsoft Teams Live Events 
and in accordance with Section 78 of the Coronavirus Act 2020.  Access details will be 
provided to Members prior to the meeting.  Members of the public will be able to access the 
live broadcast of the meeting here. 

For those using an Apple Device to access the meeting, please note that Safari is not 
compatible with Microsoft Teams, so you will not be able to watch the meeting using this 
web browser.  If you wish to watch a virtual meeting on any Apple device (iPad, iPhone or 
Mac) you will need to download the Microsoft Teams App from the App Store, then click the 
link on the relevant SLDC webpage or Agenda and follow the instructions on screen. 

Agendas are divided into two parts, with Part I items being considered in the presence of 
the press and public.  Part II Items, if any, will be considered in the absence of the press 
and public for the reasons indicated on the Agenda and relevant reports. 

It should be noted that discussions held in Part I are recorded and that the recordings are 
uploaded to the Council’s Website. 

 

Membership 
Councillors 

 
Giles Archibald Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder 

Robin Ashcroft Economy, Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder 

Jonathan Brook Deputy Leader and Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder 

Philip Dixon Customer and Commercial Services and People Portfolio Holder 

Andrew Jarvis Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder 

Dyan Jones Climate Emergency and Localism Portfolio Holder 

Suzie Pye Health, Wellbeing and Financial Resilience Portfolio Holder 

 
Note – Where relevant, agendas for Members are labelled “Private Document Pack” and 
contain exempt information within the papers. Any relevant pages are marked as restricted 
within Agendas labelled “Public Document Pack”. 
 
Monday, 16 November 2020 
 
Linda Fisher, Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer) 
 

For all enquiries, please contact Inge Booth, Senior Committee Services Officer. 

Telephone: 01539 793190 

 
Email: committeeservices@southlakeland.gov.uk 

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/
https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_MGQ3NDViNjYtMjRhNS00NDQ0LWFiNGEtMDRiM2UwODdjN2Jj%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%228f18e400-f52a-4870-b1e1-4fa83ffcda3d%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%226fc47941-2366-4492-84c3-952ffdc897a8%22%2c%22IsBroadcastMeeting%22%3atrue%7d


AGENDA 
 

 Page Nos. 

PART I   

1  APOLOGIES   

 To receive apologies for absence, if any.  

2  CABINET EXECUTIVE DECISIONS  5 - 20 

 To authorise the Chairman to sign, as a correct record, the Executive Decisions 
made by Cabinet on 5 November 2020. 

 

3  DELEGATED EXECUTIVE DECISIONS  21 - 26 

 To receive the Delegated Executive Decisions made by Portfolio Holders or 
Officers on 5 November 2020. 

 

4  LANCASTER AND SOUTH CUMBRIA JOINT COMMITTEE  27 - 30 

 To receive the Executive Decisions made by the Lancaster and South Cumbria 
Joint Committee on 21 October 2020 and a verbal update, if any. 

 

5  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 To receive declarations by Members of interests in respect of items on this 
Agenda.  

Members are reminded that, in accordance with the revised Code of Conduct, 
they are required to declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or other 
registrable interests which have not already been declared in the Council’s 
Register of Interests.  (It is a criminal offence not to declare a disclosable 
pecuniary interest either in the Register or at the meeting.) 

Members may, however, also decide, in the interests of clarity and 
transparency, to declare at this point in the meeting, any such disclosable 
pecuniary interests which they have already declared in the Register, as well as 
any other registrable or other interests. 

If a Member requires advice on any item involving a possible declaration of 
interest which could affect his/her ability to speak and/or vote, he/she is advised 
to contact the Monitoring Officer at least 24 hours in advance of the meeting. 

 

6  LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS   

 To consider whether the item in Part II of the Agenda should be considered in 
the presence of the press and public. 

 

7  PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 Any member of the public who wishes to ask a question, make representations 
or present a deputation or petition at this meeting should apply to do so by no 
later than 0:01am (one minute past midnight) two working days before the 
meeting.  Information on how to make the application can be obtained by 
viewing the Council’s Website www.southlakeland.gov.uk or by contacting the 
Committee Services Team on 01539 733333. 

(1) Questions and Representations 

 To receive any questions or representations which have been received 
from members of the public. 

(2) Deputations and Petitions 

 To receive any deputations or petitions which have been received from 
members of the public. 

 

http://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/


8  FORWARD PLAN  31 - 42 

 To note the contents of the Forward Plan published on 9 November 2020.  

9  CORPORATE FINANCIAL UPDATE QUARTER 2, 2020/21  43 - 68 

 To consider the corporate financial update Quarter 2, 2020/21.  

10  COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNTS AND PREMIA  69 - 84 

 To consider proposals regarding reviewing the levels of Council Tax to be 
charged on empty homes from 1 April 2021 to form the basis of consultation 
with stakeholders and return to Cabinet and Council for final consideration in 
February 2021. 

 

11  SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN AND MODERN SLAVERY POLICIES  85 - 144 

 To consider adoption of a Safeguarding Children Policy and Modern Slavery 
Statement. 

 

PART II   

Private Section (exempt reasons under Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006, specified by way of paragraph number)  

 

12  IN HOUSE REPAIRS AND PROPERTY MAINTENANCE SERVICE  
 
- Paragraph 1 - Information relating to any individual.  
- Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 

particular person (including the authority holding that information)  
- Paragraph 5 - Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional 

privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings.  
 

145 - 154 

 To consider the delivery of the Repairs and Property Maintenance Service for 
the next three years. 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



67 
05.11.2020 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

EXECUTIVE DECISION NOTICE 
 
CABINET 
 
A record of the decisions made at the virtual meeting of the Cabinet held on 
Thursday, 
5 November 2020, at 10.00 a.m. 
 

Present 
 

Councillors 
 

Giles Archibald (Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder) (Chairman) 
 

Robin Ashcroft Economy, Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder 

Jonathan Brook Deputy Leader and Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder 

Philip Dixon Customer and Commercial Services and People Portfolio Holder 

Andrew Jarvis Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder 

Dyan Jones Climate Emergency and Localism Portfolio Holder 

 
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Suzie Pye (Health, Wellbeing and 
Financial Resilience Portfolio Holder). 
 
Also in attendance at the meeting were Shadow Executive Members Pat Bell (Shadow 
Cabinet (Health, Wellbeing and Financial Resilience Portfolio)), Tom Harvey (Shadow 
Cabinet Leader (Climate Emergency and Localism Portfolio)) and John Holmes (Shadow 
Cabinet Deputy Leader (Finance and Resources)). 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Shadow Executive Members James Airey 
(Shadow Cabinet (Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio)), Roger Bingham (Shadow Cabinet 
(Economy, Culture and Leisure Portfolio)), Helen Irving (Shadow Cabinet (Customer and 
Commercial Services and People Portfolio)) and Kevin Lancaster (Shadow Cabinet (Housing 
and Innovation Portfolio)), and Mark Wilson (Leader of the Labour Group). 
 
 

Officers 
 

Inge Booth Legal, Governance and Democracy Specialist 

Lawrence Conway Chief Executive 

Linda Fisher Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer) 

Dan Hudson Strategy Lead Specialist 

Simon McVey Operational Lead Support Services 

Simon Rowley Director of Customer and Commercial Services 

Helen Smith Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) 

 

CEX/70 CHAIRMAN'S INTRODUCTION 
 
Following confirmation that the live stream of the meeting had commenced, the Leader 
referred to the new Government legislation allowing councils to conduct remote 
meetings and explained in detail to all taking part, and for the benefit of members of the 
public, the procedures for the meeting.  He then invited Members of the Cabinet, the 
Shadow Cabinet and the Leader of the Labour Group to introduce themselves, to 

Page 5

Item No.2



68 
05.11.2020 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

advise whether they were taking part by video or audio and to confirm that they were 
able to see (where practicable) and hear all Members participating in the meeting.  All 
Members present, including the Leader himself, having indicated that this was the 
case, he referred to officers present at the meeting who would introduce themselves 
when asked to address the meeting. 
 
The Leader took the opportunity to express gratitude to all officers involved in 
supporting the Council’s virtual meetings, acknowledging the large amount of effort 
involved, and he asked the Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist 
(Monitoring Officer) to pass on his thanks. 
 

CEX/71 CABINET EXECUTIVE DECISIONS 
 
No Member having raised concern when asked by the Chairman, it was 
 
RESOLVED – That the Chairman be authorised to sign, as a correct record, the 
Executive Decisions made by Cabinet on 9 September 2020. 
 

CEX/72 DELEGATED EXECUTIVE DECISIONS 
 
No Member having raised concern when asked by the Chairman, it was 
 
RESOLVED – That the Delegated Executive Decisions made by Portfolio Holders 
or Officers on 10 September 2020 be received. 
 

CEX/73 EMERGENCY DELEGATED EXECUTIVE DECISIONS 
 
No Member having raised concern when asked by the Chairman, it was 
 
RESOLVED – That the Emergency Delegated Executive Decision made by the 
Chief Executive on 9 October 2020 (010), in accordance with the Leader’s 
decision noted by Cabinet at CEX/104 (2019/20), be received. 
 

CEX/74 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST AND DISPENSATIONS 
 
The Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer) referred to 
her recent briefing note on interests and reminded Members that a dispensation had 
been granted to all Members with regard to allowances in respect of matters relating to 
Local Government Reform and Devolution for a period of four years. 
 
The Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer) informed 
Members that, for Agenda Item Nos. 9 and 10 regarding Local Government Reform, 
councillors who were dual-hatted, i.e. District Councillors and County Councillors, 
would have an Other Registrable Interest under the Code of Conduct.  The other 
registrable interest would be recorded and, unless any Member considered themselves 
to be biased or predetermined, they could speak and vote on both items. 
 
The Leader having asked if there were any other declarations of interest, it was 
 
RESOLVED – That it be noted that, in respect of Agenda Item No.12, Councillor 
John Holmes, for the purpose of transparency, explained that he was a Director on the 
Board of South Lakes Housing. 
 

Page 6



69 
05.11.2020 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

CEX/75 LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - EXCLUDED ITEMS 
 
There were no excluded items on the agenda. 
 

CEX/76 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
No questions, representations, deputations or petitions had been received in respect of 
this meeting. 
 

CEX/77 FORWARD PLAN 
 
No Member having raised concern when asked by the Chairman, it was 
 
RESOLVED – That the contents of the Forward Plan published on 27 October 
2020 be noted. 
 

CEX/78 LOCAL GOVERNMENT REFORM - PROPOSAL FOR BAY AREA 
 
Summary 
 
Copies of Appendix 1 to the report, which had been marked “to follow” on the agenda, 
had been circulated to Members and published on the Council’s Website on 
2 November 2020. 
 
The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder reported that, at its 
meeting on 6 October 2020, Council had authorised himself and the Chief Executive to 
work with Barrow Borough and Lancaster City councils to explore devolution, including 
the development of a high level case for a new unitary council for the area comprising 
the three districts.  It had also been noted that the Secretary of State may then invite 
the Council to put forward a formal proposal which would be subject to future 
agreement. 
 
Prior to consideration of a high level case, on the 9 October 2020, the Secretary of 
State for Housing, Communities and Local Government, in exercise of his powers 
under Part 1 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, had 
invited any principal authority in the area of the county of Cumbria to submit a proposal 
for a single tier of local government, in accordance with the following criteria:- 
 

 by 9 November 2020, authorities must at least submit an outline proposal, and if a 
full proposal had not been submitted by that date, the full proposal must be 
submitted as soon as practicable thereafter and by no later than 9 December 2020; 

 authorities must have regard to the guidance from the Secretary of State; and 

 an authority may either make its own proposal or make a proposal jointly. 
 
In exploring devolution around the Bay area, Barrow, Lancaster and South Lakeland 
Councils had now developed the initial work to prepare an outline proposal to meet the 
guidance set out by the Secretary of State in responding to an invitation. 
 
The draft Outline Proposal formed Appendix 1 to the report.  The Outline Proposal set 
out the rationale for developing a new unitary council.  The proposal indicated the 
opportunities, strengths and strategic needs of the area’s communities and economy 
and how they may best be addressed through the leadership and resources of local 
government based on the geography of the functioning economic area and health 
services footprint. 

Page 7



70 
05.11.2020 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

 
In addition to structural change, the proposal indicated the benefits which could be 
realised through public service reform, within local government and collaboratively with 
other service providers.  The area offered the population scale envisaged by the 
Government’s invite, with a population circa 320,000. 
 
The proposal acknowledged the historic and current associations between places and 
communities across the Morecambe Bay area.  This strengthened the rationale for the 
organisation of local government at a scale and footprint readily identified by residents 
and businesses.  This enabled locally based, accessible and engaged local 
government.  
 
The development of further information, proposal and detail would be identified and set 
out in an action plan to establish the Full Proposal.  This would include, for example, 
further assessment of:- 
 

 the degree of local support for the proposal; 

 functions currently performed by the County Councils and modelling their delivery in 
the unitary arrangement; 

 proposals regarding Police, Fire and Rescue services; 

 opportunities for service reform with regards to health and care services; 

 options for complementary arrangement of Combined Authorities and powers and 
resources which may be devolved to them; 

 financial modelling:- 
o The operational costs of the new council, including comparison with 

alternative proposals and implications for costs to Council Tax payers; and 
o The costs and funding of transition from the existing to future arrangements; 

and 

 proposals with regard to the structure of local government in the remainder of 
Cumbria should the Proposal be implemented. 

 
Members were being asked to consider and agree the outline proposal for submission 
to Government by 9 November 2020. 
 
Subject to Council approval, work would continue on the full proposal, with a report to 
be presented back to Cabinet and Council prior to the deadline date of 9 December 
2020. 
 
It was expected that Cumbria County Council would submit a proposal for a single 
unitary council for Cumbria.  As an alternative to the single unitary proposal, it was 
likely that options would be proposed by other district councils for two unitary councils 
based on combinations of the geographic footprints of the existing district councils.  
The range of the other proposals would not become clear until 9 November. 
 
In presenting the report, the Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder 
informed Members that the same report would be discussed by full Council at its 
meeting in the evening, with Barrow and Lancaster’s councils also today considering 
the matter.  Following these meetings, engagement would continue to take place with 
parish and town council and key stakeholders.  The short timescale prescribed 
necessitated a shorter period of consultation than normally undertaken by the Council 
and consultants were, therefore, being appointed to assist in this task, as detailed 
within the next item of business on the Agenda. 
 

Page 8



71 
05.11.2020 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder referred to the County 
Council’s proposal for a single unitary Cumbia and to potential submissions from the 
other districts for other combinations.  He believed, however, that the option of a 
unitary authority based on the footprint of Morecambe Bay was vital for the residents of 
South Lakeland and drew attention to the shared and functioning economy, similar 
cultural history, the shared health trust and the LA postcode.  He referred to the 
suggestion that substantial savings and efficiencies could be made by a single unitary 
Cumbria with which he disagreed, pointing out that independent research showed no 
conclusive evidence of this.  Independent research, which he hoped Members had 
seen, also indicated that in large authorities, voter turnout reduced, there was less trust 
in councillors and less engagement.  He also pointed out that a number of the 
Members of Parliament in the area were in favour of smaller unitaries. 
 
The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder turned to questions raised 
previously around, for example, social care, child services, assets, care homes and 
finances.  He explained that work was being carried out in relation to these areas and 
that he did not see any implications for a Morecambe Bay unitary authority in this 
regard. 
 
The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder stressed the fact that all 
possible was being done to keep to the Government short timescale in putting together 
a professional submission and reiterated that it was essential to provide South 
Lakeland’s residents the option of a Bay unitary authority. 
 
Members expressed support for the proposal.  The Economy, Culture and Leisure 
Portfolio Holder spoke from an economic perspective and referred to informal 
discussions he had had with a number of businesses where strong concerns had been 
raised at the short timeframe imposed and to the timing, particularly in the light of the 
current Covid-19 pandemic.  He said that opinions were divided across the business 
community, however, pointed out that the Bay was a functioning economic region 
which would be of increasing importance emerging from the pandemic.  The Deputy 
Leader and Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder stressed that this was an 
important decision and that it was incumbent on councillors, as leaders in their 
communities, to try to engage with residents in this process.  The Council had been 
seeking to do this in a variety of fora, through community groups, parish councils and 
business leaders.  With little time remaining, he stressed that it was key to get input 
from residents.  He referred to the independent analysis of people views being 
commissioned by the Council, explaining that this could only be a limited exercise 
given the time and resources available.  All of these inputs will feed in ultimately to the 
final proposals going forward, hopefully towards the end of November for the final 
December submission date.  He strongly endorsed the direction of travel and looked 
forward to further engagement and clarity. 
 
The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder thanked the Deputy Leader 
and Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder for his work in the process, as well as 
other Member of the Cabinet who were engaged in different aspects in preparation of 
the submission and business case.  He further expressed gratitude to those officers 
involved who had worked hard to get to this point and who continued to develop the 
business case, and asked the Chief Executive to pass on these thanks. 
 
The Leader asked the meeting if the motion was agreed.  There was no dissent. 
 

Page 9



72 
05.11.2020 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

Decision 
 
RESOLVED - That 
 
(1) the outline proposal as attached at Appendix 1 to the report be agreed for 
submission to the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government by 
9 November 2020; 
 
(2) the Chief Executive and Leader be authorised to approve any minor 
amendments that may arise following consideration by Barrow Borough and 
Lancaster City councils prior to submission and to continue with the work on the 
final proposal; and 
 
(3) a final Proposal be submitted to a future meeting of Cabinet and Council 
prior to the requested deadline from Government of 9 December 2020 and it be 
noted that a date of 8 December has been scheduled for this purpose. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
If approved the councils will present the option to Government demonstrating how a 
unitary council will be an effective driver of economic, social and environmental 
benefits for the area’s residents, businesses and visitors, realise the strategic potential 
of the area and enable transformation of public services. 
 
Exploring the case for devolution will consider the benefits a change to local 
government could deliver for economic growth within a highly valued environment with 
opportunity to improve and maximise the wellbeing of residents.  This accords with the 
Council’s priorities of working across boundaries to deliver economic growth, delivering 
a balanced community, reducing income and health inequalities and responding to 
climate change and enhancing biodiversity. 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 

There is an option not to submit a proposal.  This would mean that the opportunity and 
benefits of a unitary council, based on the footprint of the three councils, would not be 
considered by Government alongside other proposals submitted.  The draft Outline 
Proposal indicates the benefits and opportunities which could be realised for residents 
and businesses.  These would be foregone if a proposal were not submitted.  By not 
submitting a proposal, the Council would significantly reduce its influence in the 
reorganisation of local government.  This option is not recommended. 

There is an option to consider some other combinations of district footprints within 
Cumbria, including the single unitary proposal.  It is very likely that these alternative 
options will be submitted by other councils for consideration by Government.  The draft 
Outline Proposal provides an initial commentary on the benefits of the proposal for a 
unitary council based on the footprint of our three authorities.  To ensure that a full 
range of options is considered by Government, this option is not recommended. 

CEX/79 LOCAL GOVERNMENT REFORM (BUILDING A CASE FOR CHANGE) 

Note - The Constitution stated that the call-in procedure should not apply where 
a decision being taken by the Cabinet was urgent and any delay likely to be 
caused by the call-in process would, for example, seriously prejudice the 
Council’s or the public’s interests.  In accordance with paragraph 16(j) of the 
Constitution, the Chairman of the Council had been consulted and had agreed 
that the decision proposed was reasonable in all the circumstances and for it to 
be treated as a matter of urgency and that the call-in process should be waived. 
 

Page 10



73 
05.11.2020 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

Summary 
 
The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder presented a report seeking 
additional funding to support the work required to consider and submit a proposal to 
Government for a single tier of local government. 
 
Council, on 6 October 2020, had approved exploring Local Government Reform and 
devolution, including the development of a high level case for a new Unitary Council for 
the area comprising Barrow Borough, Lancaster City and South Lakeland councils.  It 
had also been noted that the Secretary of State may then invite the Council to put 
forward a formal proposal which would be subject to future agreement. 
 
Prior to consideration of a high level case, the Secretary of State for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government, in exercise of his powers under Part 1 of the 
Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, had now invited any 
principal authority in the area of the county of Cumbria to submit a proposal for a single 
tier of local government, in accordance with the following criteria:- 
 

 by 9 November 2020, authorities must at least submit an outline proposal, and if a 
full proposal had not been submitted by that date, the full proposal must be 
submitted as soon as practicable thereafter and by no later than 9 December 2020; 

 authorities must have regard to the guidance from the Secretary of State; and 

 an authority may either make its own proposal or make a proposal jointly. 
 
In exploring devolution around the Bay area, Barrow, Lancaster and South Lakeland 
Councils had started work to prepare a high level case.  This work would be considered 
in terms of the Outline Proposal required to meet the guidance set out by the Secretary 
of State in responding to an invitation to make a proposal.  If the Outline Proposal was 
approved for submission, work would continue in developing a Full Proposal for 
consideration by Cabinet and Council prior to the submission deadline of 9 December 
2020. 
 
The three Councils were equally sharing the costs of developing the proposal.  
Additional resources would be required to support this and extra funds of £65,000 were 
requested to be set aside from existing budgets (GTH Other Items budget) to help 
develop the proposal for submission. 
 
A decision on whether to submit a proposal would be presented to a future meeting of 
the Cabinet and Council prior to submission to the Secretary of State. 
 
In presenting the report, the Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder 
stressed the importance of appointing consultants with expertise in this field. 
 
The Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder explained that he was keen in his role to 
avoid expenditure where there was no direct and immediate impact on the lives of the 
residents of South Lakeland, adding that he was of the opinion that this was not the 
right time for focussing of Local Government Reform when resources could be better 
used to fight the current pandemic.  However, with the tight timescale involved and with 
Council having voted to explore a Morecambe Bay Unitary, he believed that the many 
different issues which needed to be addressed could only currently be done so through 
the appointment of external consultants. 
 
The Leader asked the meeting if the motion was agreed.  There was no dissent. 
 

Page 11



74 
05.11.2020 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

Decision 
 
RESOLVED - That 
 
(1) approval be given for additional funding of £65,000 from existing budgets 
for external consultancy services and related costs related to preparing a 
proposal for Government; 
 
(2) contract procedural rules with regards to the appointment of consultants 
be waived and the Chief Executive be authorised to agree and appoint 
consultants for the purpose of developing a proposal for submission prior to the 
deadlines set by the MHCLG; and 
 
(3) it be noted that further reports will be brought back to Cabinet and 
Council to agree any proposal prior to submission to Government. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The additional funding is to support the work required to consider and submit a 
proposal for a single tier of local government. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
The Council may choose not to submit a proposal for a single tier authority.  This option 
is not recommended. 
 

CEX/80 COUNCIL PLAN PERFORMANCE MONITORING REPORT QUARTER 2 2020/21 
 
Summary 
 
Copies of the tourism data which had been missing from page 145 of Appendix 2 to the 
report had been circulated to Members and published on the Council’s Website on 
2 November 2020. 

The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder presented an update report 
on progress with the current Council Plan for Quarter 2 of 2020/21.  Monitoring the 
success of the Council Plan demonstrated improvements and ensured that Council 
services addressed the needs of residents in an open and transparent way.  The 
Council was committed to delivering high quality, cost-effective services that met the 
needs of residents and improved quality of life.  The performance management 
process helped the Council to demonstrate how well it was doing. 

The measures listed within the report showed very good performance, demonstrating 
that South Lakeland was a very desirable place to live, work and explore.  However, in 
line with the national trend and the influence of Covid-19, the number of homeless 
households living in temporary accommodation was increasing. 

The report also included the Council’s Strategic Risk Register at Appendix 1.  Following 
a review of the Strategic Risks for Quarter 4 2019/20, it could be seen that 65% of risks 
were now above tolerance.  The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio 
Holder expressed strong concern at this significant change which was due to the 
pressures brought about by Covid-19 which had completely changed the outlook for 
the Council and its residents and, in particular, the most vulnerable.  He pointed out 
that the report demonstrated that these were difficult times for  the Council and its 
residents.  This was not likely to change soon and, until a vaccine for Covid-19 arrived, 
there would be risks to address and manage. 
 

Page 12



75 
05.11.2020 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder drew attention to a new 
and dedicated Appendix 2 which had been produced in light of the current situation 
regarding Covid-19 and which provided sight of business and economic health for the 
District. 
 
The Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder referred to Risk 6 – Medium Term 
Financial Planning – delivery of a balanced budget.  He drew attention to the latest 
round of Government funding to councils for Covid-19 which, he said, was highly 
disadvantageous to South Lakeland.  This funding for Covid-19 was based on the 
levels of deprivation in a district in 2019 and, as a consequence, he said, took no 
recognition of the specific pressures faced by South Lakeland.  The district had 
experienced above average cases and deaths within the vulnerable and older 
population, there had been a huge impact on the hospitality business, the area had had 
amongst the highest rates of furlough in the country and had been hit hard in terms of 
poverty, with massive increases in Universal Credit.  He hoped that Members would 
continue to campaign to urge Government to recognise South Lakeland’s specific 
needs in relation to Covid-19 and to work to try to get proper support from Government 
without which there was a major financial risk both this year and in the long term.  The 
Economy, Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder referred to a gloomy set of figures and 
stressed the need not to underestimate the challenges faced by residents and 
businesses, the most significant fact being that there were circa 46,000 residents who 
had been put into furlough.  This was the highest figure in the UK which reflected the 
importance of the visitor economy, which had been so badly impacted, to the district.  
He praised officers’ performance which was demonstrated within the statistics in the 
report and referred to the positive figures provided around work on business grants, 
small business relief, discretionary business grants and assistance for the self-
employed.  He thanked officers for their work, however, recognising the seriousness of 
the situation and the impact on the economy of South Lakeland. 
 
The Leader asked the meeting if the motion was agreed.  There was no dissent. 
 
Decision 
 
RESOLVED – That the following be noted:- 
 
(1) the Summary of Performance as detailed in the report; and 
 
(2) the detailed risks information contained within Appendix 1 to the report; 
and 
 
(3) the detailed Business and Economy Statistics within Appendix 2 to the 
report. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The report is directly linked to the Council Plan commitment to ensure that the Council 
is equipped to provide the best, most cost effective services.  Details regarding 
performance monitoring are published in line with the Council’s latest Performance 
Management Framework. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
None – the purpose of the report is to receive a performance update.  The Council 
must note successes, monitor progress and take action where appropriate. 
 

Page 13



76 
05.11.2020 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

CEX/81 AFFORDABLE HOUSING - SUGGESTED APPROACH TO MORTGAGEE IN 
POSSESSION CLAUSES 
 
Note – The Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring 
Officer) drew attention to paragraph 7 of the report relating to legal implications 
and advised that it would be noted within the minutes that Members present who 
were also Members on the Planning Committee would reserve their position, 
with, as outlined at paragraph 7.7, a number of applications having already 
obtained approval and which had subsequently requested inclusion of a 
mortgagee in possession clause due to be taken back through Planning 
Committee or delegation sought for officers to deal with outstanding matters, 
when each case would be considered on planning merits. 
 
Summary 
 
The Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder presented a report which referred to 
development proposals where affordable housing delivery was being secured by 
Section 106 Agreements in those parts of South Lakeland District Council outside the 
Lake District and Yorkshire Dales National Parks (i.e. the area for which South 
Lakeland District Council was the local planning authority).  In the National Parks, 
Section 106 Agreements were negotiated with the relevant national park authority, 
although still advised by South Lakeland District Council as Housing Authority. 
 
Mortgagee in possession clauses were currently being sought on a number of sites 
affecting the delivery of affordable homes. 
 
The report explained in detail what a mortgagee in possession clause was.  A 
mortgagee in possession was a lender (person or body) which had entered into a 
mortgage in respect of a dwelling constructed on the proposed development site or part 
of the proposed development site and had taken action, in the form of taking 
possession of the said dwelling, following a default by the borrower in respect of the 
repayment due under that mortgage. 
 
In the context of Affordable Housing, as defined at Annex 2 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework June 2019, mortgagee in possession clauses were increasingly 
being sought in Section 106 Agreements by Housing Associations (Registered 
Providers) – both in new Section 106 Agreements and via modifications to existing 
Section 106 Agreements.  Most Mortgagee in Possession clauses sought to nullify 
requirements in Section 106 Agreements related to restrictions on sale price, rental, 
occupancy, income eligibility and local needs requirements in the event of ownership of 
the property transferring to a mortgagee from the housing association (Registered 
Provider, or owner of shared ownership or discounted sale property) through the 
inclusion of mortgagee in possession clauses. 
 
The argument being put forward by applicants and housing associations (Registered 
Providers) as regards seeking mortgage in possession clauses was that lenders and 
(in the case of schemes supported by grant aid) Homes England were either making 
support for schemes conditional on mortgagee in possession clauses or development 
finance was being made available on less favourable terms.  It was, therefore, argued 
that the absence of mortgagee in possession clauses was preventing the delivery of 
affordable housing. 
 

Page 14



77 
05.11.2020 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

The mortgagee in possession clause issue related to the (very rare) circumstance in 
which a Housing Association (Registered Provider) failed and its assets had to be 
disposed of.  Assets might include affordable homes for rent and shares in shared 
ownership properties.  Under Section 96 of the Planning and Housing Act 2015, when 
a Housing Association went into administration, in addition to the normal administration 
objectives, the administrator also had a duty to keep social housing within the regulated 
sector.  Generally when a Housing Association failed, it was taken over by another 
Housing Association.  Housing Association failure resulting in the disposal of assets 
was rare. 
 
The mortgagee in possession issue was not unique to South Lakeland.  The Greater 
London Authority had produced a standard Mortgagee in Possession clause for use by 
all Greater London Authorities.  The issue had been considered in the Cumbrian Model 
Section 106 Agreement produced in 2012, although a cross-Cumbria standard 
approach had not been agreed.  The National Housing Federation produced a standard 
clause that was being used widely. 
 
Standard mortgagee in possession clauses such as the National Housing Federation 
model and the Greater London model mitigated the risk with the inclusion of a 
cascading clause to the effect that before a mortgagee in possession clause was 
triggered, there was a period (normally 3 months) during which the property had to be 
offered for sale to another housing association or a local authority. 
 
The report examined the Council’s policy.  Affordable housing delivery in South 
Lakeland (outside National Parks) was regulated by Policy 6.3 of the Council’s Local 
Plan - Core Strategy (adopted in 2010).  In addition to seeking an on-site affordable 
housing contribution of 35% for sites over a certain size, it required that affordable 
housing provided was made available solely to people in housing need at an affordable 
cost for the life of the property. Policy 6.3 applied predominantly to market housing 
schemes and these were predominantly on sites allocated in the Local Plan. 
 
A small number of schemes were also delivered as exceptions sites. These were sites 
which would not normally be granted consent but were approved on an exceptional 
basis because they were all or predominantly affordable.  Policy DM14 of the Local 
Plan Development Management Policy regulated schemes of this type and required 
that affordable housing provided in this way be affordable in perpetuity. 
 
However small the risk of affordable properties being lost in this way, mortgagee in 
possession clauses were contrary to the letter of both policies in that, in the event of 
the mortgagee in possession clause being triggered, the properties would cease to be 
available to people in need at an affordable cost and would not be affordable in 
perpetuity. 
 
The report examined how a flexible approach might be applied.  Planning policy could 
only be changed through the preparation of a new Development Plan Document.  This 
was a long process requiring informal and formal consultation and independent 
examination by a planning inspector.  All planning policies were currently being 
examined through the Local Plan review.  If the proposals proposed in the 
Government’s Planning White Paper were implemented on the timescale envisaged, 
the whole planning landscape, including matters currently dealt with through Section 
106 Agreements, matters dealt with through local plan policy and matters dealt with in 
national policy and mechanisms for delivering affordable housing, may look very 
different. 
 

Page 15



78 
05.11.2020 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

Councils could produce supplementary planning documents which provided guidance 
on the interpretation and implementation of policy.  However these could not change 
policy. 
 
Under Section 38 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 planning 
applications were considered against the Council’s Development Plan and other 
material considerations of each individual planning application on a case by case basis.  
Each application had to be determined on its own merits.  The inclusion of a mortgagee 
in possession clause in a Section 106 Agreement meant that affordable housing 
affected by it was contrary to the letter of Policy 6.3. Therefore, upon a strict reading of 
the policy it would indicate that the proposal to include mortgagee in possession 
clauses should be refused unless other material considerations justified an exceptional 
approach. 
 
However, in many cases the policy requirement for affordable housing for the lifetime of 
the property needed to be balanced against impacts on the wider policy objective of 
affordable housing delivery, the very low risk of the clause being triggered and the 
mitigating measures in place to ensure that other solutions are explored before it 
happens. 
 
Cases for exceptional approvals needed to be supported by evidence and were likely 
to have greater weight if the risk of harm (the loss of affordable housing) was mitigated 
by the inclusion of cascading or other appropriate risk mitigation. 
 
Paragraph 3.17 of the report suggested that, whilst judgments on individual planning 
applications could not be fettered, the following approach was felt to be of relevance in 
considering planning applications seeking mortgagee in possession clauses:- 
 

Policy 
 

 The clear policy requirement that new dwellings should be made available in 
perpetuity. 

 
The scale and quality of the affordable housing offer 
 

 Issues might include the scale of any non-delivery including how many 
affordable homes would be delivered with or without the mortgagee in 
possession clause. Also of relevance would be how such provision relates 
to evidenced local housing needs identified in the Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment and other reputable evidence sources. Consideration may 
need to be given to the proportion of affordable housing for rent, whether 
provision is optimal in terms of size and design and whether any would be 
fully disabled accessible. 

 
The degree to which the proposal is supported by evidence 
 

 Another issue may be the potential threat to the wider objective of affordable 
housing delivery and the degree to which this is supported with evidence. 
Direct evidence in the form of a letter from the lender or from Homes 
England carries the greatest weight. It needs to be shown that the clause 
will prejudice the delivery of affordable housing on the scheme in question. 
Wider impacts on the finances of the Housing Association asset base and 
the capacity to deliver elsewhere are not relevant. 

 

Page 16



79 
05.11.2020 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

The extent to which the risk of the clause being triggered can be mitigated 
 

 Consideration will also be needed of the degree to which the risk of loss of 
affordable units can be mitigated. Strong means of achieving this include:- 

 
o By the inclusion of a cascading clause requiring that the mortgagee 

in possession clause be triggered only after a period during which 
the property must be offered for sale to a Housing Association or 
South Lakeland District Council (and any successor authority). The 
longer such a period is, the greater effect it will have in mitigating the 
risk and minimising policy conflict; or 

 
o By the limitation of mortgagee in possession clauses to mortgagees 

of housing associations. This would obviate the greater risk to the 
affordable housing stock of defaults on mortgages by purchasers of 
shared ownership or discounted sale. 

 
The Customer and Commercial Services and People Portfolio Holder expressed 
support for the proposal, thanking officers for their work to ensure that these homes 
which had been built for the benefit of local occupancy remained so for future 
generations of local people.  Councillor John Holmes pointed out that this situation was 
rare, the risk being negligible, and pointed out that the Regulator monitored Housing 
Associations carefully.  On behalf of South Lakes Housing and other housing 
associations, he welcomed the paper and proposal which was felt to be a reasonable 
solution to the present problem. 
 
The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder thanked the Deputy Leader 
and Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder and officers for their work involved in 
addressing various competing concerns. 
 
The Leader asked the meeting if the motion was agreed.  There was no dissent. 
 
Decision 
 
RESOLVED – That 
 
(1) the report be noted; and 
 
(2) the principles of the approach set out at paragraph 3.17 of the report and 
outlined above be approved. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The mortgagee in possession issue relates directly to the delivery of affordable homes 
to rent and the Council’s target of 1,000 new homes to rent between 2014 and 2025. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
Planning Policy can only be changed through the preparation of a new Development 
Plan Document.  This is a long process requiring informal and formal consultation and 
independent examination by a planning inspector.  All planning policies are being 
examined through the current Local Plan review.  If the proposals proposed in the 
Government’s Planning White Paper are implemented on the timescale envisaged, the 
whole planning landscape including matters currently dealt with through Section 106 
agreements, matters dealt with through local plan policy and matters dealt with in 

Page 17



80 
05.11.2020 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

national policy and mechanisms for delivering affordable housing may look very 
different.  Whilst planning policy can be changed in the longer term, this is of no 
assistance with current proposals. 
 
Councils can produce Supplementary Planning Documents which provide guidance on 
the interpretation and implementation of policy.  However these cannot change the 
substance of local plan policy. 
 

CEX/82 PLANNING WHITE PAPER - PLANNING FOR THE FUTURE 
 
Summary 
 
The Deputy Leader and Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder presented the report, 
explaining that in July, the Government had produced a white paper proposing a 
comprehensive redesign of the planning system, replacing the current system of local 
plans and development management with a rules-based system based on zoning, 
design codes, nationally set development management policies, nationally set housing 
requirements and permissions in principle, increased permitted development rights and 
technical approvals based on rules based policies with most community engagement to 
take place at the local plan stage.  The White Paper called ‘Planning for the Future’ 
was attached to the report in the supporting documents and was had been out for 
consultation until the end of October 2020.  Because the date of the Cabinet meeting 
had moved from 28 October to 5 November, due to competing priorities around Local 
Government Reform, a response to this significant White Paper had had to be 
submitted ahead of the Cabinet meeting which had originally been scheduled to take 
place on 28 October.  Endorsement of that response, attached as Appendix 1 to the 
report, was, therefore, being requested. 
 
The implementation of the new system would require primary legislation and, as an 
interim measure, a number of measures were also proposed to amend the existing 
system.  These included:- 
 

 changes to the Standard Method used by Government for calculating local housing 
need; 

 changes to Affordable Housing including the introduction of a requirement for a 
proportion of ‘first homes’ (essentially discounted homes for sale) as part of 
affordable housing contributions; 

 a temporary increase in the minimum size of site required to provide affordable 
housing from ten to 40-50 for a limited period of 18 months (not applicable in 
designated rural areas); and 

 extending the right to apply for Permission in Principle to major development. 
 
These were considered within the report and the detailed response attached as 
Appendix 2. 
 
The report further outlined details relating to delivery and information on the timetable 
for delivery. 
 
A lengthy discussion ensued.  Concern was raised with regard to the impact on rurality 
and communities, and at the lack of detail on the future and protection of the 
environment.  Concern was further raised regarding the provision of affordable houses 
and the proposal that Section 106 agreements be substituted with a development levy.  
A problem already existed with developers raising arguments around viability and 
seeking reductions in the percentage of affordable housing on developments.  It was 

Page 18



81 
05.11.2020 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

felt that the same argument could be used with regard to a development levy.  This 
could result in problems for housing associations that depended on acquiring additional 
properties through Section 106 agreements and, if this opportunity disappeared, this 
raised the question of how the development grant was worked and provided back to 
them to fund new building.  This could lead to housing associations developing their 
own estates, which was very costly, given the value of land, which would make it 
increasingly difficult for affordable housing to be developed.  Also raised was the need 
to raise building regulations and increase the efficiency and sustainability of houses at 
a national level.  It was felt that the current planning system was impracticable, that 
something needed to be done, and it was hoped that appropriate compromises could 
be made.  A further concern was raised in relation how the proposals fitted in with the 
Localism Act. 
 
The Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder believed that the proposals 
were seriously deficient, taking power away from local areas, reducing affordable 
homes and reducing democracy and local accountability.  The proposals did nothing to 
address climate change, changed Section 106 requirements and deferred payments.  
Not addressed, he said, was the impact on councils’ housing’s targets.  He also felt that 
co-operation between councils could be damaged and environmental impacts on 
neighbouring authorities ignored.  He also questioned the way in which the proposals 
were to be implemented through zoning.  He pointed out that the concerns raised had 
been addressed with in the response to the White Paper and urged Members to use 
their channels of communication to express their concerns to Government. 
 
The Strategy Lead Specialist provided clarity on the proposals around delivery of 
affordable housing, with the replacement of Section 106 agreements by a single levy 
and the potential impact. 
 
The Deputy Leader and Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder thanked Members for 
their comments, welcoming broad cross-party support.  He stressed the need, where 
possible, for engagement with Government in seeking the best outcome.  If enshrined 
in law, these proposals would have a significant and long lasting impact on South 
Lakeland’s communities and on the built environment. 
 
Thanks were expressed by all to the Strategy Lead Specialist and his Team and to all 
involved. 
 
The Leader asked the meeting if the motion was agreed.  There was no dissent. 
 
Decision 
 
RESOLVED – That the following be endorsed:- 
 
(1) the comments in Appendix 1 to the report as South Lakeland District 
Council’s response to the consultation on the Planning White Paper; and 
 
(2) the comments made to the related consultation on changes to the current 
planning system attached as Appendix 2 to the report. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The planning system is a key means by which the Council Plan is delivered.  The 
proposals in the White Paper, if implemented, will significantly affect the Council’s 
ability to deliver economic growth, affordable housing, sustainable development and 
healthy communities, as well as the carbon reduction and biodiversity issues. 

Page 19



82 
05.11.2020 Cabinet Executive Decisions 
 

 

 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
The Council does not have to respond to the consultation.  However, the White Paper 
raises major concerns and, whilst it cannot be guaranteed that Government will 
respond to those concerns, it is vital that these are conveyed to Government. 
 
 
 
 
The meeting ended at 11.20 a.m. 

Page 20



9 
05.11.2020 Delegated Executive Decisions 
 

 

EXECUTIVE DECISION NOTICE 
 
DELEGATED EXECUTIVE DECISIONS 
 
A record of delegated decisions made by individual Portfolio holders or officers on 
Thursday, 5 November 2020. 
 
The reports (unless exempt under Section 100(B)(2) of the Local Government Act 
1972, on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in Part 1 of Schedule 12 A of the Act as amended by the Local Government 
(Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006 by virtue of the Paragraphs indicated 
and, in all the circumstances of the case, it is considered that the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing it) are available 
for inspection from the Solicitor to the Council, South Lakeland House, Kendal.   

DEX/5 PURCHASE OF FLEET VEHICLES (4 NO. 7.5T REFUSE VEHICLE) FOR THE 
COUNCIL - AWARD OF CONTRACT 

(Director of Customer and Commercial Services)  
 
Summary 
 
Consideration was given to the purchase of 4 No. 7.5T Streetscene fleet vehicles, 
which was in line with South Lakeland District Council’s current capital replacement 
vehicle programme. The vehicles would be used to help reduce maintenance and 
servicing costs for the service and provide a reliable fleet of vehicles and an effectively 
run service. 
 
Note – The tender analysis report was provided within the Part II Appendix 1 to the 
report which was excluded from inspection by members of the public in accordance 
with Section 100 (B) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, and, in all the 
circumstances of the case, it was considered that the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighed the public interest in disclosing it.  Copies of the document were 
excluded, as it contained information as described in Schedule 12A of the Act as 
follows:- 
 
- Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information).  (Paragraph 3) 
 
Decision 
 
(1) The contract for purchase of the 4 No. 7.5T refuse wagons for Streetscene 
is awarded to the recommended bidder as noted in Part II Appendix 1 to the 
report. 
 
(2) The Director of Customer and Commercial Services, in conjunction with 
the Case Management Officer and Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead 
Specialist, enter into the appropriate contract on behalf of the Council with the 
successful bidder. 
 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The proposal ensures that the delivery of the service will continue and it will help 
reduce the maintenance and service costs for the service and provide a reliable fleet of 
vehicles to help the service run effectively.  

Page 21

Item No.3



10 
05.11.2020 Delegated Executive Decisions 
 

 

 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
To not purchase new vehicles and to run the existing fleet. This will inevitably lead to 
increase in maintenance and servicing costs and will provide an ageing fleet which will 
be less reliable. Reliability of vehicles is key to the streetscene department with 
collections expected on set days. 
 
To lease as opposed to buy new vehicles. This is not recommended with the increase 
pressure on the revenue budget that this will likely bring. It also means that any 
servicing and maintenance would not be undertaken in house which again can lead to 
issues in terms of vehicles being available for set rounds on set days. 
 
Another alternative option is to not award a contract to the recommended bidder in this 
procurement exercise. This is not considered a preferred option because the 
recommended bidder met the necessary criteria to proceed as set out in the analysis in 
the Part II Appendix to the report. 

DEX/6 PURCHASE OF FLEET VEHICLE (1 NO. 12T REFUSE VEHICLE) FOR THE 
COUNCIL - AWARD OF CONTRACT 

(Director of Customer and Commercial Services)  
 
Summary 
 
Consideration was given to the purchase of 1 No. 12T streetscene fleet vehicle, which 
was in line with South Lakeland District Council’s current capital replacement vehicle 
programme. The vehicle would be used to help reduce maintenance and servicing 
costs for the service and provide a reliable fleet of vehicles and an effectively run 
service. 
 
Note – The tender analysis report was provided within the Part II Appendix 1 to the 
report which was excluded from inspection by members of the public in accordance 
with Section 100 (B) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, and, in all the 
circumstances of the case, it was considered that the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighed the public interest in disclosing it.  Copies of the document were 
excluded, as it contained information as described in Schedule 12A of the Act as 
follows:- 
 
- Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information).  (Paragraph 3) 
 
Decision 
 
(1) The contract for purchase of the 1 No. 12T refuse wagon for Streetscene 
is awarded to the recommended bidder as noted in Part II Appendix 1 to the 
report. 
 
(2) The Director of Customer and Commercial Services in conjunction with 
the Case Management officer and Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead 
Specialist enter into the appropriate contract on behalf of the Council with the 
successful bidder. 
 

Page 22



11 
05.11.2020 Delegated Executive Decisions 
 

 

Reasons for Decision 
 
The proposal ensures that the delivery of the service will continue and it will help 
reduce the maintenance and service costs for the service and provide a reliable fleet of 
vehicles to help the service run effectively.  
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
To not purchase new vehicles and to run the existing fleet. This will inevitably lead to 
increase in maintenance and servicing costs and will provide an ageing fleet which will 
be less reliable. Reliability of vehicles is key to the streetscene department with 
collections expected on set days. 
 
To lease as opposed to buy new vehicles. This is not recommended with the increase 
pressure on the revenue budget that this will likely bring. It also means that any 
servicing and maintenance would not be undertaken in house which again can lead to 
issues in terms of vehicles being available for set rounds on set days. 
 
Another alternative option is to not award a contract to the recommended bidder in this 
procurement exercise. This is not considered a preferred option because the 
recommended bidder met the necessary criteria to proceed as set out in the analysis in 
the Part II Appendix to the report. 

DEX/7 PURCHASE OF FLEET VEHICLE (1 NO. 24T REFUSE COLLECTION VEHICLE) - 
AWARD OF CONTRACT 

(Director of Customer and Commercial Services)  
 
Summary 
 
Consideration was given to the purchase of 1 No. 24T Streetscene fleet vehicle, which 
was in line with South Lakeland District Council’s current capital replacement vehicle 
programme. The vehicles would be used to help reduce maintenance and servicing 
costs for the service and provide a reliable fleet of vehicles and an effectively run 
service. 
 
Note – The tender analysis report was provided within the Part II Appendix 1 to the 
report which was excluded from inspection by members of the public in accordance 
with Section 100 (B) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, and, in all the 
circumstances of the case, it was considered that the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighed the public interest in disclosing it.  Copies of the document were 
excluded, as it contained information as described in Schedule 12A of the Act as 
follows:- 
 
- Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information).  (Paragraph 3) 

Decision 

(1) The contract for purchase of the 1 No. 24T refuse wagon for Streetscene 
is awarded to the recommended bidder as noted in Part II Appendix 1 to the 
report. 

(2) The Director of Customer and Commercial Services in conjunction with 
the Case Management officer and Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead 
Specialist enter into the appropriate contract on behalf of the Council with the 
successful bidder. 

Page 23



12 
05.11.2020 Delegated Executive Decisions 
 

 

 
Reasons for Decision 
 
The proposal ensures that the delivery of the service will continue and it will help 
reduce the maintenance and service costs for the service and provide a reliable fleet of 
vehicles to help the service run effectively.  
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
To not purchase new vehicles and to run the existing fleet. This will inevitably lead to 
increase in maintenance and servicing costs and will provide an ageing fleet which will 
be less reliable. Reliability of vehicles is key to the streetscene department with 
collections expected on set days.  
 
To lease as opposed to buy new vehicles. This is not recommended with the increase 
pressure on the revenue budget that this will likely bring. It also means that any 
servicing and maintenance would not be undertaken in house which again can lead to 
issues in terms of vehicles being available for set rounds on set days. 
 
Another alternative option is to not award a contract to the recommended bidder in this 
procurement exercise. This is not considered a preferred option because the 
recommended bidder met the necessary criteria to proceed as set out in the analysis in 
the Part II Appendix to the report. 

DEX/8 PURCHASE OF FLEET VEHICLE (1 NO. 26T REFUSE COLLECTION VEHICLE) - 
AARD OF CONTRACT 

(Director of Customer and Commercial Services)  

Summary 

Consideration was given to the purchase of 1 No. 26T Streetscene fleet vehicle, which 
was in line with South Lakeland District Council’s current capital replacement vehicle 
programme. The vehicle would be used to help reduce maintenance and servicing 
costs for the service and provide a reliable fleet of vehicles and an effectively run 
service. 

Note – The tender analysis report was provided within the Part II Appendix 1 to the 
report which was excluded from inspection by members of the public in accordance 
with Section 100 (B) of the Local Government Act 1972, as amended by the Local 
Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, and, in all the 
circumstances of the case, it was considered that the public interest in maintaining the 
exemption outweighed the public interest in disclosing it.  Copies of the document were 
excluded, as it contained information as described in Schedule 12A of the Act as 
follows:- 

- Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information).  (Paragraph 3) 

Decision 

(1) The contract for purchase of the 1 No. 26T refuse wagon for Streetscene 
is awarded to the recommended bidder as noted in Part II Appendix 1 to the 
report. 

(2) The Director of Customer and Commercial Services in conjunction with 
the Case Management officer and Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead 
Specialist enter into the appropriate contract on behalf of the Council with the 
successful bidder. 
 

Page 24



13 
05.11.2020 Delegated Executive Decisions 
 

 

Reasons for Decision 
 
The proposal ensures that the delivery of the service will continue and it will help 
reduce the maintenance and service costs for the service and provide a reliable fleet of 
vehicles to help the service run effectively.  
 
Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 
To not purchase new vehicles and to run the existing fleet. This will inevitably lead to 
increase in maintenance and servicing costs and will provide an ageing fleet which will 
be less reliable. Reliability of vehicles is key to the streetscene department with 
collections expected on set days.  
 
To lease as opposed to buy new vehicles. This is not recommended with the increase 
pressure on the revenue budget that this will likely bring. It also means that any 
servicing and maintenance would not be undertaken in house which again can lead to 
issues in terms of vehicles being available for set rounds on set days. 
 
Another alternative option is to not award a contract to the recommended bidder in this 
procurement exercise. This is not considered a preferred option because the 
recommended bidder met the necessary criteria to proceed as set out in the analysis in 
the Part II Appendix to the report. 

 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 26



 LANCASTER AND SOUTH 
CUMBRIA JOINT 

COMMITTEE 
 

THIS WAS A ‘VIRTUAL’ 
MEETING HELD VIA TEAMS 

LIVE EVENTS 

 

3.00 P.M.  21ST OCTOBER 2020 
 
 

PRESENT:- Councillors Erica Lewis (Chair, part) and Kevin Frea (Lancaster CC), Giles 
Archibald and Robin Ashcroft (South Lakeland DC), Derek Brook and Ann 
Thomson (Barrow BC) 
 
Councillors Suzie Pye (South Lakeland DC) and Lee Roberts (Barrow BC) 
were present to contribute updates (minute 11 refers) 

  
  
 Officers in 

attendance: 
 

   
 Lawrence Conway Chief Executive (South Lakeland DC) 
 Kieran Keane Chief Executive (Lancaster CC) 
 Sam Plum Chief Executive (Barrow BC) 
 Steph Cordon Director of People and Place (Barrow BC) 
 Anne Marie Harrison Head of Economic Development (Lancaster CC) 
 David Sykes Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources 

(South Lakeland DC)  
 Luke Gorst Head of Legal and Monitoring Officer (Lancaster CC) 
 Debbie Chambers Head of Democratic Services (Lancaster CC) 
 Liz Bateson Principal Democratic Support Officer (Lancaster CC) 
   
   
   

 
ADJOURNMENT   
 

 The Chair adjourned the meeting at 3.01pm. This was due to an urgent briefing meeting 
which had been called for local authority leaders and MPs in the Lancashire region 
regarding the Tier 3 COVID-19 restrictions. The meeting re-convened at 4pm with the 
Vice-Chair, Councillor Thomson, in the Chair. 

  
8 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
There were no apologies. It was noted that Councillor Lewis was still required at the 
COVID briefing. She would join the meeting as soon as possible. 
 

9 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 

Page 27

Item No.4



LANCASTER AND SOUTH CUMBRIA 
JOINT COMMITTEE 

21ST OCTOBER 2020 

 
10 MINUTES OF THE LAST MEETING  

 
The minutes of the meeting held on 22 July 2020 were accepted as a correct record and 
would be signed by the Chair when the minute book was available. 
 

11 UPDATES ON THE THREE WORK AREAS: POVERTY, CLIMATE CHANGE, HEALTH 
AND WELLBEING  
 
It was confirmed that the lead authorities on each issue were South Lakeland District 
Council (SLDC) for Poverty; Lancaster City Council (LCC) for Climate Change and Barrow 
Borough Council (BBC) for Health and Wellbeing. The Councillors leading would each 
issue be Councillor Suzie Pye (SLDC); Councillor Kevin Frea (LCC) and Councillor Lee 
Roberts (BBC). The Chair invited them each to give an update on progress made. 
 
Councillor Pye’s area was alleviation of poverty. She reported that she had attended a 
very positive and productive first meeting with Councillors Alistair Sinclair and Caroline 
Jackson from LCC and Councillor Derek Brook from BBC. It was apparent that all three 
authorities were ‘on the same page’ and that working together could enhance each 
authority’s individual results. Sharing information and working as a Bay Group would 
make the three partners stronger.  
 
Two strands had been identified, which were short term and long term goals. Short term 
they had discussed helping residents out with signposting, supporting and putting in place 
local initiatives and reaching people before they fell into poverty. Long term goals spilled 
over into housing, employment and retraining. They also planned to look at data to help 
measure levels of poverty and discussed the stigma that surrounded poverty and often 
prevented people from seeking out help. This stigma was something the Poverty Truth 
Commission was trying to address. 
 
There was a further meeting planned in two weeks’ time when Terms of Reference would 
be considered and then the group would report back further. The intention was to provide 
ideas and interventions which would be sustainable, not short term, ‘stop/start’ initiatives. 
 
Councillor Frea reported on progress with the climate change emergency and the 
individual projects going on in the three authorities including the purchase of electric bin 
lorries, panel vans and pool cars at LCC. The intention would be for the public to be able 
to register with Co-Wheels and use the pool cars out of office hours providing a 
community resource. LCC had also been working with taxi proprietors to encourage and 
incentivise them to move to electric vehicles and would be installing three dedicated 
charge points for taxis. SLDC were carrying out some particularly inspiring community 
engagement work on climate change, having Cumbria Action for Sustainability to work 
with and projects such as the Ambleside to Zero Carbon (A-Z) group as well as interacting 
with Cumbria University and local businesses and accessing the Rural Community Energy 
Fund. Also, SLDC had invited match-funded bids for a pot of £20k to really get people 
thinking about how that money could be used to combat climate change. This had yielded 
some innovative ideas. In Barrow, there was a low carbon initiative funded in part by the 
LEP and European funding. It was aimed to make Piel Island carbon neutral. Each 
authority had its own action plan for the climate change emergency and one of the next 
steps would be to need to look at those plans together, harmonise and advance them. 
Councillor Frea reported that officers had been liaising with Cumbria authorities on this 
area, and also Planning, for some time, which was proving very useful. 
 

Page 28



LANCASTER AND SOUTH CUMBRIA 
JOINT COMMITTEE 

21ST OCTOBER 2020 

 
Councillor Lewis returned to the meeting at this point  (4.30pm) 
 
Councillor Roberts then presented an update on the health and wellbeing area where a 
theme had emerged – bearing in mind that health was not something district councils 
were directly responsible for -  regarding how the three authorities could collectively stop 
Bay wide residents’ from either needing to present or re-present to primary care and other 
health services.  This preventative work could help ease the pressure on the health 
service. 
 
The group would look at their Council plans to see where health and wellbeing sat in 
those plans. Strands would be drawn together from everything the joint committee was 
doing, since the health and wellbeing was so closely linked to poverty and housing. 
Improving housing stock and providing affordable housing would have an effect on health 
and wellbeing. Collective resources and funding groups would need to be identified and 
the voice of the community built into plans, finding out residents’ needs rather than 
imposing things on them. It was important to put the resident at the heart of everything. 
 
Councillor Frea supplied names of Cabinet Members at Lancaster (Councillors Alistair 
Sinclair and Caroline Jackson) who might be the best contacts for health and wellbeing.  
 
After the updates there was a discussion about how to link into existing groups so that 
there was no risk of replicating work going on elsewhere. This was a point made clear in 
the Joint Committee’s terms of reference which required members to actively engage with 
a range of experts, community organisations and other stakeholders. Linkages would 
build partnerships and bring things together across the three Councils. 
  
The Vice-Chair thanked everyone for their updates. 
 

12 THE BAY PROSPERITY AND RESILIENCE STRATEGY  
 
Councillor Lewis took the Chair at this point. 
 
Members considered the Prosperity and Resilience Strategy which had been submitted to 
government. A standard acknowledgement had been received and a full response was 
awaited. 
 
Councillor Ashcroft proposed: 
 
That - 
 

(1) The final version of The Bay Prosperity and Resilience Strategy be endorsed. 
   

(2) It be noted that the strategy, including a request for £750,000 per annum for two 
years, has been submitted to government with a covering letter from all three 
Leaders. 

 
Councillor Archibald seconded the proposition. 
 
The Chair asked if there was any dissent. There were no indications of dissent, therefore 
the proposition was carried.  
 
 

Page 29



LANCASTER AND SOUTH CUMBRIA 
JOINT COMMITTEE 

21ST OCTOBER 2020 

 
Resolved: 
 
That - 
 

(1) The final version of The Bay Prosperity and Resilience Strategy be endorsed. 
   

(2) It be noted that the strategy, including a request for £750,000 per annum for two 
years, has been submitted to government with a covering letter from all three 
Leaders. 

 
13 NEXT STEPS  

 
There was a discussion about whether economic leads should look at aspects of finance 
and, if so, how that might sit with the three existing strands of poverty, climate change and 
health and wellbeing. Councillor Ashcroft and Councillor Lewis agreed to meet to discuss 
this further. 
 
The Chair thanked Councillor Thomson for taking over chairing of the meeting whilst she 
had been detained in the COVID briefing. 
 

  

 Chair 
 

(The meeting ended at 5.02 p.m.) 
 

Any queries regarding these minutes, please contact Debbie Chambers 
dchambers@lancaster.gov.uk 

 
 

 

 

Page 30



 

1 

SOUTH LAKELAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
NOTICE OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS, PRIVATE EXECUTIVE MEETINGS AND 

BUDGET AND POLICY FRAMEWORK DECISIONS 
AS PUBLISHED ON 9 NOVEMBER 2020 

 
The Council is required to give 28 days’ notice when Key Decisions are to be made, and 
when an executive meeting is to be held in private. The Notice has been drafted to comply 
with that requirement. It is available for inspection on the Council’s website as well as at 
South Lakeland House, Kendal and sets out the following:- 
 
(1) the matters which the Executive (also known as the Cabinet) believes fall within the 

definition of a Key Decision (see definition below) to be taken by the Executive or a 
Senior Officer of the Council; 

 
(2) details of any private meeting (see definition below) of the Executive; and 

 
(3) proposals for the recommendation to Council of any plan, strategy or budget that 

forms part of the Council’s Budget and Policy Framework, and its timetable and 
arrangements for consultation, in accordance with the Council’s Constitution, Part 4, 
Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules, paragraph 2. The policies which 
make up the Budget and Policy Framework can be found in Article 4, Part 2 of the 
Council’s Constitution, viewable on the Council’s website www.southlakeland.gov.uk 

 
Documentation 
 
Reports, as well as any background information, will be available for public inspection five 
working days before the date of the meeting at which the decision is going to made. 
However, some of the reports may contain confidential information and, in that case, will not 
be available to the public. 
 
When the Executive is going to consider a confidential report, at least 28 days’ notice will be 
given of the intention to hold the meeting in private. A Notice to this effect will be published 
on the Council’s website.  
 
Background Information 
 
If you wish to inspect background information, which will inform the decision-making process, 
contact the Lead Officer identified in the Notice as dealing with that matter. When the agenda 
for the meeting is published on the Council’s website, normally at least 5 working days before 
the meeting, these documents will also be made available via the website.  However, you will 
not be allowed to access any papers which contain exempt or confidential information. 
 
Representations (views you wish to make) 
 
If you wish to make a representation, either about one of the Key Decisions listed (where the 
meeting is to be held in private), or that an Executive meeting should be open to the public, 
you must write to the Lead Officer identified as dealing with that decision with your reasons 
why the meeting should not be held in private. This must be received at least five clear 
working days before the date of the meeting. 
 
Decision Notice 
 
A Decision Notice for each Key Decision, or other Executive decision, will be produced as 
soon as practicable after the decision has been taken.  These Decision Notices will be 
available for inspection at South Lakeland House, Kendal and on the Council’s website. 
 

Page 31

Item No.8



 

2 

Urgent Decisions 
 
The Law and the Council’s Constitution provide for urgent decisions to be made provided 
certain criteria are met and relevant Notices published accordingly.  None of the decisions 
detailed in this Notice are deemed to be Urgent Decisions - unless expressly stated. 
 
Key Decision 
 
This definition was adopted by Council on Thursday, 17 December 2015 and is as follows :- 
 
“An executive decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on 
communities in two or more Wards of the Council and/or is likely to result in the Authority 
incurring expenditure or making savings above £100,000.” 
 
Private Meetings 
 
In regard to this Notice, private meetings are meetings of the Executive, or part of a meeting, 
during which the public are excluded as a result of confidential or exempt information being 
discussed. A reason will be given why it is felt that there is a need for the public to be 
excluded. If you wish to make a representation regarding the intention to hold the meeting in 
private, you must follow the procedure shown above under “Representations”. 
 
The District Council’s Executive Members are:- 
 
Cllr Giles Archibald – Leader and Promoting South Lakeland Portfolio Holder 
Cllr Jonathan Brook – Deputy Leader and Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder 
Cllr Robin Ashcroft – Economy, Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder 
Cllr Philip Dixon – Customer and Commercial Services and People Portfolio Holder 
Cllr Dyan Jones – Climate Emergency and Localism Portfolio Holder 
Cllr Andrew Jarvis – Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder 
Cllr Suzie Pye – Health, Wellbeing and Financial Resilience Portfolio Holder 
 
The District Council’s Chief and Statutory Officers:- 
 
Lawrence Conway – Chief Executive 
Simon Rowley – Director Customer and Commercial Services 
David Sykes – Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources 
Linda Fisher – Legal, Governance and Democracy Lead Specialist (Monitoring Officer) 
Helen Smith – Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) 

Page 32



 

3 

 
 

 Key Decision - In house repairs and property maintenance service 

  
Proposal to have in house property maintenance service instead of a Measured Term 
Contract with external contractor. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (25 Nov 2020) 

Date notice first published: 27 October 2020 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 24 November 2020) 

Open/Exempt: Fully exempt 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 - 

Lead Officer: Sion Thomas, Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial Services 
sion.thomas@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Customer and Commercial Services 

Portfolio Holder: Customer and Commercial Services and People Portfolio Holder (Cllr Philip 
Dixon) 

 
 

 Key Decision - Public Access - Council-owned Riverside Land in Kendal 

  
To consider the use and management of Council-owned land with regard to the new 
Gooseholme Bridge and flood defences. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (25 Nov 2020) 

Date notice first published: 29 September 2020 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 27 October 2020) 

Open/Exempt: Part exempt 

Reasons for Exemption:  
Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information)  

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 - 

Lead Officer: Sion Thomas, Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial Services 
sion.thomas@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Customer and Commercial Services 

Portfolio Holder: Economy, Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder (Cllr Robin Ashcroft), 
Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder (Cllr Jonathan Brook) 

 
 

Page 33



 

4 

 Key Decision - Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme Funding 

  
To seek approval for the Rough Sleeping Accommodation Programme funding to be 
awarded by the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Delegated Executive Decisions (03 Dec 2020) 

Date notice first published: 27 October 2020 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 24 November 2020) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 The submitted proposal and Bidding criteria can be made available 

Lead Officer: Carol Halton, Housing Options and Strategy Specialist 
carol.halton@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources 

Portfolio Holder: Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder (Cllr Jonathan Brook) 

 
 

 Key Decision - Construction of 30 space car park to Parkside Road, Kendal 

  Construction of car park on the edge of Kendal Town centre. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (08 Dec 2020) 

Date notice first published: 11 August 2020 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 8 September 2020) 

Open/Exempt: Fully exempt 

Reasons for Exemption:  
Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information)  

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 - 

Lead Officer: Sion Thomas, Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial Services 
sion.thomas@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Customer and Commercial Services 

Portfolio Holder: Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder (Cllr Andrew Jarvis) 

 
 

Page 34



 

5 

 Key Decision - Cumbria Business Rate Pool 2021/22 * NEW * 

  To consider the Council's participation in any Cumbria business rate pool from April 2021. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (08 Dec 2020) 

Date notice first published: 9 November 2020 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 7 December 2020) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 2020/21 Budget Book including MTFP projections 
Budget Setting Report 
Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21-2025/26 
 

Lead Officer: Helen Smith, Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) 
h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Section 151 Officer 

Portfolio Holder: Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder (Cllr Andrew Jarvis) 

 
 

 Key Decision - Disposal of Council owned land in Burton in Kendal 

  Disposal of Council owned land to South Lakes Housing. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (08 Dec 2020) 

Date notice first published: 26 May 2020 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 23 June 2020) 

Open/Exempt: Part exempt 

Reasons for Exemption:  
Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information)  

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 - 

Lead Officer: Sion Thomas, Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial Services 
sion.thomas@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Customer and Commercial Services 

Portfolio Holder: Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder (Cllr Jonathan Brook) 

 
 

Page 35



 

6 

 Key Decision - Disposal of Council owned land in High Sparrowmire, Kendal 

  Disposal of Council owned land to South Lakes Housing. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (08 Dec 2020) 

Date notice first published: 26 May 2020 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 23 June 2020) 

Open/Exempt: Part exempt 

Reasons for Exemption:  
Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information)  

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 - 

Lead Officer: Sion Thomas, Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial Services 
sion.thomas@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Customer and Commercial Services 

Portfolio Holder: Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder (Cllr Jonathan Brook) 

 
 

 Key Decision - Kendal Vision * NEW * 

  
Funding towards the development and delivery of agreed activities in the Kendal Vision and 
Kendal Town Centre Strategy. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (08 Dec 2020) 

Date notice first published: 9 November 2020 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 7 December 2020) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 Full details will be available in a Cabinet report for 8 Dec 2020. 

Lead Officer: Gareth Candlin, Operational Lead Specialist Services 
gareth.candlin@southlakeland.gov.uk, Matthew Williams, Senior Economy and Culture 
Specialist matthew.williams@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Customer and Commercial Services 

Portfolio Holder: Economy, Culture and Leisure Portfolio Holder (Cllr Robin Ashcroft) 

 
 

Page 36



 

7 

 Key Decision - Local Government Reform - Proposal for Bay Area 

  

To explore Local Government Reform and devolution, including the consideration of the Full 
Proposal for a new unitary council for the area comprising the three districts of SLDC / 
Barrow and Lancaster and submission in response to the Government’s invitation to submit 
proposals for unitary local government in Cumbria. Cabinet will consider those areas of the 
report which form Key Decisions and make recommendations to Council.  

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (08 Dec 2020) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Council (8 Dec 2020) 

Date notice first published: 27 October 2020 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 24 November 2020) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 - 

Lead Officer: David Sykes, Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources 
d.sykes@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Chief Executive 

Portfolio Holder: Leader of the Council (Cllr Giles Archibald) 

 
 

Non-Key Budget and Policy Framework Decision - Local Government Reform - Proposal 
for Bay Area 

  

To explore Local Government Reform and devolution, including the consideration of the Full 
Proposal for a new unitary council for the area comprising the three districts of SLDC / 
Barrow and Lancaster and submission in response to the Government’s invitation to submit 
proposals for unitary local government in Cumbria. Cabinet will consider those areas of the 
report which form Key Decisions and make recommendations to Council. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Council (08 Dec 2020) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Cabinet (8 Dec 2020) 

Date notice first published: 27 October 2020 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 24 November 2020) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 - 

Lead Officer: David Sykes, Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources 
d.sykes@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Chief Executive 

Portfolio Holder: Leader of the Council (Cllr Giles Archibald) 

 
 

Page 37



 

8 

 Key Decision - Procurement of enhanced Cyber Security Solution * NEW * 

  Enhanced solution to boost the security of the council ICT Network and Systems 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (08 Dec 2020) 

Date notice first published: 9 November 2020 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 7 December 2020) 

Open/Exempt: Part exempt 

Reasons for Exemption:  
Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information)  

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 Report will be produced by Head of Shared ICT 

Lead Officer: Ben Wright, Shared ICT Manager b.wright@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources 

Portfolio Holder: Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder (Cllr Jonathan Brook) 

 
 

Non-Key Budget and Policy Framework Decision - Corporate Financial Update Quarter 
2, 2020/21 

  
To consider the projected year-end financial position and to update the Capital Programme, 
Revenue budget and Procurement Schedule for changes identified. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Council (15 Dec 2020) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Cabinet (25 Nov 2020) 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (4 Dec 2020) 

Date notice first published: 27 October 2020 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 24 November 2020) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 2020/21 Budget Book including MTFP projections, 
2020/21 Budget Setting Report 
Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21-2024/25 

Lead Officer: Claire Chouchoulas, Finance Specialist, Claire Read, Finance Specialist 
claire.read@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Section 151 Officer 

Portfolio Holder: Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder (Cllr Andrew Jarvis) 

 
 

Page 38



 

9 

 Key Decision - Procurement of Banking Services * NEW * 

  
Procurement of banking services to enable the Council to operate on a day to day basis 
including the option for the provision and management of commercial procurement cards. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Delegated Executive Decisions (17 Dec 2020) 

Date notice first published: 9 November 2020 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 7 December 2020) 

Open/Exempt: Part exempt 

Reasons for Exemption:  
Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information)  

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 - 

Lead Officer: Simon McVey, Operational Lead Support Services 
s.mcvey@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Section 151 Officer 

Portfolio Holder: Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder (Cllr Andrew Jarvis) 

 
 

 Key Decision - Framework Agreement for Local Plan Review - 2020/21-2023/24 * NEW * 

  
It is proposed to procure a Framework Agreement with retained consultants to provide 
professional advice for the preparation of the Local Plan Review and related areas. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Cabinet (20 Jan 2021) 

Date notice first published: 9 November 2020 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 7 December 2020) 

Open/Exempt: Part exempt 

Reasons for Exemption:  
Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person 
(including the authority holding that information)  

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 - 

Lead Officer: Alastair McNeill, Senior Specialist (Strategy Group) 
a.mcneill@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources 

Portfolio Holder: Housing and Innovation Portfolio Holder (Cllr Jonathan Brook) 

 
 

Page 39



 

10 

 Key Decision - Queens Park Recreational Space, Windermere 

  To redesign the current playground including a wheeled sports track. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Delegated Executive Decisions (11 Feb 2021) 

Date notice first published: 27 October 2020 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 24 November 2020) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 Windermere Park for All community group proposal.   
Current fundraising report 

Lead Officer: Polly Straker, Locality Team Leader polly.straker@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Director of Customer and Commercial Services 

Portfolio Holder: Customer and Commercial Services and People Portfolio Holder (Cllr Philip 
Dixon) 

 
 

Non-Key Budget and Policy Framework Decision - Budget 2021/22 to 2025/26 (including 
capital programme and fees and charges) 

  
To set the 2021/22 - 2025/26 capital and revenue budgets, the level of council tax increase 
to apply from 1 April 2021, the level of reserves and the levels of fees and charges. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Council (23 Feb 2021) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Lake Administration Committee, Planning Committee, 
Licensing Committee - fees and charges – (tbc) 
First draft budgets - Cabinet (8 Dec 2020) 
Budget update -  Council (15 Dec 2020) 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee (15 Jan 2021) 
Cabinet (3 Feb 2021) 

Date notice first published: 29 September 2020 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 27 October 2020) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 - 2025/26 

Lead Officer: Helen Smith, Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) 
h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Section 151 Officer 

Portfolio Holder: Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder (Cllr Andrew Jarvis) 

 
 

Page 40



 

11 

Non-Key Budget and Policy Framework Decision - Council tax discounts and premia 

  To review the levels of council tax to be charged on empty homes from 1 April 2021. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Council (23 Feb 2021) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Cabinet (25 Nov 2020) 
Cabinet (3 Feb 2021) 

Date notice first published: 27 October 2020 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 24 November 2020) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 - 

Lead Officer: Helen Smith, Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) 
h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Section 151 Officer 

Portfolio Holder: Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder (Cllr Andrew Jarvis) 

 
 

Non-Key Budget and Policy Framework Decision - Procurement Schedule 2020/21 and 
2021/22 

  
To set out the Council's plans for procurement exercises during 2021/22 and to update plans 
for 2020/21 including the decision route for each procurement. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Council (23 Feb 2021) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Overview and Scrutiny Committee (15 Jan 2021) 
Cabinet (3 Feb 2021) 

Date notice first published: 29 September 2020 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 27 October 2020) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 Budget report 2021/22 - 2025/26 to be reported to the same committees 

Lead Officer: Gillian Flowers, Procurement Specialist gillian.flowers@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Section 151 Officer 

Portfolio Holder: Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder (Cllr Andrew Jarvis) 

 
 

Page 41



 

12 

Non-Key Budget and Policy Framework Decision - Treasury Management Framework 
2021/22 to 2025/26 

  

To set the 2021/22 Prudential Indicators, Treasury Management Strategy, Treasury 
Management Policy and Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) statement which controls the 
Council's capital financing, borrowing and investment activities. 
To approve the 2021/22 to 2025/26 Capital Strategy. 

Proposed Decision Maker (Decision Date): Council (23 Feb 2021) 

Also considered by/to be considered by: Overview and Scrutiny Committee (15 Jan 2021) 
Cabinet (3 Feb 2021) 

Date notice first published: 29 September 2020 

(If Key or Private, decision cannot be until after 27 October 2020) 

Open/Exempt: Open 

Relevant reports/background papers which are/will be available: 
 Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21 - 2025/26 Budget report 2021/22 to 2025/26 to be 
reported to same Committees 

Lead Officer: Helen Smith, Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer) 
h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Chief/Statutory Officer: Section 151 Officer 

Portfolio Holder: Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder (Cllr Andrew Jarvis) 

 
 

Page 42



South Lakeland District Council 

Cabinet: Wednesday 25th November 2020 

Council: Tuesday 15th December 2020 

Corporate Financial Update Quarter 2, 2020/21 

 

Portfolio:   Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder 

Report from:  Section 151 Officer 

Report Author: Claire Read – Finance Specialist, Claire Chouchoulas – Finance 
Specialist 

Wards:  All Wards 

Forward Plan: N/A  

 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome 

1.1 It is expected that Members note the projected year end position based on 
performance to the end of Quarter 2 2020/21 and officers planned actions to ensure 
a balanced budget by the end of the financial year. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Cabinet and Council:- 

(1) Note the contents of the report and Appendices 1-4; and 

(2) Approve the re-profiling of the Capital Programme as shown in 3.2.3 and 
Appendix 3. 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.0.1 Revenue – Appendix 1 sets out the revenue variances to date.  

a) Covid-19 - As part of the 2019/20 Revenue and Capital Outturn report, a revised 
budget was approved for 2020/21. Included in this was £2,026.5k from reserves 
and £1,080.5K in government grant to cover additional costs (£827k) and the 
loss of income (£2,280k). 

b) Looking forward additional costs and loss of income for the remaining year is 
expected to be £826k making the total expected service cost of the pandemic 
£2.898m. These are the costs before assessing the impact of the second 
lockdown.   

Under the Government Sales Fees and Charges Support Scheme we made our 
first claim in October for £963k for the period April to July 2020. We expect we 
will need to claim a further £263k for the remainder of 2020/21. Together this will 
bring in additional income of £1.226m to the Council reducing the total service 
cost of the pandemic to £1.672m.  This has increased slightly from the £1.623m 
cost projected in the Medium Term Financial Plan approved in July 2020.  

c) Business as Usual (BAU) – in order to fully understand the underlying position 
the business as usual position has been separately identified–excluding the 

Page 43

Item No.9



impact of Covid-19.  The approved net revenue budget for 2020/21 set by 
Council in February 2020 was £10.9m which included a vacancy factor savings 
target of £439.6k. Additionally, carry forward requests of £1.2m were approved 
by Council on 30 June 2020. Expenditure budgets have been increased in 
accordance with those approved carry forwards along with the matching funding 
from reserves.  

Overall, at the end of Quarter 2, budget monitoring has identified a forecast business 
as usual year-end overspend of £216k.  

3.0.2 Capital – Appendix 2 sets out the position on the capital programme. The capital 
budget for 2020/21 approved by Council in February was £22.083m. The working 
budget has increased slightly from the approved budget to £22.320m following a £237k 
transfer from reserves for the Community Housing Fund approved in Quarter 1 
Monitoring Report. 

Due to Covid-19 expenditure against some schemes in the capital programme has 
been significantly delayed and was £1.993m at the end of Quarter 2. Refurbishment of 
Kendal Town Hall/South Lakeland House is now ongoing. 

3.0.3 Capital Programme Update – Appendix 3 

The capital programme update includes re-profiling of £9.4m to future years following 
a review with Portfolio Holders and Leads over the deliverability of the programme in 
the current climate. 

Cabinet and Council are requested to approve the re-profiling as set out in 3.2.3. 

3.0.4 Treasury – Appendix 4 provides an update on Treasury management for the quarter.  

3.1 Business as Usual Revenue Variances by Leadership Team 
 

3.1.1  Appendix 1 provides the detail of the 2020/21 Quarter 2 (Q2) revenue variances for 
service area grouped by lead officer. The projected out-turn is for a net overspend of 
c£520k for business as usual. Further detail is provided below in Table 1 and 
paragraphs a. to f. below.  The projected overspend at the same position last year 
(2019/20) was c£264k. 

Table 1: Summary by Service Area (after initial adjustment for Covid-19) 
 

Current 
Working 

Budget Full 
Year 
£000 

Expenditure 
Variance 
to Date 

£000 

Income 
Variance 
to Date 

£000 

Overall 
Variance 
to Date 

£000 

Out-turn 
projection 

BAU* 
£000 

Out-Turn 
projection 
Covid-19 

£000 

Strategy, Innovation and 
Resources (a) 

6,707 (261) 157 (104) (115) (204) 

Customer and Locality 
Services (b) 

2,205 (22) 7 (15) 0 0 

Specialist Services (c) 10,141 125 151 276 471 343 

Case Management (d) 1,859 (17) 19 2 (25) 10 

Delivery and Commercial 
Services (e) 

5,281 (25) 244 219 97 677 

Corporate Items (f) (26,193) 0 0 0 (212) 0 

Total GF 0 (200) 578 378 216 826 

*BAU = Business as usual 

The Covid-19 out-turn projection of £826k is for service Covid-19 variances over and 
above the specific allocated amounts already agreed to be funded from reserves. We 

Page 44



are currently working though the interaction between the lost income, government 
funding offer and use of reserves, and this will be updated in future versions.  Initial 
projections, made in June, suggest £1.226M of grant towards lost income will be 
claimable, reducing the additional projection from a net cost of £826k to a net reduction 
of £400k. 

a. Strategy Innovation and Resources– the current projection is for a £115k saving 
against budget, due to: 

 £75k is due to the PCC and district elections being postponed as a result of Covid-
19, this is expected to be carried forward into 2021/22. This would normally be a 
fallow year but district elections will now need to take place; 

 £55k surplus on New Homes Bonus income; and 

 £15k vacancy saving which will not be achieved due to being fully staffed. 

b. Customer and Locality Services – currently there are no projected variances within 
this service. 

c. Specialist Services – The current projection is for a £563k overspend. The main 
reasons for the projected overspend are: 

 £250k overspend on salaries within planning, revenues and benefits, housing 
standards and environment, due to the use of agency staff to fill vacant posts we 
are currently recruiting to; 

 £212k adjustment following audit of Housing Benefit Subsidy Claims for 2017/18 
and 2018/19 to be offset by use of reserves; 

 £20k overspend on salaries for Tech Team Leader in Land Charges due to post 
being extended to assist with transition following implementation of Customer 
Connect programme; and 

 £10.8k surplus on Council Tax admin grant income received. 

d. Case Management – the current projection is for an underspend of £25k of the printer 
leases following an extension to the current contract. 

e. Delivery and Commercial Services - the current projection is for a £97k overspend. 
This is made up of a number of variances across the service and these are: 

 A £20K demand led shortfall anticipated for moorings, in addition to the shortfall 
anticipated as a result of Covid-19; 

 A £25k overspend on salaries due to the delay with the market tender; 

 A 16k projected underspend on fuel for the Street Cleansing Service; 

 A 29k overspend on repairs and maintenance of vehicles due to ongoing problems 
with sweepers and Romaquips which are now outside their warranty; 

 A 16k demand led shortfall in transport income for contract and private vehicles, in 
addition to the shortfall anticipated as a result of Covid-19; 

 A £105k shortfall in the sale of materials due to current market prices;  

 Reduced by a £20k underspend on Fuel, due market prices; and 

 A business as usual projected surplus of £62k on kerbside recycling credits. 

Page 45



f. Corporate – currently there are no projected variances within this service, but this is 
made up of the 2 large variances that offset each other, they are: 

 A £150k estimated shortfall in investment income. While quarter 1 is in line with 
expectations this will not continue as all new deals are at much lower interest rate 
following emergency cuts to the Bank Rate in March 2020; and 

 A £150k saving on borrowing costs, due to not needing to borrow for the capital 
programme in 2019/20. 

 A £212k use of reserves to cover adjustment following audit of Housing Benefit 
Subsidy Claims for 2017/18 and 2018/19. 

 Analysis of employee budgets 

3.1.2 The position on employee costs at Quarter 2 is summarised in Table 2 below 

3.1.3 The total variance is an underspend of £56k, 0.8% of the year to date budget. This 
includes the 4% vacancy saving built in to all direct employee cost budgets.  

Table 2: Employee costs 

Full year 
budget 

Profiled 
budget 

Actual to 
date 

Variance Variance 

£000 £000 £000 £000 % 

14,141 7,322 7,266 (56) (0.8)% 

 
3.1.4 Although table 3 highlights an underspend YTD we are not expecting it to continue for 

the full year. In August 2020 an administrative decision was made to employ additional 
staff, to assist the Council with its Covid-19 response, this totals 9.13 FTE during 20/21, 
10.78 FTE during 21/22 and 4.35 FTE during 22/23,. This was reported in detail in 
3.1.6 of the Corporate Finance Update Quarter 1 reported to Cabinet on 9 September 
2020 and Council on 6th October 2020.  

3.1.5 The underspends to date would be higher than £56k quoted in table 3 if not for the 
overspend in contract and agency staff mainly within specialist services as per 
comment in 3.1.1.c 

3.1.6 Included in table 3 above is expenditure on contract and agency staff. The total spend 
on this element of employee costs was £615k against a profiled budget of £257k. This 
expenditure on contract and agency staff equates to 8.46% of the total spend on 
employee costs in Quarter 2. The majority of this relates to: 

 Specialist-Place (£181k) which is for development control specialists; 

 Specialist-People (£168k) which is for revenue & benefits and housing 
standards specialists;  

 Case Management overall (£78k) mainly to cover additional benefit claims as 
a result of Covid-19, along with maternity cover for service critical post and 
Affordable Housing cover; and  

 Specialists Environment (£54k) which is for environmental protection 
specialists.  

These mainly cover the use of agency while we carry out recruitment to vacant 
posts. 

Page 46



3.2 Capital programme 

3.2.1 The 2020/21 capital programmed is valued at £22.32m. Spend at the end of quarter 2 
was £1.99m, with a further £1.95m committed expenditure through purchase orders.  

Table 3: Summary of capital programme and expenditure 

Lead 
Full Year 
Budget 

£000 

Expenditure 
£000 

Budget 
Remaining 

£000 

Support Services 0 0 0 

Digital 516 55 (461) 

Specialist Services 10,754 311 (10,443) 

Delivery and Commercial 
Services 

10,557 1,347 (9,210) 

Strategy 261 107 (154) 

Customer and Locality Services 232 173 (59) 

Grand Total 22,320 1,993 (20,327) 

 
3.2.2 Appendix 2 contains further comments and updates on all capital schemes.   

3.2.3 A revised Capital Programme is attached as Appendix 3. Table 4 below shows a 
summary of the re-profiling required following a review with Portfolio Holders and 
Leads. Cabinet and Council are requested to approve the amendments below. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 47



Table 4: Summary of Capital Programme re-profiling 

Capital Programme Re-profiling 
amount 

£000 

ERDF funded flood defence works (2,146.9) 

Energy saving building enhancements (10.0) 

Braithwaite Fold Caravan Park extension 33.5 

Play Areas (94.8) 

South Lakeland House car park works (13.5) 

New Ulverston Leisure Centre (250.0) 

Coronation Hall alterations (39.9) 

Abbot Hall redevelopment (100.0) 

Kendal to Lancaster towpath trail (120.0) 

Affordable and empty homes town centre properties (349.0) 

Cross-a-moor Junction improvements (300.0) 

S106 funded affordable home purchase (56.0) 

Homeless accommodation for families (10.0) 

Coastal Community Fund (1,151.2) 

Housing Investment Fund (3,000.0) 

Grange Regeneration (157.3) 

Grange Promenade structural works (716.0) 

Grange LIDO (1,890.0) 

Structural repair works to Westmorland Shopping 
Centre car park 

43.0 

Refurbishment of Ellerthwaite Depot to create office 
accommodation to rent 

10.0 

Extension and refurbishment to Rothay Park toilets 
(incl. Changing Places toilet) 

15.5 

Kendal car parking improvements 6.5 

Total capital budgets to be re-profiled (10,296.1) 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 48



3.3 Treasury Management 

3.3.1 Appendix 4 contains an overview of the Council’s position against the agreed 
indicators and limits. 

3.3.2 To date the Council’s investments have performed well against market expectations, 
with all investments performing in excess of their benchmarks. This has been primarily 
been achieved due to a number of investments made before the crisis hit at nearer the 
budgeted rate. New investments however are only commanding rates between 0.01% 
and 0.24%. Therefore there has been no change in the expected outturn position 
reported in quarter 1 of £150k reduction in interest receivable offset by a budget saving 
of £150k on interest payable as a result of not borrowing in 2019/20. 

3.4 Collection Fund  

3.4.1 Table 5 below sets out the performance on local tax collection. The Council Tax 
Collection rate at 30 September 2020 is 56.74%, which is 1.51% below the level seen 
at a similar time last year. This is an improvement on the Q1 difference of 0.10%. We 
now have in post a recovery specialist who will be working on bringing this down further 
within the constraints of lockdown. The Council expects to collect £85.5M of Council 
tax in 2020/21 so the SLSC share (12.42%) of the total fall in collection at the end of 
Q2 is £160k. 

3.4.2 The hardship scheme, which increases the discounts under the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme (CTRS), has now been processed.  Overall 1,128 Council Tax accounts have 
been reduced by £261k. It is estimated that by the end of the year the Council can 
expect to have made additional payments of between £59k and £159k. This would 
bring the total paid between £320k and £420k out of a Government grant of £487k. 

3.4.3 The Non-Domestic Rates (NDR) collection rate figure is 49.76% which is 6.29% below 
the level seen at a similar time last year. While the difference has increased from Q1’s 
total of 4.37%, the restarting of arrears actions has seen a number of business contact 
us and make payment agreements which start from October, we also now have in post 
a recovery specialist who will begin work on tackling these debts. The Council expected 
to collect £16.5m of business rates during 2020/21 and retains 40% of the income so 
the total value of the reduction is £415k.  

3.4.4 The full impact of the shortfall in collection will affect future year’s accounts due to the 
nature of the collection fund where any surplus or deficit is recovered in future years. 

Table 5: Local Taxation Collection rate 

 

 

3.4.5 Recovery action has now restarted across the board and in general collection rates, 
while still lower than previous years are beginning to pick up as arrangements to pay 
are established. 

Percentage 
Collected 
Quarter 1 

2015/16 

% 

2016/17 

% 

2017/18 

% 

2018/19 

% 

2019/20 

% 

2020/21 

% 

 

 

Council Tax 58.64 58.20 58.31 58.23 58.25 56.74  

Business 
Rates 

57.73 56.07 55.93 55.73 56.06 49.76  

Page 49



3.5 Sundry Debts 

3.5.1 The aim of this section is to describe the current debt position and to provide assurance 
over collection performance. Table 6 below summarises the current collection rate on 
sundry debts: 

          Table 6: Summary of collection 

 
3.5.2 An analysis of outstanding sundry debts reveals that over 99% of debts have 

been recovered in years up to 2017/18. 

3.5.3 In the current year to date, 57.33% of debt has been recovered this is down 
from 66.68% at the same time in 2019/20. The table below splits down in more 
detail the age profile of the current outstanding debts. 

Table 7: Age profile of 2020/21 invoices 

2020/21 Invoices £000 

6 months overdue 71.5 

5 months overdue 105.9 

4 months overdue 16.3 

3 months overdue 64.4 

2 months overdue 31.7 

1 month overdue 56.9 

Not yet due 1,018.9 

Total end of Quarter 1 1,365.6 

 
Due to Covid-19 and the financial hardship this has caused to many, no reminder 
letters were sent to customers from March 2020. Recovery action re-commenced in 
July 2020 with a Covid-19 specific letter to ask customers to contact the Council if 
they are experiencing difficulties in making payment. The standard debt recovery 
procedures were re-implemented in August 2020. 

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 Senior management, budget holders and the Finance Portfolio Holder have been 
consulted. 

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 There are no alternative options for Appendices 1-3 

6.0 Links to Council Priorities 

6.1 Regular budget monitoring forms part of the corporate governance arrangements that 
support all Council priorities. 

 

2015/16 
and 

earlier 
2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

2020/21 
to date 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Debt outstanding 87 21 26 88 151 1,365 

Total value of invoices 
/ credit notes raised 

28,620 5,028 5,086 5,696 6,165 3,199 

Collection Rate (%) 99.70 99.58 99.49 98.46 97.55 57.33 

Page 50



7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 Finance and resource information is contained within the report. 

Human Resources 

7.2 There are no direct Human Resources Implications of the report. 

Legal 

7.3 There are no direct legal implications of the report 

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? No      

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: This 
report is an historic view of Q1 financial performance. The overall impact assessment 
of the choices and decisions required to set the annual budget is undertaken at 
budget setting time. 

7.6 There are no additional health, social, economic and environmental impacts as a 
result of the report 

Equality and Diversity 

7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No      

7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: This 
report is an historic view of Q1 financial performance. The overall impact assessment 
of the choices and decisions required to set the annual budget is undertaken at 
budget setting time. 

7.9 Summary of equality and diversity impacts: There are no additional equality impacts 
as a result of the report 

Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

Not effectively managing 
budgets could lead to 
overspending. 

Possible legal challenge, 
audit qualification and ultra 
vires expenditure. 

Scrutiny of budgets 
through review of 
monitoring reports. 

Recurring pressures or savings 
are not identified 

Medium Term Financial 
Planning may not reflect 
the future impact of current 
issues. 

Regular monitoring of 
budgets in year to inform 
the MTFP and annual 
budget setting process. 

Contact Officers 

Claire Chouchoulas, Finance Specialist, c.chouchoulas@southlakeland.gov.uk, 01539 
793154 

Claire Read, Finance Specialist, Claire.Read@southalkeland.gov.uk, 01539 793152 

Helen Smith, Finance Lead Specialist and S151 Officer, h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk, 
01539 793147 

 

Page 51

mailto:c.chouchoulas@southlakeland.gov.uk
mailto:Claire.Read@southalkeland.gov.uk
mailto:h.smith@southlakeland.gov.uk


Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Detailed Revenue Budget Monitoring 

2 Detailed Capital Budget Monitoring 

3 Capital Programme 

4 Treasury Management Update 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

2020/21 Budget Book including MTFP projections https://tinyurl.com/y56kswxu  

Budget Setting Report https://tinyurl.com/y48tb9or  

Medium Term Financial Plan 2020/21-2024/25 https://tinyurl.com/y3lz82yr  

Corporate Financial Update Quarter 1, 2020-21 https://tinyurl.com/y36s7mtp  

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent Date Signed off 

Legal Services 05/11/2020 09/11/2020 

Section 151 Officer Report from S151 Officer 12/11/2020 

Monitoring Officer 05/11/2020 09/11/2020 

CMT 20/10/2020 20/10/2020 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Lead Specialist N/A 

Human Resources Lead Specialist N/A 

Communications Team N/A 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder 05/11/2020 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee N/A 

Executive (Cabinet) 
 

Council 
 

 

 

Page 52

https://tinyurl.com/y56kswxu
https://tinyurl.com/y48tb9or
https://tinyurl.com/y3lz82yr
https://tinyurl.com/y36s7mtp


Appendix 1

Service Portfolio

Original Full 

Year Budgets & 

C/fwds

£

Covid-19 

Budget 

Adjustments

£

Current Full 

Year Working 

Budget

£

Overall

Variance

to Date

£

BAU Out-turn 

projection

>£10k

BAU Carry 

Forward 

Requests 

>£10k

BAU Out-turn 

projection 

less Carry 

Forward 

Requests > 

£10k

Further Covid-

19 

Variances

£

Covid-19 

Outturn 

Projections

£

BAU Commentary  COVID-19 Commentary 

Strategy, Innovation and Resources

GLP Development Plans
Promoting South 

Lakeland
84,775 0 84,775 -18,603 0 0 0 0 0

Possible £24.5k underspend re. 

Neighbourhood Planning Consultancy. 

Dependent on progress of various 

Neighbourhood plans - not controllable. If 

underspent will be transferred to reserve at 

year end and drawn down as and when 

required in future years

0

GEL Elections
Climate Emergency 

and Localism
91,173 0 91,173 -20,663 -75,000 75,000 0 0 0

PCC and District Elections postponed to next 

year due to Covid-19.  Carry Forward District 

Election £75k expenditure; PCC Election 

£170k Expenditure and £170k Income. 

0

DXC Management Team
Promoting South 

Lakeland
366,205 0 366,205 4,374 15,000 0 15,000 0 0

Due to being fully staffed the vacancy saving 

allowance will not be achieved for this area
0

GNH New Homes
Finance and 

Resources
-338,000 0 -338,000 -27,553 -55,000 0 -55,000 0 0 £55k surplus New Homes Bonus 0

GTH Other Items
Finance and 

Resources
-152,158 158,700 6,542 -1 0 0 0 -204,000 -45,300 0

This includes £1.239m of income and 

expenditure budget  adjustments which have 

not yet been applied to services until we can 

see the full impact of Covid-19 in these areas, 

less £1.080m grant received from government 

for Covid-19.

GMM Members
Customer Comm 

Serv and People
391,838 0 391,838 -22,354 0 0 0 0 0

£30k potential underspend on unclaimed 

Member's Allowance, to be transferred to 

Financial Resilience Reserve

0

ECU Customer Services
Customer Comm 

Serv and People
582,999 0 582,999 805 0 0 0 0 0

Customer Connect potential carry forward 

required, reviewing plan to confirm amount.
0

Other Strategy, Innovation and Resources 5,521,588 0 5,521,588 -20,384 0 0 0 0 0 Individual variances <£10k

Total Strategy, Innovation and Resources 6,548,420 158,700 6,707,120 -104,378 -115,000 75,000 -40,000 -204,000 -45,300

Customer and Commercial Services

Operational Lead Customer and Locality Services

Other Customer and Locality Services 2,204,703 0 2,204,703 -15,146 0 0 0 0 0 Individual variances <£10k

Total Operational Lead Customer and Locality Serv 2,204,703 0 2,204,703 -15,146 0 0 0 0 0

Operational Lead Specialist Services

DCS Specialist Services
Customer Comm 

Serv and People
2,326,413 75,000 2,401,413 125,991 250,000 0 250,000 12,800 87,800

£250k projected overspend on salaries due to 

Phase 2 posts not yet recruited into - mostly 

filled by agency staff to continue service 

delivery. Projection to be reviewed monthly - 

may change depending on recruitment 

outcomes.

£75k of additional cost for temporary staff due 

to delays recuriting as a result of Covid-19 

offset by Covid-19 budget changes from 

reserves approved at Council 30.06.20

£12.8K projected overspend on software, due 

to the impact of Covid-19 on the service. 

EUR
AD Cummunity Invest and 

Dev
Customer Comm 

Serv and People
29,496 0 29,496 23,068 20,000 0 20,000 0 0

£20k projected overspend on salaries - Tech 

Team Leader post extended to end of 

September.

0

GBC Building Control
Housing and 

Innovation
-303,408 0 -303,408 18,455 0 0 0 40,000 40,000 0

£40k projected shortfall on Building Control 

income, due to the impact of Covid-19 on the 

service. Offset in GTH by Covid-19 budget 

changes funded from reserves still to be 

applied once we can determine the actual 

impact of Covid-19 in this service.

GBN Council Tax Benefits
Finance and 

Resources
-65,826 0 -65,826 -8,706 -10,800 0 -10,800 0 0

£10.8k surplus re. admin grant income 

received.
0

GDC Development Control
Housing and 

Innovation
-468,193 0 -468,193 57,332 0 0 0 100,000 100,000 0

£100k projected shortfall on Development 

Control income, due to the impact of Covid-19 

on the service. Offset in GTH by Covid-19 

budget changes funded from reserves still to 

be applied once we can determine the actual 

impact of Covid-19 in this service.

The purpose of this appendix is to set out the revenue budget variance projections  based on data up to 30/09/2020 Quarter 2
BAU = Business as usual

P
age 53



Service Portfolio

Original Full 

Year Budgets & 

C/fwds

£

Covid-19 

Budget 

Adjustments

£

Current Full 

Year Working 

Budget

£

Overall

Variance

to Date

£

BAU Out-turn 

projection

>£10k

BAU Carry 

Forward 

Requests 

>£10k

BAU Out-turn 

projection 

less Carry 

Forward 

Requests > 

£10k

Further Covid-

19 

Variances

£

Covid-19 

Outturn 

Projections

£

BAU Commentary  COVID-19 Commentary 

GFN NNDR Collection
Finance and 

Resources
-323,143 0 -323,143 0 0 0 0 11,000 11,000 0

£11k projected shortfall, due to court 

suspension / catch up following Covid-19. 

Uncertain whether court dates will resume in 

second half of the year - to review.

(consists of £12k income shortfall vs £1k 

expenditure underspend)

GFT Council Tax Collection
Finance and 

Resources
-145,988 0 -145,988 0 0 0 0 82,000 82,000 0

£82k projected net shortfall, due to court 

suspension / catch up following Covid-19. 

Uncertain whether court dates will resume in 

second half of the year - to review.

(consists of £90k income shortfall vs £8k 

expenditure underspend) 

GHT Housing Standards
Housing and 

Innovation
614,504 0 614,504 28,810 0 0 0 36,000 36,000 0

£36k projected shorfall on DFG Levy Income, 

due to the impact of Covid-19 on the service.

GLC Local Land Charges
Housing and 

Innovation
-158,115 0 -158,115 2,280 0 0 0 6,000 6,000 0

£25k projected shortfall on Local Land Charge 

income; offset by £19k projected underspend 

on related expenditure, both due to the impact 

of Covid-19 on the service. The overall £6k 

shortfall is offset in GTH by Covid-19 budget 

changes funded from reserves still to be 

applied once we can determine the actual 

impact of Covid-19 in this service.

GRA Rent Allowances
Finance and 

Resources
-342,723 0 -342,723 0 212,000 0 212,000 0 0

£212k adjustments following audit of Housing 

Benefit Subsidy Claims for 2017/18 and 

2018/19 to be offset by use of reserves

0

GWS Water Sampling
Climate Emergency 

and Localism
-51,034 0 -51,034 31,960 0 0 0 55,000 55,000 0

£100k projected shortfall on Water Sampling 

income; offset by £45k projected underspend 

on related expenditure; both due to the impact 

of Covid-19 on the service. Staffing shortages 

will increase this going forward. The overall 

£55k shortfall is part offset by £18k in GTH by 

Covid-19 budget changes funded from 

reserves still to be applied once we can 

determine the actual impact of Covid-19 in this 

service.

Other Specialist Services 8,954,187 0 8,954,187 -2,691 0 0 0 0 0 Individual variances <£10k

Total Operational Lead Specialist Services 10,066,170 75,000 10,141,170 276,499 471,200 0 471,200 342,800 417,800

Operational Lead Case Management

DCM Case Management
Customer Comm 

Serv and People
1,770,922 60,000 1,830,922 -19,444 -25,000 0 -25,000 0 60,000

£25k underspend on printers lease payments 

following extension to contract

 £60k of additional costs as a result of 

processing additional claims as a result of 

Covid-19 offset by Covid-19 budget changes 

from reserves approved at Council 30.06.20.

GCM Cemeteries
Customer Comm 

Serv and People
24,189 50,000 74,189 1,495 0 0 0 0 50,000 0

£50k of additional costs in bereavement 

services as a result of Covid-19, offset by 

Covid-19 budget changes from reserves 

approved at Council 30.06.20

GHM Homelessness
Housing and 

Innovation
75,972 150,000 225,972 1,087 0 0 0 0 150,000 0

£150k of additional costs relating to homeless 

accomodation due to Covid-19 restictions, 

offest by Covid-19 budget changes from 

reserves approved at Council.

GMD Licensing Act
Economy Culture 

and Leisure
-201,862 0 -201,862 7,046 0 0 0 10,000 10,000 0

Projected £10k shortfall for Temporary Event 

Licences due to Covid-19, offset in GTH by 

Covid-19 budget changes funded from 

reserves still to be applied once we can 

determine the actual impact of Covid-19 in this 

service.

Other Case Management -70,391 0 -70,391 12,169 0 0 0 0 0 Individual variances <£10k

Total Operational Lead Case Management 1,598,830 260,000 1,858,830 2,353 -25,000 0 -25,000 10,000 270,000

Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial Services

P
age 54



Service Portfolio

Original Full 

Year Budgets & 

C/fwds

£

Covid-19 

Budget 

Adjustments

£

Current Full 

Year Working 

Budget

£

Overall

Variance

to Date

£

BAU Out-turn 

projection

>£10k

BAU Carry 

Forward 

Requests 

>£10k

BAU Out-turn 

projection 

less Carry 

Forward 

Requests > 

£10k

Further Covid-

19 

Variances

£

Covid-19 

Outturn 

Projections

£

BAU Commentary  COVID-19 Commentary 

GCK Car Parks
Customer Comm 

Serv and People
-2,123,383 1,152,000 -971,383 161,026 0 0 0 518,000 1,670,000 0

£1,670k projected shortfall in income due to 

Covid-19 offset by £1,152 reduction in budget 

from reserves as approved at Council 

30.06.20. This projection reflects the better 

than anticipated summer season especially 

within the National Park area, however 

allowance has still been made for the impact 

on parking receipts for the remainder of the 

year

GCS Caravan Site
Customer Comm 

Serv and People
-312,866 130,000 -182,866 -5,749 0 0 0 113,000 243,000 0

£243k shortfall projected for the Caravan Site 

due to Covid-19, offset by £130k reduction in 

budget following Covid-19 budget changes 

from reserves approved at Council 30.06.20

GLE
Leisure Centres (incl 

Pools)
Economy Culture 

and Leisure
834,446 120,000 954,446 -1,167 0 0 0 0 120,000 0

Negotiations ongoing re level of support 

required.

GLW Lake Windermere
Economy Culture 

and Leisure
-971,533 0 -971,533 24,997 20,000 0 20,000 20,000 20,000

£20k demand led shortfall anticipated for 

moorings

and a further £20k shortfall projected for 

Mooring Fees due to Covid-19, offset in GTH 

by Covid-19 budget changes funded from 

reserves still to be applied once we can 

determine the actual impact of Covid-19 in this 

service.

GMK Markets
Economy Culture 

and Leisure
-50,541 33,000 -17,541 13,895 25,000 0 25,000 0 33,000

 £25k overspend on salaries due to delay with 

tender of Kendal Market;

 £33k shortfall projected for Market income 

due to Covid-19, offset by £33k reduction in 

budget following Covid-19 budget changes 

from reserves approved at Council 30.06.20

GPH Public Halls
Economy Culture 

and Leisure
145,173 24,000 169,173 -6,939 0 0 0 0 24,000 0

Shortfall of £24k in income due to Covid-19, 

offset by £24k Covid-19 budget changes from 

reserves approved at Council 30.06.20

GTG Street Cleansing Client
Customer Comm 

Serv and People
1,139,464 0 1,139,464 -6,557 -16,000 0 -16,000 0 0 £16k projected underspend on fuel 0

GTS Transport
Customer Comm 

Serv and People
-5,924 0 -5,924 43,448 45,000 0 45,000 16,000 16,000

£29k projected overspend on repairs and 

maintenance of vehicles due to ongoing 

problems with vehicles (sweepers and 

Romaquips) which have now fallen outside 

their warranty however are not due for 

replacement.

In addition there is a shortfall in projected 

transport income which is partly demand led 

The remaining £16k shortfall in income is as a 

result of delays with MOT's due to Covid-19. 

For the purposes of this report it has been split 

equally between the two however further 

investigation will be done to determine the 

actual split. 

GWK
Kerbside Coll Recycling 

Client
Customer Comm 

Serv and People
3,244,807 73,800 3,318,607 15,690 23,000 0 23,000 0 73,800

£20k projected underspend on fuel due to 

lower fuel prices; £105k shortfall anticipated 

for sale of materials, this is a high level 

estimate and will be investigated further; £62k 

projected surplus on recycling credits.

 £65k shortfall projected for the recycling 

credits due to Covid-19 and £8,8k extra costs 

relating to emergency staff and protective 

equiment, offset by £73.8k reduction in budget 

following Covid-19 budget changes from 

reserves approved at Council 30.06.20

GWR Waste Recycling
Customer Comm 

Serv and People
23,960 0 23,960 5,727 0 0 0 10,000 10,000 0

£10k shortfall projected for the recycling 

credits due to Covid-19, offset in GTH by 

Covid-19 budget changes funded from 

reserves still to be applied once we can 

determine the actual impact of Covid-19 in this 

service.

Other Delivery and Commercial Services 1,824,178 0 1,824,178 -25,668 0 0 0 0 0 Individual variances <£10k

Total Operational Lead Delivery and Commercial Se 3,747,781 1,532,800 5,280,581 218,701 97,000 0 97,000 677,000 2,209,800

Total Customer and Commercial Services 17,617,484 1,867,800 19,485,284 482,407 543,200 0 543,200 1,029,800 2,897,600

Corporate items

VGR26 Investment Interest -230,890 0 -230,890 0 150,000 0 150,000 0 0

Following emergency cuts to the Bank Rate in 

March 2020, we have seen a fall in the return 

on our investments, which will result in an 

estimated shortfall of £150k

0

VGR27 Interest on borrowings 817,719 0 817,719 0 -150,000 0 -150,000 0 0

Due to not needing to borrow for the Capital 

Programme in 19/20 we currently estimate a 

saving on borrowing costs of £150k

0

VGS34
Transfer from Reserves 

Other Funds/Reserves
-1,986,312 -2,026,500 -4,012,812 0 -212,000 0 -212,000 0 -2,026,500

£212k adjustments following audit of Housing 

Benefit Subsidy Claims for 2017/18 and 

2018/19 to be offset by use of reserves

Use of Reserves agreed at Council 30.06.20 - 

decision reference C/9. To assit with the costs 

of the Covid-19 pandemic

Other Corporate Items -22,767,029 0 -22,767,029 1 0 0 0 0 0

Total Corporate items -24,166,512 -2,026,500 -26,193,012 1 -212,000 0 -212,000 0 -2,026,500

P
age 55



Service Portfolio

Original Full 

Year Budgets & 

C/fwds

£

Covid-19 

Budget 

Adjustments

£

Current Full 

Year Working 

Budget

£

Overall

Variance

to Date

£

BAU Out-turn 

projection

>£10k

BAU Carry 

Forward 

Requests 

>£10k

BAU Out-turn 

projection 

less Carry 

Forward 

Requests > 

£10k

Further Covid-

19 

Variances

£

Covid-19 

Outturn 

Projections

£

BAU Commentary  COVID-19 Commentary 

Total Corporate Items -24,166,512 -2,026,500 -26,193,012 1 -212,000 0 -212,000 0 -2,026,500

Total GF -608 0 -608 378,030 216,200 75,000 291,200 825,800 825,800

Net GF

MHCLG Grant

Claimed but not yet rececived for April - July 2020 lost fees and charges -963,000 -963,000

Estimate for August 2020 - March 2021 -263,000 -263,000

Potential Net GF deficit if grant received -400,200 -400,200

Claim to be submitted every four months and 

next claim will be December for August - 

November 2020

P
age 56



Appendix 2

Lead/code Scheme Portfolio

Full Year

Budget

£

Expenditure

£

Variance

to Date

£

Changes 

required to 

2020/21

 £

Re-profiling 

required to 

future years

 £

Commentary 

KIT27 Mobile Working for 

Streetscene

Housing and Innovation 120,000 0 -120,000 Specification and integration with new digital platform to be 

assessed before project can begin. 

KIT30 Digital Innovation Project Housing and Innovation 307,296 0 -307,296 Part of this will be used to fund the new Development 

Management Suite.

KIT90 IT Replacement Fund Housing and Innovation 88,670 55,355 -33,315 On track with replacement programme, but additional 

expenditure (£27k) has been incurred in response to Covid19 - 

some of this additional expenditure may be recovered by 

government grant.

515,966 55,355 -460,611 0 0

KDE06 ERDF Funded Flood Defence 

Works

Climate Emergency and 

Localism

2,670,000 224,649 -2,445,351 2,146,900 Planning permission granted and EA Internal Business Case in 

place. Grant and partnership agreements signed. Some delay 

expected to works programme - extension to funding deadline 

requested from MHCLG. Updated programme of spend from EA 

in September and re-profiling required into 2021/22..

KDE07 Coastal Communities Fund Climate Emergency and 

Localism

2,351,210 0 -2,351,210 1,151,210 CCF project started 1 May 2019, funded by MHCLG. Scheme is 

over two years. Funding for SLDC and Morecambe Bay 

Partnership (MBP), then we will pay over to MBP their share. 

SLDC is accountable body. Scheme is for works at Grange 

promenade which is currently being procured and will start on 

site early 2021. Funding agreement to be complete with MHCLG 

by end of September, which will enable funds to be distributed to 

partners. £1.2m expected to be spent in 2020/21, remainder to 

require carry forward.

KAH10 Affordable Homes TC Prop 

Empty

Housing and Innovation 691,000 0 -691,000 349,000 Awaiting completion certificate so that the Cabinet-approved 

grant of £282k to SL Housing for purchase of houses at Station 

Cottages, Newby Bridge can be paid. £60k Town Centre and 

Renovation grants also to be made from this budget but no 

suitable applications yet.Balance of £349k will require reprofiling.

SLDC 2020/21 Capital Programme Monitoring Period 6

Digital

Total Digital

Specialist Services

P
age 57



Appendix 2

Lead/code Scheme Portfolio

Full Year

Budget

£

Expenditure

£

Variance

to Date

£

Changes 

required to 

2020/21

 £

Re-profiling 

required to 

future years

 £

Commentary 

SLDC 2020/21 Capital Programme Monitoring Period 6

KAH11 Other Housing Schemes 

(Cross-a-Moor junction 

improvements)

Housing and Innovation 300,000 0 -300,000 625,000 925,000 Highways England leading scheme to build a roundabout to 

enable delivery of 1000 homes. July 2020 Highways England 

revised their costed risk assessment of the scheme leading to 

potential funding shortfall of £2.69m. Cabinet approved additional 

funding 09/09/20 to underwrite SLDC proportion of shortfall 

(£925k), CCC to cover the balance. 

KAH13 Commuted Sums Affordable 

Housing

Housing and Innovation 86,000 0 -86,000 56,000 £30k for Parkside Road scheme to be spent in this year, 

remainder will require reprofiling to next year.

KGD21 Mand Disabled Fac Grants Housing and Innovation 727,300 64,724 -662,576 Some schemes delayed because of coronavirus. Service 

resuming June after period of being suspended - contractors now 

working again. Four months work lost so likely underspend of 

approximately 30% expected in year.

KRT10 Right To Buy Replacement Housing and Innovation 247,500 0 -247,500 Budget covers payment of second instalment of £495k grant to 

SLH  to be made on receipt of completion certificate.

KCH01 Community Housing Fund Housing and Innovation 561,000 21,834 -539,167 Projects progressing. Schemes coming to fruition in the autumn. 

Anticipated spend in year £561k made up Gatesbield (£18k), 

Levens (£543k) so transfer from CHF reserve of £235k done to 

increase budget.

KIF01 Housing Investment Fund Housing and Innovation 3,000,000 0 -3,000,000 3,000,000 Discussion ongoing between SLDC/ SLH regarding use of 

funds..Agreement to be signed. Revise in light of development 

programmes moving forward post lockdown. Scheme currently 

paused subject to further negotiation.

KPE18 Towpath Trail Kendal-

Lancaster

Economy Culture and 

Leisure

120,000 0 -120,000 120,000 Remaining £120k payment to CCC to be made. Delay due to 

new land agent and requirement for agent to deliver a report 

following land owner consultation. Funding agreement awaiting 

outcome of the report. Likely to require reprofiling to next year.

Total Specialist Services 10,754,010 311,207 -10,442,803 625,000 7,748,110

P
age 58



Appendix 2

Lead/code Scheme Portfolio

Full Year

Budget

£

Expenditure

£

Variance

to Date

£

Changes 

required to 

2020/21

 £

Re-profiling 

required to 

future years

 £

Commentary 

SLDC 2020/21 Capital Programme Monitoring Period 6

Delivery and Commerical Services

KCD01 Castle Dairy Economy Culture and 

Leisure

4,000 0 -4,000 Contractor in administration and sorting with administrators.

KDP03 Ellerthwaite Depot conversion Customer Comm Serv and 

People

0 0 0 10,000 Meeting with Windermere Town Council on 29 Oct to seek 

approval of project prior to planning being submitted. Once 

approved, planning will be submitted and tender issued. Scheme 

originally planned for 2021/22 but £10k of works to take place in 

2020/21.

KEP52 Disabled Toilet 

Improvements

Health Wellbeing and 

Financial Resilience

40,000 0 -40,000 Budget covers payments for Millerground (£20k) and Cartmel 

(£20k). Windermere Town Council now approached regarding 

Millerground changing places scheme - Cartmel commencement 

date yet to be determined.

KEP53 Rothay Park toilets 

refurbishment

0 0 0 15,500 Scheme originally programmed for 2021/22. Design work to take 

place in 2020/21 (£15.5k) for scheme to begin 2021/22.

KAH14 Homeless Accommodation Housing and Innovation 444,400 136,080 -308,320 Budget originally intended for work to convert facilities at 14 

Peppercorn Lane, Kendal and Hampsfell Depot,Grange for family 

accommodation. Peppercorn Lane no longer going ahead as 

planning refused due to flood risk. Hampsfell will complete w/c 19 

October. Further proposal for Kendal being put forward as part of 

capital bid process. Likely to offer £175k of savings back into pot.

KAH15 Next Steps Accommodation 

Programme

Housing and Innovation 0 0 0 237,000 Council has approved a £237k budget reflecting government 

funding towards the cost of finding suitable accommodation for 

those sleeping rough or unsafe during the Covid-19 pandemic. 

KFL01 Footway Lighting Customer Comm Serv and 

People

86,200 330 -85,870 Spend dependant on Electricity North West and Cumbria CC 

programming works.

KLC03 Ulverston Leisure Centre Economy Culture and 

Leisure

250,000 0 -250,000 250,000 Scheme on hold, will recommence when a clearer view of the 

impact of Covid-19 on leisure provision is available.

KLH02 Ulverston Asset Transfer 

programme

Economy Culture and 

Leisure

39,883 0 -39,883 39,883 UCE now developing a business case for long-term use of funds, 

so payment will be delayed until completed - likely to be 3-5 

years before payment made, so budget will require re-profiling.

KLH07 SL House & KTH 

reconfiguration

Finance and Resources 3,752,888 12,542 -3,740,346 439,000 Work started 27 July 2020. Budget to be increased for funding 

received from Cumbria LEP (£439k).

P
age 59



Appendix 2

Lead/code Scheme Portfolio

Full Year

Budget

£

Expenditure

£

Variance

to Date

£

Changes 

required to 

2020/21

 £

Re-profiling 

required to 

future years

 £

Commentary 

SLDC 2020/21 Capital Programme Monitoring Period 6

KLH08 Abbot Hall redevelopment Economy Culture and 

Leisure

100,000 0 -100,000 100,000 Scheme has been paused as various prerequisites need to be in 

place (lease extension, flood alleviation project) and agreed by 

Arts Council before their funding can be released. This scheme 

will require reprofiling to 2021/22.

KMR21 Kendal Museum alterations Customer Comm Serv and 

People

85,000 0 -85,000 Museum agreement between Kendal Town Council and Kendal 

College to be signed imminently and then payment will be made.

KMR33 Braithwaite Fold Customer Comm Serv and 

People

33,500 32,567 -933 Work to upgrade the electricity supply that was delayed due to 

original contractor going into administration. 

KMR34 Kendal Castle Customer Comm Serv and 

People

41,000 1,870 -39,130 Footpaths work tenders have been evaluated. Work to take 

place in Jan - Feb 2021. 

KMR36 Monument Kirkby Lonsdale Customer Comm Serv and 

People

27,000 234 -26,766 Listed building application in. Tenders back and evaluation taking 

place ready for work to begin.

KPY38 WSC Car Park refurbishment Customer Comm Serv and 

People

0 0 0 43,000 Scheme originally programmed for 2021/22. £43k of work to take 

place in 2020/21.

KPY42 Car Park machines update Customer Comm Serv and 

People

84,199 0 -84,199 Payment of first half of project cost agreed and paid in 2019/20. 

Remainder pending resolution of outstanding issues.

KPY44 Town and Car Park/public 

information Signs

Customer Comm Serv and 

People

11,700 2,743 -8,957 Works agreed, to take place in year.

KPY45 SLH Car Park - structural 

repair and re-surfacing works

Customer Comm Serv and 

People

1,730 0 -1,730 Retention outstanding.

KPY46 Car Park Resurfacing Customer Comm Serv and 

People

92,400 18,503 -73,898 Works at Grasmere starts 2nd November 2020, will finish before 

Christmas.

KPY48 Parkside Rd Car Park Customer Comm Serv and 

People

145,298 1,155 -144,143 Tenders back and Cabinet report issued ready for approval in 

October. If approved work will start in January.

KPY51 Kendal Parking Study Actions Customer Comm Serv and 

People

0 0 0 6500 Main scheme 2021/22. Preparatory work of £6.5k to update the 

parking review post Covid-19 to take place in year.

KRE04 Grange Regeneration 

Programme

Economy Culture and 

Leisure

157,300 0 -157,300 157,300 Delayed - tender submissions being reviewed, so expected to be 

late 2020 before works can begin.

KRE66 Grange Promenade structural 

works

Economy Culture and 

Leisure

721,925 5,800 -716,125 716,000 Delayed - tender submissions being reviewed, so expected to be 

late 2020 before works can begin.

P
age 60



Appendix 2

Lead/code Scheme Portfolio

Full Year

Budget

£

Expenditure

£

Variance

to Date

£

Changes 

required to 

2020/21

 £

Re-profiling 

required to 

future years

 £

Commentary 

SLDC 2020/21 Capital Programme Monitoring Period 6

KRE67 Grange LIDO Economy Culture and 

Leisure

1,960,000 20,832 -1,939,168 1,890,000 Delayed - tender submissions being reviewed, so expected to be 

late 2020 before works can begin.

KSC91 Refurb Replace Recycled 

Bins

Customer Comm Serv and 

People

143,620 94,247 -49,373 Procurement has taken place and bins ordered for delivery in 

phases throughout the year. 

KSC91 Vehicle Purchase Customer Comm Serv and 

People

2,215,880 991,856 -1,224,024 Five 26t Dennis Eagle vehicles £180k each and one 12t RCV 

£122k now delivered. Ten 3.5t Isuzu vans £37k each ordered. 

One 26t vehicle tender and one 24t tender returned and 

evaluated and report complete for approval. Four 7.5t vehicles 

and one 12.5t due to be approved 5 Nov by DED and then 

orders will be placed.

KXB27 Energy Saving Building 

Enhancement

Climate Emergency and 

Localism

119,100 28,280 -90,820 Work at Town View Fields, Mintworks and Ferry Nab. TVF and 

Mintworks now complete. Ferry Nab to be tendered in 2021.

Total Delivery and Commercial Services 10,557,023 1,347,038 -9,209,985 751,000 3,153,183

Strategy

KMR35 Burton Heritage Grant 

Scheme

Customer Comm Serv and 

People

136,200 0 -136,200 Public realm work in the square complete, subject to final 

remedial work on defects. Grant aided repair work to the Royal 

Hotel commenced on 28 September – the Royal Hotel is the 

main priority building for repairs in the Burton-in-Kendal PSiCA 

scheme and a payment of £50,818 will be due from the PSiCA 

fund when works are complete. The completion of the Square 

scheme may be contributing to a current rise in interest in grant-

aid for building repairs, with five expressions of interest at 

present. It is hoped that the current schemes underway will 

promote further interest.

KIL01 Community Infrastructure 

Levy (CIL)

Housing and Innovation 0 92,367 92,367 Neighbourhood funding paid to Parish and Town Councils for CIL 

receipts received Oct 2019 to March 2020.

KIP01 Locally Important Projects Economy Culture and 

Leisure

124,996 15,000 -109,996 Work has stalled on some projects payable in instalments due to 

coronavirus and public consultations have not been able to take 

place. Contacting of applicants to assess situation re other 

schemes.

Total Strategy 261,196 107,367 -153,829 0 0

Customer and Locality Services

P
age 61



Appendix 2

Lead/code Scheme Portfolio

Full Year

Budget

£

Expenditure

£

Variance

to Date

£

Changes 

required to 

2020/21

 £

Re-profiling 

required to 

future years

 £

Commentary 

SLDC 2020/21 Capital Programme Monitoring Period 6

KLL18 Cockshott Point entrance 

improvements

Economy Culture and 

Leisure

1,400 0 -1,400 Working with National Trust - delayed due to covid but exepcted 

to start soon, to be finished by the Autumn.

KNM51 Play Areas Customer Comm Serv and 

People

0 0 0 0 £65k budget vired to Queens Park (£40k) and North Lons Road 

(£25k) to complete those projects - spend will be in 2020/21. 

KNM55 Hallgarth Phase 2 Customer Comm Serv and 

People

15,500 14,155 -1,345 Main work completed 2019/20, final jobs being done. 

Outstanding order to be paid shortly. Remaining budget to be 

used for replacement gate.

KNM56 Millerground Play Project Customer Comm Serv and 

People

17,000 12,113 -4,887 Main work completed 2019/20, contractor has done final repairs, 

awaiting invoice.

KNM58 Kendal Parks playground Customer Comm Serv and 

People

22,400 16,504 -5,896 Scheme at Hayclose Crescent - total cost £20k. Install to take 

place in November.

KNM59 Lightburn Park MUGA & 

playground

Customer Comm Serv and 

People

47,700 120,409 72,709 Scheme complete. £60k of grant funding due imminently and 

£10k S106 outstanding.

KNM63 Queens Park play area Customer Comm Serv and 

People

50,000 0 -50,000 50,000 Total scheme cost will be £200k. Major fundraising taking place - 

£130k funding currently assured and £40k vired from general 

play areas budget above. Major bids made, awaiting decisions. 

Tender to be prepared over the winter and installation to take 

place Spring 2021.

KNM64 Broadgate Meadow 

Grasmere

Customer Comm Serv and 

People

12,800 9,500 -3,300 Main work completed 2019/20, final jobs and snagging being 

done.

KNM66 Rayrigg Meadow Play Area Customer Comm Serv and 

People

12,800 339 -12,461 Playground installed 2019/20. Remaining budget due to be used 

for changing places (disabled toilets) at Millerground, but this 

work uncertain at the moment - potentially vire the balance to 

Queens Park.

KNM68 North Lonsdale Road Play 

Area

Customer Comm Serv and 

People

44,800 0 -44,800 44,800 Total scheme cost £80k, £40k funding currently assured, £25k 

vired from general play areas budget above and other funding 

being sought. Tenders close 9 Oct, and install early next year 

(Feb/ March), payment on completion in April.

KNM70 HMCLG funded schemes Customer Comm Serv and 

People

3,300 0 -3,300 Budget reflects balance of HMCLG funding received March 

2019. Work at Lightburn Park skate ramp (£2k) and other 

community projects to be done.

KLR31 Nobles Rest park 

improvements

Economy Culture and 

Leisure

4,300 0 -4,300 Bog garden project expected to take place autumn 2020 and 

further planting into 2020/21.

Total Customer and Locality Services 232,000 173,020 -58,980 0 94,800

22,320,195 1,993,986 -20,326,209 1,376,000 10,996,093GRAND TOTAL

P
age 62



Appendix 3

GL 
Code

Programme Spending by Project 2020/21 
Approved 
Feb 2020

Carry-
forwards 
approved 
June 2020

Q2 
monitoring 

amendments 
2020/21

2020/21 
Latest

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total 
2020/21 to 

2024/25

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

KDE06 ERDF funded flood defence works 2,670.0 0.0 -2,146.9 523.1 2,163.0 2,273.0 381.0 0.0 5,340.1

KXB27 Energy-saving building enhancements 0.0 129.1 -10.0 119.1 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 119.1

KFL01 Footway Lighting 65.7 20.5 0.0 86.2 25.0 25.0 25.0 0.0 161.2

KLR31 Nobles Rest 0.0 4.3 0.0 4.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.3

KMR33 Braithwaite Fold Caravan Park extention 0.0 0.0 33.5 33.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 33.5

KNM56 Millerground Public Open Space, Access and 
Play Project

0.0 17.0 0.0 17.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 17.0

KNMxx Play Areas (including community funded 
schemes and schemes arising from the Play 
Space Audit)

65.0 142.3 -92.8 114.5 159.8 65.0 65.0 65.0 469.3

KPY42 Car Parking Machines 0.0 84.2 0.0 84.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 84.2

KPY44 Town and Car Park signing 0.0 11.7 0.0 11.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 11.7

KPY45 South Lakeland House carpark works 0.0 15.2 -13.5 1.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.7

KPY46 Car park re-surfacing 0.0 92.4 0.0 92.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 92.4

KPY48 Parkside Road, Kendal car park 0.0 145.3 0.0 145.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 145.3

KPY49 Windermere Road car park, Grange 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

KPY50 Purchase of Car Park Dowker Lane 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

KSC91 Vehicle & Plant Programme (inc bins and boxes) 2,281.0 13.5 0.0 2,294.5 499.0 820.0 2,049.0 2,235.0 7,897.5

KCD01 Castle Dairy flood damage reinstatement 0.0 4.0 0.0 4.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 4.0

KIP01 LIPS (excluding contributions to SLDC property 
included under individual properties)

0.0 125.0 0.0 125.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 125.0

KLC03 New Ulverston Leisure Centre 250.0 0.0 -250.0 0.0 250.0 6,000.0 2,950.0 0.0 9,200.0

KLH02 Coronation Hall alterations 39.9 0.0 -39.9 0.0 79.8 0.0 0.0 0.0 79.8

KLH08 Abbot Hall redevelopment 50.0 50.0 -100.0 0.0 100.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 100.0

KLL18 Cockshott Point Entrance Improvements 0.0 1.4 0.0 1.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1.4

KMR21 Kendal Museum contribution 0.0 85.0 0.0 85.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 85.0

KMR31 Festival Infrastructure 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

KMR34 Kendal Castle (funded from LIPS) 0.0 41.0 0.0 41.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 41.0

KMR35 Burton Hertiage Grant Scheme (funded from 
LIPS)

75.0 61.2 0.0 136.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 136.2

KPE18 Kendal to Lancaster towpath trail 0.0 120.0 -120.0 0.0 120.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 120.0

KRE53 Kendal Town Centre Public Realm 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

KLH07 Kendal Town Hall/South Lakeland House 3,789.9 -37.0 439.0 4,191.9 947.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 5,139.4

KEP52 Disabled Toilet improvements 0.0 40.0 0.0 40.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 40.0

KAH10 Affordable & Empty Homes, Town Centre 
Properties.

260.0 431.0 -349.0 342.0 609.0 260.0 0.0 0.0 1,211.0

KAH11 Cross-a-Moor junction improvement 0.0 300.0 -300.0 0.0 4,531.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 4,531.7

KAH13 S106 funded affordable homes purchase 0.0 86.0 -56.0 30.0 56.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 86.0

KAH14 Homeless Accommodation for Families 230.7 223.7 -10.0 444.4 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 444.4

KAH15 Next Steps Accommodation Programme 0.0 0.0 237.0 237.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 237.0

KCH01 Community Housing Fund 0.0 325.8 235.2 561.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 561.0

KDE07 Coastal Communities Fund (includes £1.1 million 
for Grande Promenade)

2,351.2 0.0 -1,151.2 1,200.0 1,151.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 2,351.2

KGD21 Disabled Facilities Grants 661.0 66.3 0.0 727.3 661.0 603.0 603.0 603.0 3,197.3

KIF01 Housing Investment Fund: Loans to Housing 
Associations

3,000.0 0.0 -3,000.0 0.0 3,000.0 3,000.0 0.0 0.0 6,000.0

KIT27 Mobile Working 0.0 120.0 0.0 120.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 120.0

KIT30 Customer Connect 0.0 307.3 0.0 307.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 307.3

KIT90 IT Replacements 80.0 8.6 0.0 88.6 80.0 80.0 80.0 80.0 408.6

KRE04 Grange Regeneration 157.3 0.0 -157.3 0.0 157.3 0.0 0.0 0.0 157.3

KRE66 Grange Promenade Structural works 796.0 -74.0 -716.0 6.0 1,091.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,097.0

KRE67 Grange Lido 1,960.0 0.0 -1,890.0 70.0 1,890.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 1,960.0

KRT10 Right to buy replacement scheme 0.0 247.5 0.0 247.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 247.5

Capital Programme 2020/21-2024/25

Page 63



Appendix 3

GL 
Code

Programme Spending by Project 2020/21 
Approved 
Feb 2020

Carry-
forwards 
approved 
June 2020

Q2 
monitoring 

amendments 
2020/21

2020/21 
Latest

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total 
2020/21 to 

2024/25

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Capital Programme 2020/21-2024/25

CAP A Environment Agency lead Flood Relief Scheme 
Improvements

0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 550.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 550.0

CAP B Purchase of Bins and Boxes for Waste Service 65.0 0.0 0.0 65.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 65.0

CAP C Structural Repair works to Westmorland 
Shopping Centre MSCP

0.0 0.0 43.0 43.0 197.0 240.0 0.0 0.0 480.0

CAP D Refurbishment of Ellerthwaite Depot to create 
office accommodation for rent

0.0 0.0 10.0 10.0 80.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 90.0

CAP E Extension and refurbishment to Rothay Park 
toilets (incl Changing Places toilet)

0.0 0.0 15.5 15.5 59.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 75.0

CAP G Kendal Car Parking improvements including 
potential purchase of site, machine upgrades 
and signage

0.0 0.0 6.5 6.5 493.5 0.0 0.0 0.0 500.0

CAP H Roofing repairs to The Monument, Kirkby 
Lonsdale

27.0 0.0 0.0 27.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 27.0

Bids subject to further assessment:

Car park investments* 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Employment site land acquisition 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Depot review 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

0.0

Total 18,874.7 3,208.3 -9,382.9 12,700.1 18,951.3 13,366.0 6,153.0 2,983.0 54,153.4

2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 Total 
2019/20 to 

2023/24

Reconciliation: £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Capital Programme approved July 2020 22,083.0 15,951.4 5,169.1 2,822.0 2,983.0 49,008.5

Reprofiling -10,296.1 -1,231.8 8,196.9 3,331.0 0.0 0.0

Q1 monitoring approvals approved Council Sept 
2020

911.2 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 911.2

Additional external funding - play areas 2.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 2.0

Additional funding - Cross-a-Moor approved 
Council Sept 2020

0.0 4,231.7 0.0 0.0 0.0 4,231.7

Proposed Programme October 19 12,700.1 18,951.3 13,366.0 6,153.0 2,983.0 54,153.4

*subject to detailed review of car parking strategy including potential new car parks, reconfiguration options on existing car parks and electric charging 
points

Page 64



Appendix 4 

2020/21 Quarter 2 Treasury Management Update 

This appendix reviews treasury performance for the period 01/04/2020 – 30/09/2020 against 

the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy, which was approved by Council on  

25th February 2020. 

The Councils Treasury Management operation ensures cash flows are adequately planned, 

with surplus monies being invested in low risk counterparties, providing adequate liquidity 

initially, before considering optimising investment return. 

The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the Council’s 
capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the Council, this 
is the element of the capital programme that is not financed from external grants, capital 
receipts or other contributions. Which when added to the Council’s Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR) shows the underlying borrowing need of the Council. This underlying 
borrowing need is managed by the treasury team through short and long term borrowing 
arrangements and the use of longer term cash flow surpluses. 

 
Borrowing  

No new borrowing has been undertaken in the year to date, therefore the Council has maintained 
external borrowing at £12.8 million. As a result, gross and net borrowing are below the capital 
financing requirement (CFR). This is a key indicator as it shows that the Council is not borrowing 
to fund revenue activities or borrowing to lend-on. 
 
Table 1: Borrowing Limits 
 

 £m 

Actual borrowing 12.800 

Authorised limit 30.415 

Operational boundary 24.200 

Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) 24.142 

 
Table 1 also shows that the Council hasn’t breached its operational boundary and authorised limit 
(which must not be breached) on external debt.   
 
The current premium on the Councils borrowing is circa 112% (i.e. £1.12m per £1m repaid), which 
would take around 27½ years to repay. This is not low enough to consider making an early 
repayment, however we will keep this under review. 
 
Our current internal borrowing position, is estimated to be £11.342million or 47% of the CFR at year 
end, this has risen from 32% of CFR in 2019/20. This position will be carefully monitored against 
changes to reserves to ensure that the position is sustainable. 
 
Previously the Council’s position has been to wait until the end of a financial year before borrowing 
for that years capital plans. Due to the unpresented times and the impact this has had on cash 
flows coupled with the uncertainty of capital cash flows we may need to borrow in year in 2020/21.  
 
This should not impact negatively on the budget as it was set assuming we would borrow for 
2019/20’s capital programme which due to re-profiling we did not need to do. In fact because of 
this we are expecting to make a saving here which once you take into account the likely mid-year 
borrowing is estimated to be £150,000. 
 
 
 
 

Page 65



Appendix 4 

Investments 
 
Graph 1 below shows the movement on the Councils investment portfolio between 01/04/20 
and 30/09/2020. 
 

 
 
The Council held £34.898m of investments as at 30 September 2020. Table 2 shows the 
outstanding investments by type. 
 
Table 2 Investment Summary 
 

Counterparty Value (£m) 

Call Operational  

 CCLA 2.848 

 Federated 7.050 

Fixed Operational  

 Ashford Borough Council 2.000 

 Coventry Building Society 3.000 

 Leeds Building Society 2.000 

 Nottingham Building Society 1.000 

 Principality Building Society 2.000 

 Skipton Building Society 2.000 

 Standard Chartered 1.000 

 West Bromwich Building Society 2.000 

Fixed Core  

 Aberdeen City Council 2.000 

 City of Liverpool 1.000 

 London Borough of Barking and Dagenham 3.000 

 Newcastle Building Society 2.000 

 Standard Chartered 2,000 

 34,898 

 
 
Graph 2 below shows the maturity profile of the Councils investment portfolio split between 
operational and core investment types 
 

Page 66



Appendix 4 

 

 
 
Table 3 below summarised the performance to date, benchmarked against the London 
Interbank Bid Rate (LIBID) that best matches the duration of the investments. For example, 
Call investments can be called back the same day and so the overnight LIBID rate is the bench 
mark. 
 

Table 3 Performance 

 Average 
Return 

Benchmark 
Rate 

Variance 

Call Operational 0.20% -0.07% 0.27% 

Fixed Operational 0.39% 0.09% 0.30% 

Fixed Core (Long Term) 0.65% 0.18% 0.47% 

Overall Average 0.38%   
 

All of the councils investments are performed in excess of their benchmarks, with the overall 
average outperforming the 6-month benchmark rate used for the Fixed Core (long term) 
investments. 
 
Budget v Estimated Outturn 
 
On March 2020 the Bank of England made two emergency cuts to the Bank Rate first to 0.25% 
and then to 0.10% in response to the Covid-19 crisis affecting world economies. Since them we 
have seen market rates follow suit with return on investments for new investments falling from 
around 0.70-0.80% in January 2020 to 0.01-0.24% by September 2020.  
 
It is currently thought that the Bank of England will not go as far as to cut the Bank Rate into negative 
territory before the end of the year although they have accessing the readiness of financial intuitions 
to cope with negative rates.  
 
Our advisors are not expecting a rate cut and have provided us with the following interest rate 
forecast, which is broadly in line with what we are seeing when we go to the market 
 

Page 67



Appendix 4 

 
 
Following this we revisited our estimates for interest income and expenses for the year and there 
is no significant change in the outturn position of a £150k shortfall in interest receivable covered by 
a £150k underspend on the interest payable. 
 
Despite shortfalls in income across the board during the first half of 2020/21, the Council has not 
had any cash flow shortfalls and this is expected to remain so for the whole of 2020/21. However 
depending on how income recovers we may have to use core cash funds to meet day to day cash 
flows in 2021/22. 
 
 
Economic Forecast 

The fall in Gross Domestic Product (GDP) for the first half of 2020 was revised down to -21.8%, 
which is one of the largest falls in output of any developed nations. However this is only to be 
expected as the UK Economy is heavily skewed towards consumer-facing services, an area which 
is particularly vulnerable to the being damaged by lockdown. A sharp recovery in June through to 
August left the economy 11.7% smaller than in February. Growth is unlikely to increase in the last 
three months of 2020 as a new wave of local lockdowns come in place combined with the 
uncertainty over the outcome of the UK/EU trade negotiations concluding Brexit at the end of the 
year. 
 
The annual Consumer Price Inflations was 0.2% in August down from 1.0% in July and could reach 
zero by the end of the year.  Inflation is not projected to rise above 2% until late 2022 at the earliest 
according to the Bank of England forecasts. Unemployment continues to rise and is expected to 
be down to 7.5% by the end of the year. 
 
Conclusion 

While the Council Investments have continue to perform well against benchmarks and borrowing 
has been maintained at £12.8 million within the debt indicators. 2020/21 will be a challenging year 
as a result of the fall in rates and the current market conditions, with a predicted budget deficit of 
£149k on interest receivable as a result. This is offset by a corresponding saving on interest 
payable. 

Link Group Interest Rate View       11.8.20

Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 Sep-21 Dec-21 Mar-22 Jun-22 Sep-22 Dec-22 Mar-23

Bank Rate View 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10

3 month average earnings 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 0.05 - - - - -

6 month average earnings 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 0.10 - - - - -

12 month average earnings 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 0.15 - - - - -

5yr PWLB Rate 1.90 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.00 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.10

10yr PWLB Rate 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.10 2.20 2.20 2.20 2.30 2.30 2.30

25yr PWLB Rate 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.60 2.60 2.60 2.70 2.70 2.70 2.70

50yr PWLB Rate 2.30 2.30 2.30 2.40 2.40 2.40 2.50 2.50 2.50 2.50

Page 68



South Lakeland District Council 

Cabinet 

Wednesday, 25 November 2020 

Council Tax Discounts and Premia 

 

Portfolio:   Finance and Resources Portfolio Holder 

Report from:  Helen Smith Section 151 Officer 

Report Author: Elaine Conway – Specialist (Revenues) 

Wards:  (All Wards); 

Forward Plan: Budget and Policy Framework Decision to be taken by Council on 
    23 February 2021 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome 

1.1 The introduction of these proposals will assist in encouraging Owners of empty 
properties to bring them back into use.   They will also generate additional income 
from changes to discounts on empty properties and Empty Homes Premium (EHP) 
on Long Term Empty Properties (LTEP). This could be used to offset the costs of the 
Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS) and other budget savings the Council is 
required to make. These proposals are made in line with the Councils objectives for 
Empty Homes and the Councils Empty Homes Officer has been involved in the 
discussion. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:- 

 (1) consider the proposals in the report; and 

(2)  approve that the proposals in the report form the basis of consultation 
with stakeholders and return to Cabinet and Council for final 
consideration in February 2021. 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 The current levels of Council Tax Discount and Premia and the proposed levels are 
set out below.  

Reason property empty Current Discount Proposed Discount 

Unoccupied and Unfurnished  100% for 6 months 100% for 28 days  

Major Works  100% for 12 months No discount  

Long Term Empty between 2 
– 5 Years 

50% EHP 100% EHP from 1.4.2021 
(i.e. 200% council tax 
payable from 1.4.2021) 

Page 69

Item No.10



Reason property empty Current Discount Proposed Discount 

Long Term Empty  for 
between 5 and 10 years 

50% EHP 100% EHP from 1.4.2021 
(i.e. 200% council tax 
payable from 1.4.2021) 

200% EHP from 1.4.2022 
(i.e. 300% council tax 
payable from 1.4.2022) 

Long Term Empty over 10 
years 

50% EHP 100% EHP from 1.4.2021 
(i.e. 200% council tax 
payable from 1.4.2021) 

200% EHP from 1.4.2022 
(i.e. 300% council tax 
payable from 1.4.2022) 

300% EHP payable from 
1.4.2023 
(i.e. 400% council tax 
payable from 1.4.2023 ) 

3.2 Unoccupied and Unfurnished 

3.2.1 The proposal is to reduce the period of the 100% discount from 6 months to 1 month. 
It was considered whether to offer a discount at all but it was felt reasonable to offer a 
period to allow time for new purchasers to move in and also for landlords to find new 
tenants. Often tenants have a short overlap in tenancies when moving and by 
allowing the discount this would avoid those council tax payers picking up a charge 
for the overlapping period on an unfurnished let. Many authorities have taken this 
approach already and both Lancaster and Copeland have reduced their discount 
period from 6 months to 1 month.  

3.2.2 This would also affect newly built properties in that they would also only get the 
discount for 1 month from the date that a Completion Notice is issued.  

3.2.3 There are currently 354 properties getting the 100% discount. However only 26 of 
these have been unoccupied and unfurnished for less than 1 month.  

3.3  Major Repair/ Structural Alteration 

3.3.1 SLDC currently offers 100% discount for up to 12 months for properties undergoing 
structural alteration or are requiring or undergoing major repair work to render them 
habitable. The discount applies whilst the property remains unoccupied and 
unfurnished and it is less than 6 months since the work completed.  The Legislation 
allows authorities to vary the level of discount offered however the period of the 
discount must be for 12 months and cannot be varied. There are currently 117 
properties across the district receiving this 100% discount.  

3.3.2 It is argued that it is not appropriate that council tax payers should effectively 
subsidise those who chose not to occupy a property whilst they were undertaking 
work to it, whereas other families may have to continue to occupy and do the work 
around them as they couldn’t afford to live elsewhere during this period. 

3.3.3 Dealing with these applications is time consuming to verify whether the discount 
applies and in a lot of cases a Locality Officer is asked to make an inspection. It is a 
contentious area with council tax payers who often feel that work that is 
“modernisation” should give rise to the discount and this results in the council tax 
payers disagreeing with our decision to refuse the discount.  If a council tax payer 
disagrees with our decision not to award a discount they have a right of appeal to the 
Valuation Tribunal.  

Page 70



3.3.4 We have checked with other Authorities and most have reduced the level of discount 
awarded, as shown in Appendix 1.  

3.3.5 If the discount were to be reduced to 0% this would avoid the area of contention over 
eligibility for the discount and remove this workload for both the case management 
and locality teams.  

3.3.6 For the financial year 2019/20 the amount of discount awarded totalled £337,435.13 
and applied to 379 properties. The band breakdown for those properties is  

Band  Number of discounts  

A 40 

B 58 

C 77 

D 78 

E 60 

F 35 

G 26 

H 5 

  
3.3.7 One potential situation highlighted may be first time buyers who may not be able to 

afford to pay a council tax bill on top of the cost of buying a home and paying for the 
necessary works. It is felt that any cases such as these could make an application 
under the councils Section 13A hardship policy and this would be based on financial 
need for assistance.  

3.3.8 A property may be moved to a higher or lower band because its size or internal 
structure has been altered. A property may have been increased in size, decreased 
in size (such as partly demolished) or changed in some other way, for example 
divided into flats or smaller self-contained units, or converted into a single property.  
A property that’s increased in size will not move to a higher band until it’s next 
purchased.  

3.4  Council Tax Premium 

3.4.1 The current rate of council tax charged by South Lakeland on Long Term Empty 
Homes is 150% (100% charge + 50% premium) and has been since the 1st April 
2013.  

3.4.2 Legislation introduced in March 2018 originally contained provision for councils to 
double the rate of tax on properties that had been empty for 2 years or more, with 
effect from 1st April 2019. The government introduced an amendment to this in 
November 2018 – The Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax 
(Empty Dwellings) Act 2018, which allows councils to triple the council tax on homes 
left empty for 5 to 10 years and quadruple it for those left empty for more than a 
decade. 

3.4.3 Councils have discretion whether to use the extra flexibility to increase bills and 
incentivise owners to bring long-standing empty homes back into use. Councils are 
free to use funds from the premium without restriction. 

3.4.4 The vast majority of councils have introduced 50 per cent premiums on long-term 
empty homes. Decisions on whether to charge a premium, and the exact rates to be 
charged will remain a matter for each local council, taking local circumstances into 
account. 

Page 71



3.4.5 The government is clear that the premium must not be applied where homeowners 
can demonstrate that their properties are genuinely on the market for sale or rent, or 
in cases of hardship. Councils will also need to take into account the issues of low-
demand areas. This is in line with SLDC`s current policy for granting Local 
Exceptions to the Premium.  

3.4.6 Councils have powers to refrain from charging the empty homes premium in 
individual cases, and there are various exemptions. No council tax at all can be 
charged on empty properties where the liable council taxpayer:  

 has gone into care or hospital, is severely mentally impaired or has gone 
elsewhere to provide care;  

 is living elsewhere in armed forces accommodation for job-related purposes; 

 has died and probate has yet to be granted; and 

 No council tax premium can be charged on annexes being used as part of a 
main property.  

3.4.7 Councils already have powers and incentives to tackle empty homes. Through the 
New Homes Bonus scheme introduced in 2011, councils earn the same financial 
reward for bringing an empty home back into use as for building a new one. Since 
2013, councils have been able to charge a 50% premium on the council tax bills of 
owners of homes empty for two years or more. The Council currently has 271 Long 
Term Empty Properties paying the 50% premium.  
This has raised the following additional council tax: 

 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 
(to date) 

Total Premium paid £210,420 £182,882 £176,963 £234,784 

These figures are the additional 50% and splits out as below: 

SLDC £23,146 £18,288 £17,696 £23,478 

CCC £159,707 £135,332 £130,952 £173,740 

POLICE £27,565 £25,603 £24,774 £32,870 

 
3.4.8 If doubled, it would be safe to assume a number of the properties would come back 

into use.  A total council tax bill of over £3,000 would be payable on average against 
a long term empty property, this would in all likelihood encourage some owners to 
bring the properties back into use. This is the stated intention of the proposed charge. 
Therefore introducing the 100% premium in 2021/22 wouldn’t double the above 
figures.  If there were no change in use then the proposals would generate additional 
council tax of around £0.5m per year for each 100% increase: if increasing the 
premium reduced the number of long term empty homes by 50% then this would 
increase the number of homes by 117 properties.    

3.4.9 The current long term empty properties paying the 50% premium are broken down as 
follows: 

 Empty between 2 and 5 Years: 160 properties (approx. 153 Band D Equiv)  

 Empty between 5 and 10 Years: 52 properties (approx. 49 Band D Equiv)  

 Empty more than 10 Years: 59 Properties (approx. 57 Band D Equiv)  

3.4.10 It should be noted that the council tax payer may choose to furnish their properties 
thus avoiding the premium. As it stands a furnished Long Term Empty property is 
classed as a second home with no premium charged. There may also be an increase 
in charge payers seeking an exemption the grounds of hardship in line with the 
current policy attached at Appendix 2. 

Page 72



3.5 If approved these proposals will go out to public consultation and will then go before 
Cabinet and Full Council in February 2021 for approval of the final proposals (taking 
into account the feedback from the consultation).   

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 These proposals are made in consultation with the Council’s Empty Homes Officer 
and Finance Lead Specialist (Section 151 Officer). Officers have contacted 
colleagues in neighbouring Authorities for their experience of revising their discounts 
and premia and reviewed discounts and premia are in place elsewhere.  

4.2 The proposals have been before informal Cabinet. They will go out to public 
consultation from 26th November 2020 for 6 weeks.  The results of the consultation 
will be reflected in the final proposals to be considered by Cabinet and Full Council in 
February 2021  

4.3 Any taxpayers who would be facing increased bills from 1.4.2021 following the final 
proposals will be written to following this meeting detailing the changes and 
signposting the consultation.  Following and this will give them time to mitigate 
against any increased costs.  

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 The proposals are made having consulted with the Empty Homes Officer and having 
looked at the discount and premia levels offered by other Local Authorities.  

5.2 Unoccupied and Unfurnished 

5.2.1 The discount can be removed altogether, or awarded for a specified period of up to 
the 6 month period currently offered by SLDC. 

5.2.2 To remove the discount altogether would disadvantage residents moving between 
properties, particularly those in rented properties as there is often a slight overlap in 
tenancy dates. If the discount was removed altogether they would incur a council tax 
charge for this period of the overlap and this would lead to a rise in complaints and 
perhaps non-payment. Often we are given conflicting dates relating to moves in and 
out and by retaining a discount period of up to one month this should cover any such 
cases and avoid bills being issue for a period of a day. It was also felt reasonable to 
allow a short period of discount to allow landlords time to find new tenants before 
incurring a council tax charge but that leaving the period of discount at 6 months 
reduces the financial incentive for the property to be reoccupied.  

5.3 Major Repair/ Structural Alteration  

5.3.1 Should a discount be offered it must be offered for the full 12 month period, however 
the discount can be set at an amount between 0% and 100%. An alternative would 
be to retain the current level of 100% discount or reduce the amount to say 50%. By 
offering 100% discount there is no financial incentive for the property to be 
reoccupied and there is an administrative cost in dealing with the applications for 
discount. If a lesser amount was offered that may be received better by taxpayers 
who are undertaking works to their properties, however the administrative cost would 
remain the same irrespective of level of discount offered.  

5.3.2 It is also anticipated that should the proposal to reduce the unoccupied and 
unfurnished discount to one month be approved there would be an increase in 
applications for the major repair/structural alteration discount. .  

5.4 Premia 

5.4.1 The level of premium charged could remain at 50%.  This is not recommended as it 
does not deliver the same level of deterrent for keeping a property empty as the 
proposals. 

Page 73



6.0 Links to Council Priorities 

6.1 It is expected that these proposals will encourage owners of empty properties to 
make them available for housing, either by putting them up for sale or rent, thereby 
increasing housing across the district.  

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1.1 The total amount of council tax collectable is based on the total number of dwellings 
in the area, adjusted for premiums, discounts, exemptions and reductions including 
the Council Tax Reduction Scheme (CTRS).  Some discounts and exemptions are 
related to the property (such as empty properties), the number or type of occupants 
(such as single person discounts or student exemptions) and some, such as CTRS 
or disabled discounts, relate to the personal circumstances of the occupants.   

7.1.2 It is estimated that the discounts on unoccupied and unfurnished properties and 
properties undergoing major works reduce the council tax collectable by £509,000 
per year.  Under the proposals in this report the total cost of discounts will reduce to 
£29,000 per year. 

7.1.3 It is estimated the total premium generated on long term empty properties will be 
£252,000 this year.  The proposed increases in the premium will increase this income 
by around £0.5m for each 100% increase in premium if there is no change in use of 
property.  The majority of this additional income would be payable to Cumbria County 
Council (74%), Cumbria Police and Crime Commissioner (14%).  This Council will 
retain around 10% of the total income collected under each option. 

7.1.4 This is summarised as: 

   Type of discount / premium   2020/21 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

  

 

 

Band D 
equiv £ £ £ £ 

A Unoccupied and unfurnished Discount 354 172,109 28,685 28,685 28,685 

  

 

       

B Major works Discount 173 337,400 0 0 0 

  

 

       

  Long Term Empty 
       

   - 2 to 5 years 
 153 148,773 297,545 595,090 892,636 

   - 5 to 10 years 
 49 47,646 95,292 190,585 285,877 

   - over 10 years 
 57 55,425 110,850 221,700 332,551 

C   Total Long Term Empty Premium 235 251,844 503,688 1,007,375 1,511,063 

A+B-
C 

Total council tax relating to these 
discounts and premia Net 292 257,666 

-
475,003 -978,690 

-
1,482,378 

  

Additional council tax collectable if 
no change in behaviour compared 
to current year 

      732,668 1,236,356 1,740,044 

  Additional council tax collectable split between 
      

  SLDC 199.54   75,175 126,856 178,537 

  Parish Councils (average) 39.05   14,712 24,826 34,940 

  Cumbria County Council  1440.56   542,722 915,827 1,288,932 

  Cumbria Police 265.59   100,059 168,847 237,635 

  Total 1944.74     732,668 1,236,356 1,740,044 

 

Page 74



7.1.5 If there is a change in the number of properties paying the long term empty charge by 
50% because of a change in use of properties this would reduce the additional 
income from council tax as shown in the table below: 

  Type of discount / premium      2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 

  

 

   £ £ £ 

  

Additional council tax collectable if 
50% reduction in long term empty 
property 

      480,824 732,668 984,512 

  Additional council tax collectable split between 
      

  SLDC 199.54   49,335 75,175 101,016 

  Parish Councils (average) 39.05   9,655 14,712 19,769 

  Cumbria County Council  1440.56   356,169 542,722 729,274 

  Cumbria Police 265.59   65,665 100,059 134,453 

  Total 1944.74     480,824 732,668 984,512 

Human Resources 

7.2 There are no direct human resources implications.  There may be additional staff 
time to respond to queries and requests for exemptions from the premium which is 
expected to be offset by the removal of the discount for major repairs and structural 
alterations. 

Legal 

7.3 The Local Government Finance Act 2012 set out the powers to determine further 
discounts for certain dwellings and the power to set higher amounts for long-term 
empty dwellings.  Detailed provisions are set out in the Council Tax (Exempt 
Dwelling) (England) (Amendment) Order 2012 SI 2012/2965 and the Council Tax 
(Prescribed Classes of Dwellings) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2012 SI 
2012/2964. The Rating (Property in Common Occupation) and Council Tax Empty 
Dwellings Act 2018 set out the maximum charges for long term empty properties from 
1 April 2019 onwards. 

Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4 Have you completed a Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? No   

7.5 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: this 
policy applies to property rather than individuals.  This will be completed following the 
outcome of the public consultation and will be included in the reports to Cabinet and 
Council in February 2021. 

Equality and Diversity 

7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No      

7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: this 
policy applies to property rather than individuals.  This will be completed following the 
outcome of the public consultation and will be included in the reports to Cabinet and 
Council in February 2021.  

Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

Reductions in discounts may 
cause hardship to some council 
tax payers 

Insufficient finances could 
put some family members 
at risk. 

Council tax hardship 
scheme is available 

Page 75



Risk Consequence Controls required 

Increase in premium on long 
term empty property may cause 
hardship to some council tax 
payers 

Financial hardship Statutory and local 
exemptions will continue 
to apply where the 
property is unoccupied 
due to caring 
responsibilities, for 
example.   

The premium is intended 
to encourage sale or reuse 
of properties. 

A local exemption applies 
if the property is genuinely 
on the market for sale or 
to let or occupation is 
hindered due to legal 
reasons as set out in 
Appendix 2. 

Properties are furnished to 
become eligible to be second 
homes rather than empty 
homes. 

Reduction in income due Visiting officers confirm 
the status of properties 
where the Council is 
notified their status has 
changed from empty to 
second homes. 

Contact Officers 

Elaine Conway, Lead Specialist (Revenues), 01539 793225. E.conway@southlakeland.gov.uk 

Appendices Attached to this Report 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Discount and Premia levels in other Authorities 

2 Council Tax Premium – Current Policy Guidelines for Determining 
Local Exceptions 

Background Documents Available 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

The Local Government Finance 
Act 2012 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/17/contents 

The Council Tax (Exempt 
Dwelling) (England) (Amendment) 
Order 2012 SI 2012/2965 
01st April 2013 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2965/contents/
made 

The Council Tax (Prescribed 
Classes of Dwellings) (England) 
(Amendment) 
Regulations 2012 SI 2012/2964 - 
1st April 2013 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/2964/regulatio
n/2/made 

Page 76



Name of Background document Where it is available 

Rating (Property in Common 
Occupation) and Council Tax 
Empty Dwellings Act 2018 

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2018/25/crosshea
ding/council-tax-in-england/enacted 

Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent Date Signed off 

Legal Services 12/11/2020 12/11/2020 

Section 151 Officer 18/10/2020 12/11/2020 

Monitoring Officer 12/11/2020 12/11/2020 

CMT 02/11/2020 02/11/2020 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Lead Specialist 12/11/2020 

Human Resources Lead Specialist N/A 

Communications Team 12/11/2020 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder 12/11/2020 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee N/A 

Executive (Cabinet) 25/11/2020 

Council 23/02/2021 

 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 78



Appendix 1 

Discount and Premia levels in other Authorities 
 
The Councils Empty Homes Officer has spoken with colleagues in other Authorities about 
the levels of discount they offer. The responses are below: 
 

 Council 

% 
Discount 
for newly-

empty 
homes 

Current 
Premium 
charge for 

homes 
empty 
2+yrs 

Current Premium charge 
for homes empty 5+yrs 

Current Premium 
charge for homes 

empty 10+yrs 

Uninhabitable 
Discount 

 SLDC 

100% - 
1st six 
months 

50%    
(150% bill) 50%  (150% bill) 50%  (150% bill) 1 year 100% 

 Liverpool 
No 

discount 
100%  

(200% bill) 200%  (300% bill) 
300%  (400% bill) 

from 2021 No discount 

2 Newcastle 1 month 
100%  

(200% bill) 200%  (300% bill) 
300%  (400% bill) 

from 2021 No discount 

3 Lancaster 1 month 
100%  

(200% bill) 200%  (300% bill) 
300%  (400% bill) 

from 2021 1 year 50% 

4 Carlisle 

50% - 1st 
six 

months 
100%  

(200% bill) 200%  (300% bill)   1 year 75% 

5 Plymouth 1 month 
100%  

(200% bill) 200%  (300% bill)   No discount 

6 Bradford 
No 

discount 
100%  

(200% bill) 
200%  

(300% bill) 
300%  (400% bill) 

from 2021 
1 month 
100% 

7 Kirklees 
No 

discount 
100%  

(200% bill) 200%  (300% bill) 
300%  (400% bill) 

from 2021 No discount 

8 Derby 
No 

discount 
100%  

(200% bill) 200%  (300% bill) 
300%  (400% bill) 

from 2021 
1 month 
100% 

9 Barnsley 1 month 
100%  

(200% bill) 200%  (300% bill)   1 year 25% 

10 Central Beds 
No 

discount 
100%  

(200% bill) 200%  (300% bill) 
300%  (400% bill) 

from 2021 No discount 

11 Southampton 1 month 
100%  

(200% bill) 200%  (300% bill)   1 year 50% 

12 Eden 

100% - 
1st six 
months 

50%  
(150% bill) 50%  (150% bill)   1 year 100% 

13 Sheffield 
No 

discount 
100%  

(200% bill)     No discount 

14 
Stratford on 
Avon 3 months 

100%  
(200% bill) 100%  (200% bill)   1 year 100% 

15 Selby 

1 month 
at 100%, 
5 months 
at 20% 

100%  
(200% bill) 200%  (300% bill) 

300%  (400% bill) 
from 2021 1 year 20% 

16 Cornwall 1 month 
100%  

(200% bill) 200%  (300% bill) 
300%  (400% bill) 

from 2021 1 year 50% 

 

 

 

Page 79



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 80



Appendix 2 

Council Tax Premium 
Policy Guidelines for Determining Local Exceptions 

1. Purpose 

This document sets out the factors that South Lakeland District Council (The Council) 
will take into account when deciding if an exception to payment of the Council Tax 
Premium can be granted. 
 

The Council Tax Premium is a 50% increase on the Council Tax set, making the total 
charge 150% on properties which have been unoccupied and unfurnished for a 
period of at least two years. 
 

Each case will be treated strictly on its merits and all applicants will be 
treated equally and fairly through administration of the scheme. 
 

2. Statement of objectives 
 

The Council will consider waiving the Council Tax Premium for applicants who meet 
the qualifying criteria as specified in these guidelines. The Council will treat all 
applications on their individual merits, and will seek through the operation of these 
guidelines to grant exceptions to liability for the Council Tax Premium: 
 

For those owners who are genuinely attempting to sell or let their property which has 
been vacant for at least two years 
 

Those owners who are experiencing particular legal or technical issues which is 
preventing the sale or letting of the property 
 

Those owners who are in negotiation with the Council with a genuine view to letting the 
property under the Council’s scheme(s). 
 

Cases where imposition of the Council Tax Premium would result in hardship and a 
reasonable person would regard the imposition as unfair. 
 

3. Claiming a Local Exception to the Council Tax Premium 
 

A claim must be made on an application form provided by the Council and 
signed by the owner of the vacant property or their representative. The 
claimant must include any relevant supporting evidence. 
 

A Council Officer may make an appointment to visit any applicant who for whatever 
reason is unable to complete the application form or to confirm the details provided 
which may necessitate being given access to the premises. 
 

The Council may request any (reasonable) evidence in support of an application but 
the applicant will be asked to provide the evidence within one month of such a 
request although this will be extended in appropriate circumstances. 
 

If the claimant is unable to, or does not provide the required evidence, the Council 
will still consider the application and will in any event take into account any other 
available evidence including that held at the time on Council Tax records. 

 

The Council reserves the right to verify any information or evidence provided by the 
applicant. 

 

Page 81



Appendix 2 

Payment of Council Tax including the premium may not be withheld whilst awaiting 
the outcome of an application or the review of a previous decision. 

 

4. Period of Exception 
 

In all cases, the Council will decide the length of time for which an exception will be 
awarded on the basis of the evidence supplied and the facts known. 

 

The start date of an exception will normally be the date the application is received by 
the Council providing the Council is satisfied the reasons for the exception existed at 
that time and the exception will continue for a period of twelve months subject to 
those circumstances continuing. 

 

The Council will at least annually review the award and request confirmation that 
the circumstances leading to the award of the exception remain applicable. 

 

The Council will comply with any Regulations issued by the Secretary of State in 
relation to any application and have regard to any related national policy guidance. 

 

5. Awarding an Exception to liability for the Council Tax Premium 
 

In deciding whether to award an exception to payment of the Council Tax 
Premium, the Council will take into account the following criteria: 

 

5.1 For those owners who are genuinely attempting to sell or let their 
property which has been vacant for at least two years: 

 

Has professional advice and assistance been obtained? 
 

It is expected that when a property has been vacant for two years a professional 
agent with specialist knowledge of the locality will have been engaged. 

 

Have any offers to purchase or rent the property been 

received? If Yes – why were those offers refused? 

Written confirmation of the reasons for refusal will be required from a professional 
agent 

 

Is the sale price or rental in line with recent sale or rental prices for similar 
properties in the locality? 

 

If no does this property have special features that reasonably warrants a higher 
value or rent? 

 

Has the property been put up for sale by public auction? 
 

5.2 For those owners who are experiencing particular legal or technical 
issues which is preventing the sale or letting of the property 

 

Is there a legal difficulty or issue which is preventing the sale or letting of the 
property? 

 

A Solicitor’s or Legal Conveyancer’s letter should be produced in evidence 
detailing the reasons preventing sale or letting. 

 Page 82



Appendix 2 

Is a sale or letting being delayed by the actions of a Public Body? 

Full details must be provided 

5.3 Those owners who are in negotiation with the Council with a genuine view 
to letting the property under the Council’s Management Scheme(s) 

 

Has there been a genuine expression of interest in transferring management of 
a property to the Council with a view to letting the property to local people with 
housing needs? 

 

The Council’s Empty Homes Officer will be asked to confirm details of the 
expression. 

 

The exception would only be applied from the date of signing the approval notice. 
 

5.4 Cases where imposition of the Council Tax Premium would result in 
hardship and a reasonable person would regard the imposition as unfair. 

 

Will imposition of the Council Tax Premium result in the owner suffering hardship? 
 

Granting an exception under this criterion is likely to be the exception rather than the 
rule as it is expected the majority of exceptions will have been granted under earlier 
criteria. 

 

6. Changes of Circumstances 
 

The Council may need to revise the decision to grant an exception to the Premium 
if it becomes aware that the circumstances of an applicant have materially 
changed. Individuals must immediately advise the Council of any change in 
circumstances affecting the decision. 

 

7. Notification 
 

The Council will inform the applicant in writing of the outcome of their application within 
28 days of receipt, or as soon as possible after. Where the application is unsuccessful, 
the Council will set out the reasons why this decision was made and explain the right 
of review. 

 

8. The right to seek a review 
 

As the exceptions to the Premium in this policy are determined locally any decisions 
are not subject to a statutory appeals mechanism. The Council will therefore operate 
its own procedures for dealing with appeals against a refusal to award an exception 
to the Premium. 
 

An applicant (or their appointee or agent) who disagrees with a decision not to award 
an exception may dispute the decision. A request for a review must be made in 
writing to the Operational Lead – Specialist Services within one calendar month of the 
written decision being issued. 
 

The Operational Lead – Specialist Services will review all the evidence held and 
may ask for further clarification to be provided. A decision will be made within 28 
days of the request for a review. The decision will be notified to the claimant in 
writing, setting out the reasons for the decision. 
 

Page 83



Appendix 2 

Where the claimant is still not satisfied, they will be entitled to a further review, 
provided this is delivered in writing within one calendar month of the date on the 
decision letter giving reasons for the further review sent by the Operational Lead – 
Specialist Services  . This review will be carried out by a Director of the Council. The 
decision made following the further review will be notified in writing within 28 days of 
the request for the review. 
 

Page 84



South Lakeland District Council 

Corporate Management Team 

Wednesday 25 November 2020 

Safeguarding Children and Modern Slavery Policies 

 

Portfolio:   Health, Wellbeing and Financial Resilience 

Report from:  Director Strategy, Innovation and Resources 

Report Author: Simon Blyth – Specialist, Strategy 

Wards:  All 

Forward Plan: Not applicable 

 

 

1.0 Expected Outcome 

1.1 The new Safeguarding Children Policy will facilitate robust and effective procedures 
and training to help officers and members ensure young people are safeguarded and 
their needs understood and the Council’s responsibilities for safeguarding are 
addressed effectively. The Modern Slavery statement constitutes our actions to 
ensure there is no slavery or human trafficking in our business and supply chains. 

 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:- 

(1) adopt the Safeguarding Children Policy and Modern Slavery Statement 
appended to this report; 

(2) note that an online training programme is to be delivered highlighting 
safeguarding best practice and local information; and 

(3)       endorse the inclusion in both the Policy and training programme of 
awareness raising of the corporate parenting role and the role SLDC, 
and in particular, elected members, can play. 

 

3.0 Background and Proposals 

3.1 The Children Act 1989 initially placed a duty on Local Authorities to safeguard  
and promote the welfare of all children in their area.  The Children Act 2004 then built 
on that to form part of a wider government strategy for improving children’s lives. The 
vision was to facilitate the best outcome possible for every child. The guidance 
document ‘Working together to Safeguard Children (updated 2015)’ adds detail to the 
statutory duties set out in the 2004 Act.  
The Children and Social Work Act (2017) ensures that our functions (including any 
services contracted out to others) are discharged with consideration for the need to:  

 safeguard and promote the welfare of children  
 co-operate with partners in the improvement of children’s well-being, 

which includes the prevention of abuse and neglect. 

Page 85

Item No.11



 
 
3.2      The core principle of both the Act and guidance is the protection of children and 

promotion of their wellbeing through an integrated approach by all statutory agencies.  
The Police, Health Services and all Councils are required to consider safeguarding 
when planning and delivering or commissioning their services.   

 
3.3      The Council discharges a number of functions that impact upon the lives of children 

and families; and some employees, elected members, contractors and volunteers will 
work in close proximity to children as part of their daily duties.  Consequently the 
Council has a significant role to play in safeguarding children and the promotion of 
their welfare. Statutory and discretionary services discharged by the Council include 
Licensing; Planning; Environmental Health; Strategic Housing; Homelessness; Parks; 
Enforcement; Leisure management and Customer Services. Where appropriate, and 
within legal guidelines, the Council must share information with other agencies to 
protect children from harm.  

 
3.4      Section 13 of The Children’s Act 2004, required that each Authority area establishes 

a Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB).  As a two tier area, Cumbria County 
Council was responsible for this board.  The LCSB structure changed in 2019 as part 
of a Government review of safeguarding.  The new structure is headed by a Board 
(the Cumbria Safeguarding Children Partnership or CSCP) comprising the three lead 
partners: County Council, Health Commissioning and Police.  The Cumbrian District 
Councils are represented on the CSCP (currently by Copeland DC); SLDC fully 
endorses the guidance, and protocols set by the CSCP.  

3.5 3 new locality strategic groups have been set up in north, west and south Cumbria – 
their role is to improve outcomes locally for children and young people. The group 
should bring together the views of children, their families and professionals to inform 
the continuous development of services and approaches aimed at protecting children 
from harm and making positive differences to their lives. 

3.6      Providing early help is the most effective way to safeguard and improve the lives of 
children.  Early help means providing support at a local level, as soon as a problem 
emerges in a child’s life.  Where possible, South Lakeland District Council will work 
with partners to put in place early help interventions in an effort to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children.  When a safeguarding issue requires a higher level 
of intervention, the Council will forward the concern to Cumbria County Council via 
the Cumbria Safeguarding Hub. 

 
3.7      Section 11 of the Children’s Act 2004 requires responsible agencies to undertake a 

periodic audit of its safeguarding activities. This audit is co-ordinated by the CSCP on 
an annual basis.  

 
3.8      All council’s, and their councillors, have a responsibility to ensure that the needs of 

looked after children and care leavers are met. This starts with a full awareness of 
the “corporate parenting” role. In South Lakeland this includes an understanding of 
the profile of children in care in the district and the impact the council’s decisions 
have on those children in care and as care leavers. Cumbria County Council have 
established a Corporate Parenting Board to oversee the work involved. Councillors 
should act as champions of the needs of these children and ensure that our services 
meet those needs. This role will be highlighted as part of the safeguarding training. 

 
3.9 The Safeguarding Children’s Policy proposes the formation of an SLDC 

Safeguarding Forum: comprising officers from relevant departments (for example, 
Housing, HR and visiting officers) and the Portfolio Holder for Health Wellbeing and 

Page 86



Financial Resilience. This Forum will oversee the implementation of the policy, 
monitor and act on safeguarding issues and ensure the Council’s safeguarding 
procedures (appendix 2) are up to date. 

3.10 Modern Slavery Statement:  

3.11 The Council recognises its responsibility to take a robust approach to modern slavery 
and human trafficking as an employer, commissioner and contractor of other bodies, 
and acknowledges its duty to notify the Secretary of State of suspected victims of 
slavery or human trafficking as required by section 52 of the Modern Slavery Act 
2015. 

3.12 The Statement highlights the Council’s role in identifying modern slavery in its 
recruitment (including agency workers), whistleblowing, contracting and procurement. 

3.13 The Council complies with all applicable anti-slavery and human trafficking laws, 
statutes, regulations and codes and adheres to Section 52 of the Modern Slavery Act 
- Duty to Notify. Incidents of modern slavery uncovered by the Council are referred to 
the police. 

 

4.0 Consultation 

4.1 The Draft policy has been shared with managers responsible for frontline staff who 
may have contact with children and young people. The underpinning draft 
procedures will be developed in collaboration with managers and staff as part of the 
Safeguarding Forum duties. 

5.0 Alternative Options 

5.1 Without safeguarding procedures in place, SLDC will not be able to meet the 
requirements of the Children Act 2004 and to address the issues identified in the 
Section 11 Audit or to meet the requirements of Section 54 of the Modern Slavery Act 
2015. 

6.0 Links to Council Priorities 

6.1 The Council Plan has a priority theme “Reducing income and health inequalities” and 
reference is made to •protecting the vulnerable and mitigating the effects of poverty” 
and “working with partners to reduce domestic violence, alcohol related crime, 
substance misuse, child sexual exploitation and antisocial behaviour”. Additionally 
the Plan has a priority “supporting young people to have a greater voice”. 

7.0 Implications 

Financial, Resources and Procurement 

7.1 There will be use of officer time for developing the new Policy and Procedures and 
undertaking training. These costs are covered in existing budgets.  

Human Resources 

7.2 Staff will have training in safeguarding children, enabling the Council to meet the 
requirements of the Children Act Section 11 Audit. 

Legal 

7.3 The proposals within this report will assist the Council in complying with the 
requirements of the relevant legislation. The specific duties are set out in the new 
policy. 

 

 

Page 87



Health, Social, Economic and Environmental 

7.4 Have you completed an Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact 
Assessment? Yes (attached at Appendix 4)  

7.5 Summary of health, social, economic and environmental impacts: Positive impacts 
around welfare and wellbeing. 

Equality and Diversity 

7.7 Have you completed an Equality Impact Analysis? No      

7.8 If you have not completed an Impact Assessment, please explain your reasons: The 
Policy and Statement outlines statutory and local arrangements for safeguarding 
children and combatting modern slavery. Training will be provided for officers and 
members which will raise awareness of the potential issues in 7.9 (below). 

7.9 Summary of equality and diversity impacts: Children who are disabled can be more 
vulnerable to abuse than their peers and families and children who are socially 
isolated or appear on the edge of society, due to school exclusion, poverty, being 
care leavers etc may be more vulnerable to abuse and exploitation. These aspects 
will be covered in training. 

Risk 

Risk Consequence Controls required 

1. Policy and underlying 
Procedures not available or 
approved. 

Failure to meet the 
requirement of the 
Children Act, Section 11 
Audit.  

Policy and Procedures 
produced 

2. Procedures not being used Frontline staff unfamiliar 
with correct procedures to 
report an incident involving 
the protection of a child 

Awareness level training 
for all staff. Procedures 
available for use as 
required. 

Contact Officers 

Simon Blyth, Specialist, Strategy, 01539 793262, s.blyth@southlakeland.gov.uk  

Appendices Attached to this Report 

(delete if no appendices attached) 

Appendix No. Name of Appendix 

1 Safeguarding Children Policy 

2 Safeguarding Children Procedures 

3 Modern Slavery Statement 

4 Health, Social, Economic and Environmental Impact Assessment 

Background Documents Available 

 

Name of Background document Where it is available 

Cumbria Safeguarding Children 
Partnership 

https://www.cumbriasafeguardingchildren.co.uk/defaul
t.asp    

  

Page 88

mailto:s.blyth@southlakeland.gov.uk
https://www.cumbriasafeguardingchildren.co.uk/default.asp
https://www.cumbriasafeguardingchildren.co.uk/default.asp


Tracking Information 

Signed off by Date sent Date Signed off 

Legal Services 14/10/20 4/11/20 

Section 151 Officer 14/10/20 4/11/20 

Monitoring Officer 14/10/20 4/11/20 

CMT 14/10/20 4/11/20 

 

Circulated to Date sent 

Lead Specialist 7/10/20 

Human Resources Lead Specialist 14/10/20 

Communications Team 14/10/20 

Leader N/A 

Committee Chairman N/A 

Portfolio Holder 7/10/20 

Ward Councillor(s) N/A 

Committee N/A 

Executive (Cabinet) N/A 

Council N/A 

 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 90



APPENDIX 1 

1 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
South Lakeland  
District Council 

 
Safeguarding Children  

Policy  
  

 

Version 1 

Date: September 2020 Page 91



APPENDIX 1 

2 
 
 

Introduction 

 
1.1 South Lakeland District Council has duties under The Children Act 2004 and 

the Children and Social Work Act (2017), to ensure that our functions 
(including any services contracted out to others) are discharged with 
consideration for the need to:  

 safeguard and promote the welfare of children  

 co-operate with partners in the improvement of children’s well-
being, which includes the prevention of abuse and neglect. 

 
1.2 South Lakeland District Council is committed to fulfilling this legal and moral 

duty and will ensure that all children are protected and kept safe from harm 
whilst engaged in services organised by the Council and its delivery partners. 

 
1.3 This policy will: 

 

 Highlight South Lakeland District Councils’ commitment to the 
protection of all children. 
 

 Outline the working arrangements that South Lakeland District Council 
has in place in order to fulfil the relevant statutory duties set out in the 
Children Act 2004 and the Children & Social Work Act 2017. 

 

 Signpost staff to relevant areas of a procedural manual that provides 
detailed operational guidance on identifying a safeguarding issue, how 
to report a concern and the sharing of information with other 
responsible service providers. 

 

1.4 It is not the responsibility of any one individual to decide whether abuse has 
taken place, however it is the responsibility of every individual to take 
appropriate action where there is a risk of harm, abuse or neglect to a child. 
All employees and elected members should follow this policy and the 
associated procedures when reporting a safeguarding concern. 

1.5 This policy will be abided by contractors and volunteers working for or 
representing South Lakeland District Council. 
 

Definitions 
2.1 The Council will use these definitions in the implementation of this policy. 
 

Child – The term ‘child', means a child/young person or young person from 
pre-birth up to the age of 18 years. 

Abuse –  This includes physical, emotional or sexual abuse and neglect as 
outlined in Working Together 2015. Our wider definition takes into account the 

Page 92



APPENDIX 1 

3 
 
 

CSCB priority areas of domestic violence and child sexual exploitation as well 
as the 2015 Prevent agenda definitions of extremism and radicalisation. 
Safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children is defined as: 
• protecting children from maltreatment 
• preventing impairment of children's health or development 
• supporting to ensure that children grow up in circumstances consistent with 
the provision of safe and effective care 
• supporting action to enable all children to have the best outcomes 
Staff/ employees – This term relates to both paid and unpaid adults who 
work in the name of the Council including officers, apprentices, Elected 
Members and sub contracted personnel. 

The Legal Duties 
    3.1 Duties placed on the local authority can only be discharged with the full co-

operation of other partners, many of whom have individual duties when 
carrying out their functions under section 11 of the Children Act 2004 (see 
chapter 2). Under section 10 of the same Act, the local authority is under a 
duty to make arrangements to promote co-operation between itself and 
organisations and agencies to improve the wellbeing of local children 

The Children Act 2004, as amended by the Children and Social Work Act 
2017, strengthens this already important relationship by placing new duties on 
key agencies in a local area. Specifically the police, clinical commissioning 
groups and the local authority are under a duty to make arrangements to work 
together, and with other partners locally, to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of all children in their area. 

Everyone who comes into contact with children and families has a role to play. 

 The governments’ guidance document ‘Working together to Safeguard 
Children 2018’ adds detail to the statutory duties set out in the Children Act 
2004. 

 The core principles of both the Act and the guidance is the protection of 
children and promotion of their wellbeing through an integrated approach by 
all statutory agencies that work with children.  Cumbria County Council is the 
principal authority responsible for children services. However, other agencies 

Page 93

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2


APPENDIX 1 

4 
 
 

such as the Police, the NHS and District Councils are required to consider 
safeguarding when planning and delivering or commissioning their services.   

 

3.2 Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 sets out the relevant duty: 

 

“Any person or body to whom the duty applies must ensure that their 
functions are discharged with regard to the need to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of children. 

 

The duty requires the council to ensure that: 

 

a) Its functions are discharged having regard to the need to safeguard 
and promote the welfare of children and; 

 

      b)  Services they contract out to others have regard to the need to 

           Safeguard and promote the welfare of children.” 

 

 

3.3 South Lakeland District Council discharges a number of functions that impact 
upon the lives of children and families. This requires some employees, 
elected members, contractors and volunteers to work in close proximity to 
children as part of their daily duties.  Consequently the Council accepts it has 
a significant role to play in safeguarding children and the promotion of their 
welfare. 

 Statutory and discretionary services discharged by South Lakeland District 
Council include Licensing; Planning; Environmental Health; Strategic Housing; 
Homelessness; Parks; Enforcement; Leisure Management and Customer 
Services.  

3.4 South Lakeland District Council has in place a number of strategic, HR, 
Health and Safety and service led policies which support the Council in its 
legal and moral duty to safeguard children. 

3.5 As part of a coordinated approach South Lakeland District Council will, where 
necessary, work with all other statutory agencies to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of all children.  Where appropriate, and within legal guidelines, 
South Lakeland District Council will share information with other agencies to 
protect children from harm. 

3.6 Providing early help is the most effective way to safeguard and improve the 
lives of children.  Early help means providing support at a local level, as soon 

Page 94



APPENDIX 1 

5 
 
 

as a problem emerges in a child’s life.  The aim of early help is to improve 
outcomes for the child and prevent further problems arising. 

 Where possible, South Lakeland District Council will work with partners to put 
in place early help interventions in an effort to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children.  When a safeguarding issue requires a higher level of 
intervention, the Council will forward the concern to Cumbria County Council 
via the Cumbria Safeguarding Hub  

3.7 Cumbria County Council, Cumbria Constabulary, North Cumbria CCG and 
Morecambe Bay CCG have equal and joint responsibility for the Cumbria 
Safeguarding Children Board.   

3.8 The Prevent duty (July 2015) places a duty on District Councils to participate 
in co-ordinated Prevent activity focused on mitigating radicalisation activity 
and to build it into their existing safeguarding procedures. The duty includes 
raising staff awareness, referring concerns and information sharing. 

3.9 Safeguarding and promoting the welfare of children is defined as: 

• protecting children from maltreatment 

• preventing impairment of children's health or development 

• ensuring that children grow up in circumstances consistent with the provision 
of safe and effective care 

• taking action to enable all children to have the best outcomes 

 

4.0  Reporting a safeguarding concern 

If employees have concerns about someone (via third party information, an 
overheard conversation, suspicion that abuse has taken place through observation 
of physical or emotional signs/indicators) then they have a duty to take some sort of 
action. This may be: 

• To speak to the individual concerned (if appropriate)  

• To raise the issue (and record confidentially it has been raised) with 
colleagues 

• To raise the issue with their line manager immediately or as part of 
supervision  

• If/when the concern feels serious or founded then the employee/ 
member should use the SLDC Safeguarding Referral Form to notify the Designated 
Safeguarding Lead (DSL) who will lead from that point forward in terms of decision 
making.  

 

If you have a serious safeguarding concern about a child that is in an emergency 
situation, call the Police immediately on 999.  

If you are a member of the public with a concern about a child contact the Cumbria 
Safeguarding Hub on 0333 240 1727. 

Page 95

http://www.cumbria.gov.uk/childrensservices/childrenandfamilies/intervention.asp
https://cumbriasafeguardingchildren.co.uk/parents/default.asp
https://cumbriasafeguardingchildren.co.uk/parents/default.asp


APPENDIX 1 

6 
 
 

To contact the Cumbria Safeguarding Hub:   

If you are an employee/ professional with a serious concern about a child or young 
person that needs immediate protection contact the Cumbria Safeguarding Hub: 
https://cumbriasafeguardingchildren.co.uk/parents/default.asp    

You will be asked to complete a single contact form:  

https://www.cumbria.gov.uk/secure/LSCBContact/       

 

 

4.1 Employees action will depend on the severity of what they think they might 
know and the potential harm that might come to the child/young person or 
vulnerable adult. 

4.2 Lessons learnt tell us that we might have a vital piece of information that 
provides a fuller picture of harm when shared with other agencies. It is better 
to share concerns and have them prove unfounded. 

4.3 Practitioners who make a referral should always follow up their concerns if 
they are not satisfied with the response. 

4.4     SLDC will view any employees, apprentices and trainees under the age of 18 
with equity and ensure them the same rights as adult colleagues, whilst 
recognising their understanding of their potential vulnerability due to their age 
by providing additional support. 

 

5.0 Scope of policy 
 

5.1 This policy details South Lakeland District Council’s commitment to 
safeguarding to ensure that its functions, and those contracted out to others, 
are discharged with regards to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare 
of children. 

5.2 The Council will focus on three key elements: Prevention, Protection and 
Support. 

Prevention  

 At all times Council staff will work in a non-discriminatory way 
promoting a positive atmosphere where trained staff are 
approachable and accessible and all staff are aware of 
appropriate behaviour and conduct. 

 We will take reasonable steps to prevent children from coming to 
harm and protecting them from external dangers by ensuring 
staff are appropriately recruited, trained and supported. 

 We will contribute towards preventing a worrying situation 
escalating into future abuse by participating in the Early Help 
agenda. 

Page 96

https://www.cumbria.gov.uk/secure/LSCBContact/


APPENDIX 1 

7 
 
 

Protection   

 We recognise all staff have a role to play in the recognition and 
reporting of abuse and will train differing levels of staff to develop 
the confidence and competence to share information and report 
potential safeguarding concerns in line with CSCB protocols.   

Support  

 We will offer all children and their families appropriate levels of 
support and will offer support to its employees and volunteers by 
providing line management, clear instruction and information in 
relation to expectations of adult behaviour, training and 
guidance. We will ensure staff are trained to have an awareness 
of safeguarding issues and have a clear understanding of these 
procedures. 

5.3      This policy is accompanied by an operational manual for staff which includes; 

 Information about the signs and types of abuse.  

 Procedures for employees, elected members, contractors and 
volunteers to follow when recording a safeguarding concern. 

 Guidance on how and when to share information about a safeguarding 
concern. 

 Contact details of South Lakeland District Council’s Designated 
Safeguarding Lead. 

5.4 The policy applies to all South Lakeland District Council employees, elected 
members, volunteers, anyone delivering services on behalf of or representing 
the Council. 

5.5 The policy applies to all services discharged by South Lakeland District 
Council, including services discharged on behalf of the Council. 

5.6 The policy applies to the safeguarding of all children (anyone under 18) 
irrespective of race, colour, religion, ethnicity, sex, age, disability, nationality, 
sexual orientation. 

 

Roles and Responsibilities 
 

6.1 Council employees and elected members 

 All South Lakeland District Council employees and elected members 
have a responsibility to carry out their duties in a way that is mindful of 
the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. 

 Employees and elected members will be made aware of their roles and 
responsibilities through, the induction process, corporate policies and 
procedures, safeguarding training and job profiles. 

 All South Lakeland District Council employees and elected members 
have a responsibility to prioritise the well-being of children and record 
and report any concerns they have with about the welfare of a child, 

Page 97



APPENDIX 1 

8 
 
 

this includes suspected or actual risk of significant harm to the child 
through abuse or neglect. Failure to do so may be regarded as neglect. 

6.2 Contracted out services and volunteers 
 

 The policy applies to all services discharged by South Lakeland District 
Council, including services discharged on behalf of the Council.  

 Those organisations or individuals delivering services on behalf of or 
representing South Lakeland District Council (employed or voluntary) 
will be given a copy of this policy, and made aware of the expectation 
upon them to operate in compliance with this or their own safeguarding 
policy.   

6.3 Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL) 

 Under the Children Act 2004 the Council has a duty to have a ‘named person’ 
within the authority to act as the Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL).  The 
Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources  is the DSL for South 
Lakeland District Council.  

The DSL will review all safeguarding concerns in conjunction with the 
appropriate operations manager. The DSL will decide whether a local level 
early intervention is sufficient to meet the needs of the child, or whether the 
needs of the child can only be met by a higher level, multi-agency intervention 
- in which case the DSL is responsible and accountable for referring all 
safeguarding concerns to Cumbria County Council via the Cumbria 
Safeguarding Hub. 

 The DSL will also ensure the following functions: 
 

 Bi-annual refresh of the Safeguarding Children Policy 

 Completion of the Section 11 audit  

 That the Council complies with safer recruitment procedures. 

 A point of contact is provided to all employees and elected members with 
regard to safeguarding queries 

 
6.4 Service Leads 

 This layer of the South Lakeland District staff team will act as the key point of 
contact between the DSL and front line staff when it comes to raising a 
safeguarding concern. They will support the member of staff whilst ensuring 
that the information gets to the DSL in line with the procedures outlined in the 
operations manual. 

6.5  The SLDC Safeguarding Forum comprises officers including: 

 Designated Safeguarding Lead – David Sykes 

 Portfolio Holder – Health Wellbeing and Financial Resilience 

 Corporate Policy coordinator  

 Housing / Hostel 

 Environmental health 

 HR 

 Leisure 

Page 98



APPENDIX 1 

9 
 
 

 Customer Services  

 CSP 

 

6.6  The Forum will support the DSL in the following functions:  

• Ensuring that the safeguarding policies and procedures are up to date.  
• Overseeing implementation of the policy and procedure identifying and 

resolving any barriers to its effective delivery  
• Receiving and reviewing anonymised management information relating 

to reporting  
• Assisting in the completion of the Section 11 audit.  
• Ensuring that the Council complies with safer recruitment procedures.  
• Providing a point of contact to all employees and elected members with 

regard to safeguarding queries.  
• Supporting staff to inform the Safeguarding Hub when necessary and 

help to complete the referral form.  
• Providing support for staff and elected members carrying out their 

responsibilities in line with this policy 

6.7 Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO)  

 The Children Act 2004 requires that each upper tier Local Authority (Cumbria 
County Council) has a Local Authority Designated Officer (LADO).  The role of 
the LADO is to manage allegations against people who work with children 
who are paid, unpaid, volunteers, casual, agency or anyone self-employed.   

 In the event that a safeguarding concern is made about the conduct of an 
employee or elected member, the Council will seek advice from the LADO 
and follow protocols set out by the CSCP. 

  

6.8 Cumbria Safeguarding Children Partnership (CSCP) 

 The purpose of the CSCP is to coordinate roles and provide the strategic and 
operational direction for safeguarding in Cumbria. 

 The LCSB structure changed in 2019 as part of a Government review of 
safeguarding.  The new structure is headed by a Board (CSCP) comprising 
the three lead partners of County, Health Commissioning and Police.   

 3 new locality strategic groups have been set up in north, west and south 
Cumbria – their role is to improve outcomes for local children and young 
people. The Cumbrian District Councils are represented on the CCSB and 
SLDC fully endorses the guidance and protocols that the CSCB set.  

The CSCP is the key statutory mechanism for agreeing how the relevant 
organisations in each local area co-operate to safeguard and promote the 
welfare of children and for ensuring the effectiveness of efforts.   

The Cumbria CSCP will coordinate delivery of higher level safeguarding 
referrals and assessments and interventions in South Lakeland.   

 
6.9 The Council’s role as a Corporate Parent 

Page 99

https://cumbriasafeguardingchildren.co.uk/LSCB/professionals/lado.asp?cookies=disable


APPENDIX 1 

10 
 
 

All councils, and in particular the councillors, have a responsibility to ensure 
that the needs of looked after children and care leavers are met. This starts 
with a full awareness of their “corporate parenting” role. This includes an 
understanding of the profile of children in care in the district and the impact 
the council’s decisions have on those children in care and as care leavers. 
The councillors should act as champions of the needs of these children and 
ensure that services meet those needs. 

Monitoring  
  

7.1 This policy will be reviewed on an on-going basis, at a minimum of every two 
 years, to incorporate any changes to legislation or guidance from the Cumbria
 Safeguarding Children Partnership (CSCP).  

7.2 The Designated Safeguarding Lead will carry out an annual Section 11 Audit 
in line with the Council’s duty under the Children Act 2004.The annual audit 
will permit the Council to evaluate and review the arrangements it has in 
place.  Subsequently the policy may be updated to allow for changes that 
have occurred. 

7.3 The principles and commitments outlined in this policy translate into a 
separate operational procedures manual.  Adherence to council procedures 
will be monitored by Leadership Team, HR and the DSL, the Strategy 
specialist and established HR procedures (such as disciplinary and additional 
support) will be considered and applied as appropriate. 

  

  

Related Documents 
 

 South Lakeland Safeguarding Procedures Manual  

 South Lakeland District Council HR Policies and Procedures 

 South Lakeland District Council Whistle-blowing Policy 

 South Lakeland District Council Hackney Carriage and Licencing Policy 

 Cumbria CCSP Policies, Procedures and Guidance 

 Cumbria CCSP Multi-Agency Threshold Guidance 2014 

 Working Together to Safeguard Children – A guide to inter-agency working to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children. 2018 

 What to do if you are worried a child is being abused. March 2015 
 
Legislative Framework – Summary   

 Children Act 1989 and 2004 

 Childcare Act 2006 

 Licensing Act 2003 (protection of children from harm including fit and proper 
taxi drivers) 

 Gambling Act 2005 (protection of children from gambling and access to 
gambling) 

 Housing Act 2004 (health and safety hazards in housing) 

Page 100



APPENDIX 1 

11 
 
 

 Criminal Justice Act 2003 (Multi Agency Public Protect Arrangements) 

 Data Protection Act  

 Gambling and Sexual Entertainment Policy 

 Human Rights Act 1998 

 The Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009 

 Care Standards Act 2000 

 Protections of Freedom Act 2012 (Disclosure and Barring and Vetting and 
Barring) 

 Prevent Duty 2015 

 Children and Social Work Act 2017,  

 Working Together 2018  

 Child Safeguarding Practice Review and Relevant Agency (England) 
Regulations 2018. 

 

Document Control  
Organisation South Lakeland District Council 

Title Safeguarding Children Policy 

Version V.1 

Author Simon Blyth 

Filename Safeguarding 

Owner David Sykes 

Subject Safeguarding Children 

Review Date September 2022 

 

Document Approval  
Version 0.1 Approved By  

 Corporate Management 
Team 

 

 Cabinet  

 Full Council n/a 

 

Document Distribution 

The Policy will be hosted on the Council’s website, and be drawn to the attention of 
all staff and elected members of South Lakeland District Council together with their 
obligation to familiarise themselves with it and the requirements it places on their 
roles. 

 

 

Page 101



APPENDIX 1 

12 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 102



APPENDIX 1 

13 
 
 

 

 

 

Page 103



APPENDIX 1 

14 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 104



Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

South Lakeland District Council 
SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN: OPERATIONAL PROCEDURES 

 
The SLDC Safeguarding Children Policy (May 2020) outlines the standards and commitment of the council 
towards safeguarding children and young people (0 – 18 years old) across all of its activities. These standards 
apply to “paid and unpaid adults who work in the name if the council including officers, apprentices, elected 
Members and sub contracted personnel”.   
 
These operational procedures are in place to support all employees in adhering to the policy. They are 
comprised of: 
 

A. A core set of operational protocols that apply to everyone working on behalf of the council 
B. Additional appendices containing specific safeguarding requirements for specific areas of council 

work 

 

The procedures complement the SLDC “Safeguarding Children Policy”. 

 

WHAT TO DO IF YOU HAVE A SAFEGUARDING CONCERN  
  
If employees have concerns about someone that have come about via third party information, an 
overheard conversation or a suspicion that abuse has taken place through the observation of physical or 
emotional signs/indicators then they have a duty to take action. This may be: 

 
 To speak to the individual concerned (if appropriate) 
 To raise the issue (and record confidentially it has been raised) with colleagues

 To raise the issue with their line manager immediately or as part of supervision 

Serious concerns 
If the concern feels serious or founded then the employee/ member should use the SLDC Safeguarding 
Referral Form to notify the Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL) who will lead from that point forward in 
terms of decision making. 
 
If you have a serious safeguarding concern about a child that is in an emergency situation, please call the 
Police immediately on 999.  
 
 
If you are a member of the public with a concern about a child contact the Cumbria Safeguarding Hub on 
0333 240 1727. 
 
 
If you are an employee/ professional with a serious concern about a child or young person that needs 
immediate protection contact the Cumbria Safeguarding Hub: 
https://cumbriasafeguardingchildren.co.uk/parents/default.asp  
 
You will be asked to complete a single contact form: https://www.cumbria.gov.uk/secure/LSCBContact/    



Employees action will depend on the severity of what they think they might know and the potential harm that 
might come to the child/young person or vulnerable adult. 
 
Lessons learnt tell us that we might have a vital piece of information that provides a fuller picture of 
harm when shared with other agencies. It is better to share concerns and have them prove 
unfounded. 

 
Early Help is the response made when a professional identifies unmet needs with a child/family that they are 

working with and works with other agencies to meet those needs. It is often trigged by schools and most 

schools have an early help lead, but any professional from any service including Districts, that supports families 

can initiate an EHA by completing the form on the CCC safeguarding page.  Its for cases where there isn’t an 

immediate threat to harm, but where support is needed for the family.  It can be carried out with any child or 

young person from pre-birth up to age 19 (up to the age of 25 if the young person has a learning difficulty or 

disability).   

The completion of an EHA would trigger a response from different agencies.  A date would be set for a Team 

Around the Family (TAF) meeting, in order to identify a coordinator, agree the plan and which agency would 

work to achieve each of the wellbeing goals. 

The lead for South Lakeland is: Maggie Williams (Barrow and South lakes) 07768 753541 

Margaret.Williams@cumbria.gov.uk  

 

Page 105

http://sharepoint/sites/policy/communities/Safeguarding/Child%20Safeguarding/Child%20Safeguarding_June2016.pdf
https://cumbriasafeguardingchildren.co.uk/parents/default.asp
https://www.cumbria.gov.uk/secure/LSCBContact/
https://www.cumbria.gov.uk/childrensservices/childrenandfamilies/earlyhelp/earlyhelp.asp
mailto:Margaret.Williams@cumbria.gov.uk


Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

 

1. Recruitment, Induction and Ongoing Training and Support for Employees  
 

1.1. Safe Recruitment and Selection   
1.2. Guest Workers/Delivery Partners for SLDC led activity  
1.3. Induction, Training and Ongoing Support  

 

2.  General Safe Working Practice Procedures  
 

2.1. Code Of Conduct   
2.2. Supervision ratios and lone working   
2.3. Home Visits  
2.4. E-Safety      
2.5. Managing Behaviour and Use of Force     

 

 

3.  Managing Concerns, Allegations And Individual Cases  
 

3.1. Recognising abuse 
3.2. Raising Concerns and Receiving Allegations   
3.3. Handling Individual Cases   
3.4. Whistle Blowing   
3.5. Allegations Against employees 
3.6. Safeguarding reporting flowchart  

 

4.  Partnership Working and Confidentiality  
 

4.1. Multi Agency Partnership Working   
4.2. Early Help  
4.3. Confidentiality and Consent  
4.4. Confidentiality and Information Sharing   
4.5. Confidentiality and Recording/Storing Information  

 

5. Relevant Contact Information  
 
6. Annexes 

6.1   Safe Recruitment – specific procedures 
6.2   Homelessness Team and Hostel employees – specific procedures 
6.3   Licencing – specific procedures 
6.4   Elected Members – specific procedures  
6.5   Sub Contracted Services – specific procedures 
6.6   Protecting Young Employees – specific procedures 
6.7   Public buildings – specific procedures 
6.8   Street Scene – specific procedures 
  

Page 106



Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

1. RECRUITMENT, INDUCTION, ONGOING TRAINING AND 
SUPPORT FOR EMPLOYEES  

 
 
1.1. SAFE RECRUITMENT AND SELECTION  

Please refer to SLDC’s specific Recruitment Policy for guidance (Annex 6.1).  
These specific guidelines refer to the safe recruitment and selection of volunteers, placement 
students as well as new employees and as such need to be adhered to by any employees 
responsible for recruiting, inducting and managing someone into the organisation. 
 
Sub-contract and agency arrangements will also need to cover safe recruitment principles and 
this is covered in more depth in Annex 6.5. 

 
 

1.2. GUEST WORKERS/DELIVERY PARTNERS FOR SLDC LED ACTIVITY  
SLDC uses partners and guest workers (from other agencies/or who are self-employed) to help us 
deliver work with young people. We sometimes pay for these services and sometimes do not. 

 
Poor practice in this area could lead to us allowing unsafe adult’s access to young people that we 
are responsible for. 

 
Guest workers should be split into the following categories:  
1. Infrequent visitor – this is someone who comes in for a visit (to do a talk for example) – no 

longer than 1 session and no more frequently than twice a year. They are not responsible for 
leading any aspect of the session but may make a contribution to the content.  

 
 They must be fully supervised and accompanied by a SLDC employee at all times 

 they are NOT required to have had any DBS checks 


2. Guest worker/partner – this is someone we may use for multiple sessions or who comes for 
a single session at a time but more frequently than twice a year. Likely examples here might 
include artists/musicians or specialist workers. We might expect them to lead the work (or co-
share responsibility) and we would need to be clear as to whether we would view their role as 
‘regulated’ or ‘supervised’. This is important as it determines what level of vetting and barring 
checks we expect to see. Further information.   



Guest worker engagement will be countersigned by a manager to show that we have: 

 Determined whether their role is regulated or supervised 
 Acquired a role appropriate DBS check (if applicable) 
For ‘regulated roles’ If they cannot provide a suitable DBS before the event they should 
not be contracted with or engaged in the work 


 Sourced a minimum of 2 references – one from a recent ‘employer’ or ‘contractor’ (this 

is also about assessing their quality as well as their conduct/reputation) 
Briefed them on key SLDC procedures (namely Health and Safety and Safeguarding 
retaining evidence of a signed declaration form to say they will work within our policies 
and procedures 

 Considered other issues such as their insurance – depending on the nature of the work 
they are providing for us 

 
3. When SLDC employees and members are viewed as guests – if we visit schools, projects, 

youth clubs as part of our work engaging young people and local communities (or a 
consultation exercise perhaps) then we should be prepared to provide information regarding 
our own DBS history and sound internal recruitment processes. 

 
We will always wear identification.  
 
When working in communities – employees should consider other safe working practices 
outlined later in these procedures such as lone working, conduct etc.   

 
 
 

1.4. INDUCTION, TRAINING AND ONGOING SUPPORT   
SLDC is committed to ensuring all employees meet the minimum safeguarding training 
requirements. The support process for all employees will cover:  
 A mandatory corporate induction which covers safeguarding responsibilities and organisational 

policies and procedures within the first six months of employment. Key documents to be given at 
this induction include the Safeguarding Children Policy and Operational Procedures plus “HM 

Page 107

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/dbs-eligibility-guidance


Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

GOV What to do if you are worried a child is being abused 2015”
 Triennial (every 3 years) core training (1 hour/ e-learning) on SLDC’s policies and procedures 

For identified roles  
 Substantial interagency training (1 day) covering duty of care, code of conduct legal 

obligations, signs and symptoms of abuse, handling disclosures and good safeguarding 
practise which will be refreshed every 2 years 

 The opportunity to discuss and share concerns at confidential team meetings and supervision 

 
 
RECOGNISING THAT DIFFERENT ROLES HAVE DIFFERENT SAFEGUARDING 
EXPECTATIONS 
 
SLDC employees come into contact with children and their families in very different ways. As such, it is difficult 
to have a ‘one size fits all’ policy.  SLDC has a structures and multi-level training programme for employees and 
members.   
 

2. GENERAL SAFE WORKING PRACTICE PROCEDURES  
Much of SLDC’s wider policy and procedural guidance in some way relates to keeping young people, 
vulnerable adults or employees safe from harm. Additional to the policy statements and procedures outlined 
below, there are also specific policies to be found referring to: 

 Bullying and harassment 
 Acceptable Use

 Media Relations Policy 

 Social Media Protocol 
 Whistle blowing Policy 

 Code of Conduct for SLDC Employees 

 Code of Conduct for Members and Co-opted Members of the Authority 
 Discipline
 Grievance 
 Data Protection 

 

2.1. CODE OF CONDUCT   
SLDC’s commitment to safeguarding children is enforced by employees working within an 
identified code of conduct. This includes: 
 Upholding the standards outlined in all of SLDC’s policies and procedures 
 Protecting children, young people and vulnerable adults from coming to any harm 
 Reporting any suspicion of abuse and adhering to the Whistle Blowing Policy 
 Maintaining professional boundaries and avoiding behaviour that may be misinterpreted 
 Maintaining excellent standards of behaviour and personal conduct in and out of the 

workplace which does not compromise their role in the work setting 
 Using professional judgement surrounding physical contact, consider the situation and the 

individual’s needs at the time. Be aware of any cultural or religious views regarding contact 
and be prepared for all physical contact to be open to scrutiny 

 
EXAMPLES OF POOR CONDUCT 

 
SLDC has clearly defined procedures for reporting and managing issues surrounding poor and 
inappropriate conduct – i.e. Code of Conduct for SLDC Employees and the Code of Conduct for 
members and Co-opted Members of the Authority.  Whilst both codes clearly set out 
expectations for employees to support high standards of conduct, the examples below provide 
some guidance on conduct that may lead to investigation or scrutiny:   

 
Definitions of unacceptable behaviour (this is not an exhaustive list and employees should 
exercise professional judgement regarding their conduct at all times)  
 Being alone with children and young people in a professional capacity, unless this is a 

necessary part of the job or role description 
 Giving impromptu lifts in own vehicles outside normal working duties unless consent has been 

given by parents/guardians and Line Manager 

 Inviting children or young people home 


 Abuse of power and trust – any sexual relationships with young people (consenting or not) – 
inside and out of work. The 2003 Sexual Offences Act ensures it is a criminal offence for 
anyone in a position of trust aged 18 or over to engage in sexual activity with a young person 
under the age of 18. It is a criminal offence for any adult to display any sexual behaviour 
toward a child. This includes non-penetrative acts such as causing a child to watch 

Page 108



Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

pornography and ‘grooming’ 
 Establishing social contact and friendship outside of the work setting. This includes 

nonprofessional communication via texts and emails 

 Any form of conduct which may be mistaken for being sexually suggestive or provocative 
 The use of sarcasm or inappropriate humour which demeans or makes fun of a child, young 

person or vulnerable adult 

 Swearing or the use of inappropriate language 
 Accessing, storing or making indecent images 
 Permitting abusive peer activities (for example racism, bullying or homophobia) 
 Online contact with young people or their families that employees know professionally 


 Posting private messages or images on social network sites that (although unrelated to work) 

may bring the reputation or integrity of the organisation into disrepute 
 Not attending mandatory safeguarding training






2.2. SUPERVISION RATIOS AND LONE WORKING   
Children should be adequately supervised in line with SLDC’s Safeguarding Policy and 
Procedures.  
 
The needs of individual vulnerable young people should be considered during the risk assessment 
process for every session, venue and activity.  

 
As a general rule, at any SLDC led events, there should be a supervision ratio of: 

 employees/ members to 15 young people.  
This should increase if children are younger, there are specific needs or behavioural issues or the 
activity is risk assessed as requiring a higher ratio.  Any deviation from this can be authorised by a 
line manager. 
 

  
All SLDC employees should aim to avoid planned, isolated 1:1 situations with young people where 
possible – however there are some exceptions and the safeguarding protocols are outlined in the 
specific annex. 
 
Unplanned events can occur (such as administering first aid) and the following good practice 
should be considered: 
 Never transport a child home by yourself – seek consent from a parent and use a colleague to 

accompany you 
 Avoid closed doors/being out of sight from others 
 Can they bring a friend or another child with them? 
 Do not send a child/young person you feel may be vulnerable (e.g. under influence of drugs or 

alcohol) home by themselves 
 Be accountable and transparent in your actions – let your line manager know of the situation at 

the earliest occurrence 
 
 

2.3. HOME VISITS   
Some SLDC work does not require any employees to make a home visit as part of their role. If 
there was a need for a private conversation with a young people and/or their family about a 
sensitive or confidential issue then the meeting should take place at a public place (ideally a SLDC 
office). It may be out of hours and as such, the Lone Working policy should then be employed. 

   
 

However, there are a number of roles that are required to visit the home and the areas of overlap in terms 
of child protection and safeguarding include: 

 
 Finding a child home alone – this is an issue to check with your manager but most likely should 

be reported to the police depending on the child’s age/ability/level of distress 
 Being alone in a room with a child – as mentioned above, try to avoid planned 1:1 situations by 

travelling with a colleague or asking parents/siblings to stay in the room and for any unplanned 
situations, remember the guidance above 

 Deeming the home environment unsuitable in some way – if you are concerned for the welfare 
of the family and are considering contacting environmental health colleagues then you may also 
want to share this as a potential safeguarding concern if you know there are children in the 
household 
 

 
2.4. E SAFTEY   

 
The term E-safety in this instance includes the use of mobile phones, digital cameras, blue tooth technology, 

Page 109



Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

film, web cams, blogs, instant messaging, emailing and social network sites. 
  
Employees should not allow themselves to enter into online contact with children they work with, parents or 
their families. Friend requests from parents or children and young people under the age of 18 (past or 
present) in this context should be politely declined by explaining that it is against SLDC policy, which is 
designed to protect employees from abuse and misunderstandings. 

 

Employees should not create web pages, groups or contact lists concerning professional activities 
carried out on behalf of SLDC unless they have express written permission from a senior manager to do 
so. 

 

There must be absolutely no private online contact between employees and any children and young people 
with whom they have a work-related relationship. This includes the storing of images of children under the 
age of 18. 

 

Online contact made as part of professional duties should always be carried out using technologies 
provided by SLDC. These technologies should have the capability of logging and storing records 
securely. 

 

Employees are strongly advised to be careful about what they say online in contact with other young people 
such as relatives or family friends. This caution should apply to images or video material. Employees should 
never use or give out their personal contact details, including their mobile telephone number and details of 
any blogs or personal websites. 

 

Any communication between employees and children, young people and vulnerable adults should 
remain within professional boundaries. Any individual (one to one) communication should be made on 
work phones and email accounts only and messages should be saved as standard practice. Line 
managers should be cc’d into all emails. 
 

Personal subject matter should be avoided. 

 

Employees should not take photographs or film without consent from young people or vulnerable adults and 
their parents/guardians or carers and never on personal mobile phones. Young people and vulnerable adults 
should be aware they are being photographed or filmed and the reasons why. 
 

All employees are advised to make themselves familiar with the parent/carer pages on the CEOP “Think  
You Know” site at  www.thinkyouknow.co.uk and keep themselves up to date with the risks of emerging 
technologies. 
 

Inappropriate texts, photos or emails received from colleagues or young people should not be deleted 
and must be kept as evidence. It should be reported to a colleague or manager immediately; if this is 
not possible a professional note or record should be made and shown to a colleague at the earliest 
opportunity. The most appropriate manager should log all such incidents and take action as 
necessary. 
 
 
 

2.5. MANAGING BEHAVIOUR, USE OF FORCE AND PHYSICAL CONTACT  
 
MANAGING BEHAVIOUR  

SLDC employees must promote good behaviour in the projects and services that they run in order to provide a 
safe environment for all young people and to prevent bullying and abusive peer behaviour. Good practice will 
see employees use relevant activities such as creating ‘ground rules’ or a ‘group contract’ alongside the young 
people in a genuinely empowering manner. 

 
However, there are a number of safety ‘non- negotiables’ that employees will also need to ensure make up 
part of the rules from the outset of a project. These will be relevant to the age/needs of the young people and 
will be site specific. 

 
SLDC expects to see employees manage negative and poor behaviour through discussion, support and other 
forms of consequential learning (such as temporary and permanent exclusion).  
It is our policy is not to use physical force against young people if at all possible, except as a last resort in order 
to discharge a duty of care. 

 

 
USE OF ‘REASONABLE’ FORCE  

We recognise that in certain circumstances - such as to prevent young people from hurting themselves or 
others - the use of reasonable force on the part of employees may be justified as an act of care and control. 

Page 110

https://www.thinkuknow.co.uk/parents/


Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

For any form of physical intervention to be justified, there must be a risk of injury or damage likely in the 
predictable future, and immediate action deemed necessary. 
 
Force is usually used either to control or restrain. This can range from guiding a young person to safety by 
the arm through to more extreme circumstances such as breaking up a fight or where a young person needs 
to be restrained to prevent violence or injury; 
 
 ‘Reasonable in the circumstances’ means using no more force than is needed 
 Control means either passive physical contact, such as standing between young people or blocking a 

person’s path, or active physical contact such as leading a young person by the arm out of a room 
 Restraint means to hold back physically or to bring a young person under control. It is typically used in 

more extreme circumstances, for example when two young people are fighting and refuse to separate 
without physical intervention 

 
The decision on whether or not to physically intervene is down to the professional judgement of the 
employee/ member concerned and should always depend on the individual circumstances. 

 
Employees should always try to avoid acting in a way that might cause injury, but in extreme cases it may 
not always be possible to avoid injuring the young person. 

 
Employees must ensure that they do not use any form of physical force that may be construed as “assault” to 
control anyone. The only exception to this is in the use of physical contact to prevent an immediate danger of 
significant physical injury to, or the damage to the property of, any person. 

 
Instances of employees using force will always be investigated and recorded. Employees who use force in a 
way that conforms to this policy will have the organisation’s support. Employees who use force in a way not 
conforming to this policy may be subject to disciplinary action and in some cases the matter will be referred to 
the Police, with criminal proceedings a possibility. 

 
There will be occasions where damage to property may be deemed preferable to the application of physical 
force as a preventative measure. However, employees should give consideration to the nature of the 
property in question and whether its damage may place any person at risk of injury or lead to criminal 
proceedings. 
 
 

  

Page 111



Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

3. MANAGING CONCERNS, ALLEGATIONS AND INDIVIDUAL CASES  
 
3.1 RECOGNISING ABUSE 
 
At induction – SLDC employees are given the HM Government Guidance Document “What to do if you are 
worried a child is being abused” (March 2015).  It highlights:  

 
No matter where you work, you are likely to encounter children during the course of your normal 
working activities. You are in a unique position to be able to observe signs of abuse or neglect, or 
changes in behaviour which may indicate a child may be being abused or neglected.  

You should make sure that you are alert to the signs of abuse and neglect, that you question the 
behaviour of children and parents/carers and don’t necessarily take what you are told at face value. 
You should make sure you know where to turn to if you need to ask for help, and that you refer to 
children’s social care or to the police, if you suspect that a child is at risk of harm or is immediate 
danger  

 
 
By participating in compulsory triennial training and optional cpd including e-learning, SLDC employees will 
ensure that they keep up to date with the different types of harm than can affect children and young people – 
ensuring they can recognise indicators of abuse and know what to do with their concerns. 
 
In addition to the four main categories of abuse that are indicated in the guidance document above (physical 
abuse, sexual abuse and exploitation, emotional abuse and neglect) – SLDC employees must also be aware 
that: 
 

1. Children who run away from home can be an indicator of abuse or harm.   
Over 1000 children per year are reported missing in Cumbria. Research shows the main causes 
to be family conflict (including domestic violence and forced marriage) and personal problems 
such as substance misuse, bullying and relationship issues. 

 
If they become aware that a young person has run away from home or if they return, SLDC 
employees must: 

 Notify the police 
 Notify any other relevant agencies that they know might be involved with the young 

person 

 
It is essential that an appropriate agency provides a return interview (CCSB safeguarding hub can advise 
here) so that the causes that led to running away can be examined, these are often abusive. Early 
intervention is essential to prevent initial or repeat running away and associated risks. 

  
2. Prolonged and/or regular exposure to domestic violence can have a serious impact on a child/young 

person’s development and emotional well-being, despite the best efforts of the victim parent to protect 
their child. 

 
Domestic violence has an impact in a number of ways. It can pose a threat to an unborn child, because 
assaults on pregnant women frequently involve punches or kicks directed at the abdomen, risking injury to 
both mother and foetus. Older children may also suffer blows during episodes of violence. Children may be 
greatly distressed by witnessing the physical and emotional suffering of a parent. Both the physical assaults 
and psychological abuse suffered by adult victims who experience domestic violence can have a negative 
impact on their ability to look after their children. The negative impact of domestic violence is exacerbated 
when: the violence is combined with drink or drug misuse; children witness the violence; children are drawn 
into the violence or are pressurised into concealing the assaults. Children’s exposure to parental conflict, even 
where violence is not present, can lead to serious anxiety and distress among children, particularly when it is 
routed through children. 
 
Employees should be vigilant around this area and to treat family information (that might suggest domestic 
violence) comes to light as a potential safeguarding issue. This will also apply to young people aged 16-17 
and their intimate relationships.   
 
3. Sexually Active Young People 
Under 13s: Under the Sexual Offences Act 2003, children under the age of 13 are considered of 
insufficient age to give consent to sexual activity. 
 
SLDC must notify the police as soon as possible when a criminal offence has been committed or is suspected 
of having been committed against a child unless there are exceptional reasons not to do so. 
  

Page 112



Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

Aged 13-16: The 2003 Sexual Offences Act reinforces that, whilst mutually agreed, non-exploitative 
sexual activity between teenagers does take place and that often no harm comes from it, the age of 
consent should still remain at 16. This acknowledges that this group of young people is still vulnerable, 
even when they do not view themselves as such. Although the age of consent remains at 16, the law is 
not intended to prosecute mutually agreed teenage sexual activity between two young people of a similar 
age, unless it involves abuse or exploitation. 
  
Aged 16-18: Although sexual activity in itself is no longer an offence over the age of 16, young people 
under the age of 18 are still offered the protection of Safeguarding Procedures under the Children Act. 
Consideration still needs to be given to issues of sexual exploitation through prostitution and abuse 
of power in circumstances outlined above. This also applies to safeguarding the needs of vulnerable 
adults over the age of 18 in SLDC’s care. Young people over the age of 16 and under the age of 18 are 
not deemed able to give consent if the sexual activity is with an adult in a position of trust or a family 
member as defined by the Sexual Offences Act 2003. 

 
PREVENT: 
 
4. SLDC employees also have a statutory duty under the 2015 HM Government Prevent Guidance to 

recognise, identify and report violent extremist behaviour or radicalisation. 
 
Radicalisation is a process by which an individual or group comes to adopt increasingly extreme political, 
social or religious ideals and aspirations that (1) reject or undermines the status quo and/or (2) reject or 
undermine contemporary ideas and expressions of freedom of choice.  
 
Children and young people can suffer harm when exposed to extremist ideology. This harm  
can range from a child adopting or complying with extreme views which limit their social  
interaction and full engagement with their education, to children being groomed for involvement in violent 
attacks.  
 
Children can by exposed to harmful, extremist ideology in the immediate or extended family, or relatives/family 
friends who live outside the family home but have influence over the child’s life. Older children or young people 
might self-radicalise over the internet or through the influence of their peer network – in this instance their 
parents might not know about this or feel powerless to stop their child’s radicalisation. 
 

If you have concerns about an individual potentially being radicalised you can email Cumbria police at 
prevent@cumbria.police.uk  or ring 101.Further information is also available on the Cumbria local safeguarding 
children’s board pages: http://cumbrialscb.proceduresonline.com/chapters/p_support_ch_radical.html  

 
 

 
ALLEGATIONS  
Children may choose to tell SLDC employees what they are experiencing or have experienced historically. As 
soon as an issue is brought to the attention of employees they should act immediately. 
  
As soon as possible after an allegation has been made the employee/ member should write down what was 
said as close to the person’s own words as possible. Any handmade notes should be signed and dated. The 
SLDC referral form is on sharepoint under Safeguarding in Quick Links. 
 
An assessment should be made by the employee: 
 
Is the person in immediate harm or not? 
 
If the answer is yes then they should aim to contact either the Designated Safeguarding Lead, the 
Leadership Team or the Safeguarding Policy officer for immediate guidance which may involve contacting 
social services or the police. If no senior SLDC employees are available then they must contact the 
appropriate services, even if this is out of hours. 
 
Out of Hours - If a employees cannot contact senior support and feels the child is in immediate 
danger then they should contact the Police (999). If an urgent social work response is required 
contact the Safeguarding Hub on 0333 240 1727 immediately and ensure they inform the relevant 
SLDC manager first thing the next working day. 

 
If the answer is no and that immediate action is not necessary then a phone call to the Operational Manager/ 
Safeguarding Policy officer/ DSL should take place the following morning within office hours. 
 

 

Page 113

mailto:prevent@cumbria.police.uk
http://cumbrialscb.proceduresonline.com/chapters/p_support_ch_radical.html


Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

Either way, as soon as possible after an allegation and verbal report to a senior manager, employees  
should complete and send the SLDC Safeguarding   Referral Form to formally notify the DSL who will lead 
from that point forward by contacting the Safeguarding Hub or initiating an Early Help Assessment. 
 
The following should be remembered:  
 Listen to what the person is saying. Try to understand what is being said without putting your own 

interpretation on the conversation 
 Do not ask leading questions or interrogate the speaker as this could be damage any future investigation 
 If you are asked to promise secrecy, you should explain you cannot do this, you may have to pass on your 

concerns to others in order to keep them or someone else safe but you can maintain confidentiality
 Ensure any feelings of personal shock or distaste at the situation are not conveyed through your body 

language 

 Record any information in the words of the person making the allegation 



3.2 HANDLING INDIVIDUAL CASES   
From this point forward, all action regarding the handling of individual safeguarding cases will be lead and 
performed by the DSL or a nominated deputy (Operational Manager or Safeguarding Policy officer). 
 
After being contacted by an employee who has raised concerns or had an allegation made to them, the DSL 
will use the Multi Agency Threshold Guidance to assess the degree of severity and level of need of the young 
person. 

 
They might also consult with the parent, guardian or carer plus the child except where it might: 
 Increase the risk to the child, young person or vulnerable adult (e.g. by the response it may prompt or by 

leading to an unreasonable delay) 
 Lead to the risk of loss of evidential material (if there is evidence that a crime may have been 

committed) 

 Place an employee from any agency at risk due to the potential reaction of the person 

 
The DSL must make a decision on the referral route (if there is one) and record all written and verbal 
concerns from front line employees plus all decisions made by them following the procedure on the Internal 
Safeguarding Information and Referral Form. 

 
In some circumstances the child, young person or vulnerable adult may request that parents, guardians 
or carers are not made aware of the contact with social services. This should be respected and it should 
be explained at point of contact. 

  
The DSL will decide on a route/action which might result in: 

 
A) No action required – after checking, there are no longer any valid concerns  

 
B) No action required – after checking there seem to be valid concerns but a social 

worker/TAC/TAF (Team around Child/ Family) is already in place. Our information is shared 
with them  

 
C) An Early Help Assessment being initiated with consent and engagement from the child and their 

family – SLDC may not lead on this  but initiate it by contacting the Safeguarding Hub to access 
support and to find a more appropriate service to take this forward  

 
D) The child is identified as being ‘in need of support’ (s17) – Safeguarding Hub contacted and other 

agencies to lead on a multi-agency response (that SLDC may or may not be part of) 
 
E) The child is identified as being ‘in need of protection’ (s47) – Safeguarding Hub /Police 

contacted and compulsory statutory intervention is initiated  

 
The Safeguarding Hub should acknowledge the referral within 48 hours of receipt of the written or on line 
referral and provide some feedback.  If the DSL/Deputy has not had confirmation – they have a duty to 
follow this up with the Cumbria Safeguarding Children’s Board ( CSCB).  
 
Disagreement 
If there is professional dispute with the Safeguarding Hub, Social Services or another partner agency – for 
example the DSL disagrees with the outcome or information is not being shared effectively between multi-
agency partners; then SLDC employees must employ the CCSB Escalation Policy – which can be found on 
their website. 

Page 114

http://www.youngcumbria.org.uk/images/stories/downloads/JulesHandbook/6.%20Internal%20Safeguarding%20Information%20and%20Referral%20Form%202013.doc
https://www.cumbria.gov.uk/childrensservices/ctb/threshold.asp
https://cumbrialscb.proceduresonline.com/chapters/p_conflict_res.html


Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

 
 

3.3 WHISTLE BLOWING  

SLDC has a Whistleblowing Policy that protects employees from reprisal and victimisation when they make 
a disclosure in the public interest about a concern, a danger or illegality that affects others. 

 
When it comes to safeguarding, employees have a responsibility to highlight issues that put young 
people at risk. This includes passing on third party comments/concerns involving colleagues and 
managers. 
 

 

3.3 ALLEGATIONS AGAINST EMPLOYEES  
 
ALLEGATION PROCEDURE   
Employees must report any allegations made against other employees directly to the DSL/ 
Operational manager that suggest that employees have: 

 
 Behaved in a way that has harmed or may harm a child, young person or vulnerable adult 
 Possibly committed a criminal offence related to a child, young person or vulnerable adult 

 Behaved in a way that indicates that he/she is unsuitable to work with children, young people or 

vulnerable adults 

 
Employees must report within 24 hours with as much detail surrounding the incident and context that is 
possible and relevant. 

 
The DSL will take responsibility from this point forward and follow the guidance offered organisations on the 
CCSB website: http://cumbrialscb.proceduresonline.com/chapters/p_alleg_against_staff.html 

 
Out of hours - The making of a referral to the Police or Social Services should not be delayed if the DSL or any 
other senior member of SLDC cannot be contacted and there is evidence that a crime has been committed 
which may require urgent police investigation. Any action must be reported to the relevant SLDC employees 
first thing the next working day. 
 

 

 

4. PARTNERSHIP WORKING AND CONFIDENTIALITY  
 
4.1. MULTI-AGENCY PARTNERSHIP WORKING   

It is essential that at the outset of any piece of partnership work, all organisations discuss and 
record an agreement which defines the lead agency in terms of the project or who will 
take responsibility for certain tasks such as reporting and investigating safeguarding 
issues. 

 
It is also essential to discuss each organisation’s relevant policies and procedures so that any 
areas of potential conflict regarding ethos or practice can be identified and resolved before the 
work takes place. 

 
If no agreement is in place; SLDC employees must ensure that the workers present at the time 
agree (in writing) specific roles and responsibilities in terms of reporting and following up the 
incident. 

 

 

4.2. EARLY HELP  
SLDC’s Safeguarding Children Policy highlights the commitment to participating in prevention work 
– and as such, as part of CCSB’s multi-agency approach towards safeguarding, It may be that 
SLDC employees are nominated by a young person or their parent to take part in an assessment, 
become the named Lead Professional or it may come out of the assessment carried out by other 
professionals that a worker should be invited to be part of the ‘Team Around the Child/Family’ 
(TAC/TAF) or a MARAC (for cases involving domestic abuse). 

 
The following should be adhered to by SLDC employees regarding any involvement with Early Help:  
 At present, SLDC employees will not instigate Early Help Assessments (with the exception of 

Page 115

http://sharepoint/sites/hr/Policies%20Procedures%20%20Guidelines/Approved%20PDF%20S%20-%20W/Whistleblowing/2013%20Whistleblowing.pdf
http://cumbrialscb.proceduresonline.com/chapters/p_alleg_against_staff.html


Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

Hostel employees who must have received appropriate CCSB training). Hostel employees should 
discuss cases with their line manager and would be encouraged to become part of the Team 
Around the Family.

 Anyone invited to a TAC/TAF or MARAC should notify their Line Manager. A decision will be made 
based on the individual relationship with the child/family/situation, competency for the role plus 
time and resource requirements. 

 
There is more information on Early Help on the CSCB website. 
 
 
 

4.3. CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONSENT   
Children and young people under the age of 16 years are entitled to the same level of confidentiality 
as adults if it appears they have the ability to understand choices and their consequences. 

 
However there are certain situations where it is not in the best interest of a child, young 
person or vulnerable adult to maintain confidentiality. 

 

SLDC expects that any matter relating to a young person under the age of 16 is brought to the 
attention of an employee indicating there is a safeguarding issue must be shared with the DSL 
(regardless of consent) who will take the matter forward. 

 
Wherever possible, SLDC employees should aim to seek consent before disclosing 
confidential information.  
 
SLDC have an Information Sharing Policy – details from Paul Mountford (Specialist, 
Performance, Innovation and Commissioning) 

 
 
 
 
4.4. CONFIDENTIALITY WHEN SHARING INFORMATION   

If an employee shares information with appropriate personnel (DSL, Social Services/Police) in good 
faith they are exempt from civil action as long as they maintain high levels of confidentiality. 

 
Where there are concerns about a child/young person, this information should be a proportionate 
response to the need to protect the individual and only be shared on a "need to know" basis and 
should not be widely shared with other colleagues, managers or external partners for example. 

 
If the person’s identity does not need to be disclosed then the information should be used 
anonymously. If in doubt check with a senior manager before sharing any information. 

 
The strategic information sharing agreement between organisations providing health, social care, 
education, support and intervention for youth offenders and home fire assessment services across 
Cumbria can be found at: http://www.cumbrialscb.com/professionals/informationsharing.asp 

 
 

4.5. CONFIDENTIALITY WHEN RECORDING AND STORING INFORMATION   
SLDC’s Information Governance Framework, Data Protection Policy and Information 
Classification and Handling Protocol and Secure Data Transmission Protocol provides clear 
guidance on the recording and storing of sensitive information. General records kept by SLDC 
employees and projects include:  
 Name, address, doctor, phone number and details of parent/guardians/carers and/or 

emergency contact numbers. 

 Medical details form with parental/guardian consent if under 18 
 Attendance records of youth work sessions. 

Young people and or parent/guardian can see these details if requested. It is important to store any 
safeguarding information in a separate secure place away from general records, in a place accessible 
only to nominated personnel 

 
Specific Safeguarding Referral forms should be shared with relevant colleagues in hard copy 
only. They may include incredibly sensitive information plus personal information and contact 
details. As such:  
 They should not be sent over unsecured email 
 If sent by post they should be clearly labelled private and confidential (originals to be kept at 

original office) 

Page 116

https://cumbriasafeguardingchildren.co.uk/LSCB/earlyhelp.asp?cookies=disable
http://www.cumbrialscb.com/professionals/informationsharing.asp


Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

 They should be stored appropriately in a password protected sharepoint folder accessible by the 
DSL.   



Guidance on sharing information with partners  
The LSCB ‘Information Sharing Protocol’ explains that any information shared in relation to 
safeguarding should be necessary and proportionate. Included in the protocol are the seven golden 
rules of information sharing.  
http://www.cumbrialscb.com/professionals/informationsharing.asp  

 

 The Seven Golden Rules of Information Sharing: 

1. Remember that the Data Protection Act is not a barrier to sharing information but provides a 

framework to ensure that personal information about living persons is shared appropriately. 

2. Be open and honest with the person (and/or their family where appropriate) from the outset about 

why, what, how and with whom information will, or could be shared, and seek their agreement, unless it 

is unsafe or inappropriate to do so. 

3. Seek advice if you are in any doubt, without disclosing the identity of the person where possible. 

4. Share with consent where appropriate and, where possible, respect the wishes of those who do not 

consent to share confidential information. You may still share information without consent if, in your 

judgement, that lack of consent can be overridden in the public interest. You will need to base your 

judgement on the facts of the case. 

5. Consider safety and well-being: Base your information sharing decisions on considerations of the 

safety and well-being of the person and others who may be affected by their actions. 

6. Necessary, proportionate, relevant, accurate, timely and secure: Ensure that the information you 

share is necessary for the purpose for which you are sharing it, is shared only with those people who 

need to have it, is accurate and up-to-date, is shared in a timely fashion, and is shared securely. 

7. Keep a record of your decision and the reasons for it – whether it is to share information or not. If you 

decide to share, then record what you have shared, with whom and for what purpose. 

  

Page 117

http://www.cumbrialscb.com/professionals/informationsharing.asp


Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

5. RELEVANT CONTACT INFORMATION 
 
 
SLDC EMPLOYEES 

 
 SLDC Safeguarding Lead: Office hours: David Sykes (Director of Strategy, Innovation and Resources) 

01539 793107. Safeguarding Policy officer: Simon Blyth (Specialist, Strategy) 01539 793262. 
 

EXTERNAL AGENCIES 
 
Cumbria Safeguarding Hub – 0333 240 1727  
 
Cumbria Safeguarding Children Board –  www.cumbrialscb.com 
 
NSPCC 0808 800 5000 – offers advice and support for adults who are working with children and young 
people who have a query or concern 
 
 
 
 

Page 118

http://www.cumbrialscb.com/


Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 
 

ANNEX 6.1   SAFE RECRUITMENT SPECIFIC PROCEDURES 
 

The Council will take reasonable steps to ensure that unsuitable people are prevented from working with 

children and young people by implementing consistent and appropriate personnel procedures. 

SLDC will: 

 Request DBS checks in line with the DBS policy  

 Obtain 2 references from previous employers and all appointments will be made subject to 
satisfactory references 

 Train employees, their line managers and supervisors, in the detection of child abuse and in good 
working practice 
 

Please refer to SLDC’s recruitment policy and DBS policy (Policies, procedures and guidelines) for further 

details. For any specific queries please contact a member from the Council’s HR team or the Council’s 

Safeguarding lead. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 119

http://sharepoint/sites/hr/_layouts/15/start.aspx


Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

 
 
ANNEX 6.2   HOMELESSNESS TEAM AND HOSTEL EMPLOYEES  
– SPECIFIC PROCEDURES 
 
A reminder of expectations: 

Role Context Expectations 

Hostel employees & 

Homelessness Team 
 

Including agency employees 

 
 

Working with vulnerable families – 

some employees sleeping on site. 

Level 1 Introduction to 
Safeguarding, Level 1 Awareness 
of Child Abuse and Neglect and 
Safeguarding and Leadership 

Optional CPD should be considered: 

 Early Help 

 Domestic Abuse/MARAC 

 Drug/alcohol misuse 

 
This team works with individuals and families that are already identified as vulnerable.  There are expectations that 
employees in this team are up to date with their mandatory training and have also considered optional CPD.  This 
team need to recognise that their responsibility for safeguarding children and young people covers both young 
homeless people/hostel guests as well as the children of adult service users. In addition to the Hostel Manual, the 
following guidance is to support employees regarding safeguarding children matters. 

 
EARLY HELP - TAC/TAF/MARAC 
Also refer to section 4.2 in the policy. The Homelessness Team are most likely to be the only SLDC employees 
participating in TACs/TAFs and MARACs. 
Employees cannot participate if they have not had the requisite training and require manager permission to access the 
CCSB courses. 
If an SLDC employee member participates in a TAC/TAF or MARAC, they must keep the minutes of meetings on file 
and be accountable for their actions as they represent the council. They must also be aware that these documents 
may be scrutinised in the event of the situation being ‘stepped up’ or as part of a ‘serious case review’. 
 

 
SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN ON THE HOSTEL PREMISES 
Safeguarding and child protection protocols apply to all children staying in the hostel – whether they are 16/17 prior to 
being housed elsewhere (e.g. The Foyer) or if they are a child of a resident (including an unborn child). 
 
Hostel employees should: 

 Ensure parents take responsibility for their children in communal areas including kitchens and bathrooms 

 Ensure parents adequately supervise their children and do not leave them unattended for extended periods 

 Be vigilant to the welfare of resident’s children 

 Avoid planned 1:1 situations with children and report any unplanned 1:1 situations to their line manger as a 
measure of transparency  

 
Hostel employees must: 

 Report any welfare or child protection concerns immediately to the Safeguarding Lead 

 Be vigilant to the conduct of visitors to the Hostel – ensuring they remain in the meeting room on the lower floor 

 Ensure hostel conduct rules are upheld 

 Be particularly vigilant to the increased risk of sexual exploitation that many homeless young people can find 
themselves vulnerable to 

 
 
BOUNDARIES 
Hostel employees are expected to maintain professional boundaries. Examples include: 

 Never discussing residents in the presence of other hostel residents or applicants 

 Similarly employees must never discuss personal information of their colleagues to third parties. 

 Not being involved in the handling of any residents’ personal money or have any involvement in the residents’ 
financial matters even if they are requested to do so by the resident or other party.  This involvement could 
result in accusations being made against the Hostel employees which could be difficult to disprove. 

 The Hostel employees should as a matter of course make themselves aware of the general feelings of residents.  
S/he should be available for the residents to talk to about any concerns they have about the Hostel and should 
take care to be impartial at all times.  The Hostel employees should not take sides on behalf of or against any 

Page 120



Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 
resident, but should act in the interests of the smooth running of the Hostel, and the enforcement of the Hostel 
rules. 

 

 
WORKING WITH SEXUALLY ACTIVE YOUNG PEOPLE and SEXUAL EXPLOITATION 
 
Most young people under the age of 18 will have an interest in sex and sexual relationships. 
 
Child sexual exploitation is when someone grooms and controls a child for sexual purpose or when a child 
receives something for sexual activity. The scale can be individual or commercial. There are also particular links to 
children missing from home, street grooming and online exploitation. 
 
Areas to look for when considering the needs of the young people: 

 Power imbalances are very important and can occur through differences in size, age and development and 
where gender, sexuality, race and levels of sexual knowledge are used to exert such power(of these, age 
may be a key indicator, e.g. a 15 year old girl and a 25 year old man)  

 There may also be an imbalance of power if the young person’s sexual partner is in a position of trust in relation 
to them, for example a teacher, youth worker or carer  

 Sex being used for favours, i.e. exchanging sex for clothes, CDs, trainers, alcohol, drugs, cigarettes and 
so on. Young people may also have large amounts of money or other valuables which cannot be 
accounted for  

 A young person going missing for periods of time or regularly coming home late  

 If the young person has a learning disability, disorder or other communication difficulty they may not be able 
to communicate easily to someone that they are, or have been abused, or subjected to abusive behaviour. 
The Sexual Offences Act recognises the rights of people with a mental disability to a full life, including a 
sexual life. However, there is a duty to protect them from abuse and exploitation  

 Whether the person is competent to understand and consent to the sexual activity they are involved in  

 Whether overt aggression, coercion or bribery was involved including misuse of 
substances/alcohol as a disinhibitor  

 Whether the young person’s own behaviour, for example through misuse of substances, including alcohol, 
places them in a position where they are unable to make an informed choice about the activity  

 Any attempts to secure secrecy by the sexual partner beyond what would be considered usual in a 
teenage relationship  

 Whether methods used to secure compliance and/or secrecy by the sexual partner are consistent with 
behaviours considered to be ‘grooming’  

 
Any causes for concern that a young person is being sexually exploited should be treated as a standard 
safeguarding concern – see Section 3 of this document. 
 
 
THE FRASER GUIDELINES 
SLDC employees must follow the Fraser Guidelines when discussing personal or sexual matters with a young 
person under 16. These guidelines give guidance on providing advice and treatment to young people less than 16 
years of age. 
 
They hold that sexual health services can be offered without parental consent providing that: 

 The young person understands the advice that is being given.  

 The young person cannot be persuaded to inform or seek support from their parent/guardians, 
and will not allow the worker to inform the parent/guardian that contraceptive advice is being 
given.  

 The young person is likely to begin or continue to have sexual intercourse without contraception or 
protection by a barrier method.  

 The young person’s physical or mental health is likely to suffer unless they receive contraceptive                   
advice or treatment.  

 It is in the young person’s best interest to receive contraceptive/safe sex advice and treatment 
without parental consent.  

 
DEALING WITH AGRESSIVE BEHAVIOUR IN CHILDREN 

 

The following are guidelines for Hostel employees in the event of needing to manage aggressive behaviour of 
children or young people and will provide guidance for physical intervention as a last resort as part of discharging 

Page 121



Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 
your duty of care. 

 
USE OF ‘REASONABLE’ FORCE 
 
We recognise that in certain circumstances - such as to prevent young people from hurting themselves or others - the 
use of reasonable force on the part of employees may be justified as an act of care and control. For any form of 
physical intervention to be justified, there must be a risk of injury or damage likely in the predictable future, and 
immediate action deemed necessary. 
 
Force is usually used either to control or restrain. This can range from guiding a young person to safety by the arm 
through to more extreme circumstances such as breaking up a fight or where a young person needs to be restrained 
to prevent violence or injury; 
 

 ‘Reasonable in the circumstances’ means using no more force than is needed  

 Control means either passive physical contact, such as standing between young people or blocking a 
person’s path, or active physical contact such as leading a young person by the arm out of a room  

 Restraint means to hold back physically or to bring a young person under control. It is typically used in more 
extreme circumstances, for example when two young people are fighting and refuse to separate without 
physical intervention  

 

All employees have a legal power to “use such force as is reasonable in the circumstances for the purposes of: 

 self-defence; or 

 defence of another; or 

 defence of property; or 

 prevention of crime; or 

 lawful arrest.”  

 https://www.cps.gov.uk/legal-guidance/self-defence-and-prevention-crime  

 
Any incidents where employees have used physical intervention should be followed up with a discussion with the 
young person and their parents/carer and also documented on an Incident Form. 
 
Reasonable force can be used to prevent young people from hurting themselves or others, from damaging 
property, or from causing disorder; 
 
The decision on whether or not to physically intervene is down to the professional judgement of the employee 
concerned and should always depend on the individual circumstances. 
 
Employees should always try to avoid acting in a way that might cause injury, but in extreme cases it may not always 
be possible to avoid injuring the young person. 
 
Employees must ensure that they do not use any form of physical force that may be construed as “assault” to control 
anyone. The only exception to this is in the use of physical contact to prevent an immediate danger of significant 
physical injury to, or the damage to the property of, any person. 
 
Instances of employees using force will always be investigated. Employees who use force in a way that conforms to 
this policy will have the organisation’s support. Employees who use force in a way not conforming to this policy may 
be subject to disciplinary action and in some cases the matter will be referred to the Police, with criminal proceedings 
a possibility. 
There will be occasions where damage to property may be deemed preferable to the application of physical force as 
a preventative measure. However, employees should give consideration to the nature of the property in question 
and whether its damage may place any person at risk of injury or lead to criminal proceedings. 
 
 
 
Physical Intervention 

Page 122

https://www.cps.gov.uk/legal-guidance/self-defence-and-prevention-crime


Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

 
Principles for using physical intervention: 
 
 Employees should take steps in advance to avoid the need for physical intervention, e.g.; through dialogue 

and diversion (see above); and the young person should be warned verbally that physical restraint would be 
used unless they desist  

 Employees should have good grounds for believing that immediate action is necessary to prevent a young 
person from significantly injuring themselves, or others, or causing serious damage to property  

 Every effort should be made to secure the presence of other employees before applying restraint. These 
employees can act as assistants and witnesses. Whenever possible there should be at least two employees 
present when a young person is being restrained and the most senior employees available should take 
charge of the situation.  

 If it is necessary to restrain a young person, an employee of the appropriate gender must be present from the 
earliest possible time  

 In a situation where the young person’s behaviour is directed at an employee, the employee concerned should 
not be involved in carrying out the restraint, unless there is no other alternative  

 Employees should be careful where they hold young people. For instance, they should be careful not to hold a 
young person in such a way that it involves contact with genitals or breasts  

 Verbalise what you are doing, where you are holding, what behaviour you would like to see, i.e. “I’m going to have 
to move you away from the wall as you’re hurting yourself by punching it...I’m going to grab you by the 
shoulder/arm, come over and sit with me on the steps...”  

 If it becomes necessary to physically restrain a violent young person; to avoid injury and the infliction of pain, 
the amount of force used must be the minimum necessary to hold the young person safely  

 Employees must consider any hazards presented by the immediate environment (e.g. rocks, windows etc.) and 
endeavour to steer the young person towards a safer area or consider how to protect all those involved, from the 
hazard  

 The length of time a young person is restrained should be the minimum necessary to achieve the immediate 
objective  

 
Restraint should not happen to: 
 
 Expectant mothers  

 Young people known to be epileptic  

 Someone heavily under the influence of drugs/alcohol  

 Someone showing very violent behaviour much larger than themselves or in possession of a dangerous 
weapon (where the restrainer is at an increased risk or danger/injury)  

 
In the situation presented is one of significant violence/danger then employees efforts should be redirected 
towards protection of themselves and other young people. If circumstances allow, it may be advisable to 
contact the police. 
 
 
FOLLOWING AN INCIDENT 
As soon as it is felt safe, restraint should be gradually relaxed to allow the young person to regain self-control. During 
this process the young person should be told what is happening and what behaviour is expected of them. As the 
hold is relinquished, employees should look for indications that may suggest the young person will restart the 
aggressive behaviour. 
 
Depending on the severity of the incident, the young person should be debriefed after the event and where 
appropriate with the involvement of a parent/carer. Everything should be recorded and discussed with the 
employees line manager. 
 
The SLDC manager should ensure that any incidents of restraint are reported on an incident report form and dealt 
with appropriately. It should also be discussed in more depth at both supervision and at a team meeting to enable a 
constructive review of how the incident was managed, provide support to the employees involved and initiate 
appropriate follow-up with the young person/partner agency involved. 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 123



Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

 
ANNEX 6.3   LICENCING – SPECIFIC PROCEDURES 

 

HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE  
 
Taxi drivers are integral in the recognition of child abuse – in particular child sexual exploitation and they are also a 
vulnerable part of the workforce as they work alone, sometimes at night and often with people under the influence of 
alcohol etc. 
 
 
The 2016 hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licencing policy lays out the commitment of SLDC and the expectations 
of drivers. In brief: 

 Enhanced DBS checks are required every 3 years. Any concerns go to Licensing Committee for decision. 

 Relevant convictions and cautions are taken into account upon licensing 

 They are subject to a code of good conduct which includes the reporting of safeguarding concerns and allegations 
as well as promoting excellent behaviour and standards – failure to comply may result in explanation at the 
Licensing Regulatory Sub Committee 

 

In the policy, drivers are signposted to contacting the police or the SLDC Licencing team if they have a safeguarding 

concern.  If any driver shares a concern then it should be dealt with as per the guidance in Section 3 of these 

Operational Procedures. 

SLDC recognise the importance of training drivers, so in addition to the publication of a printed guide, the licensing 

team are inviting them to participate in some voluntary training prior to embedding it as part of the licensing process in 

due course. 

Amendment 18/09/20 (S Hall and P Cantley): 

PC: Makes sense to not do too much with the taxi content for now because we have to demonstrate that 

we have considered the national standards by 31st January 2021. That work has still to be done alongside 

the revision of the 2018 version of the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Licensing Policy for South 

Lakeland District Council.  

 

The only obvious amendment right now is the mention of voluntary training. It is in fact mandatory and 

outlined within the policy mentioned above.  

For avoidance of doubt you may wish to refer to the policy here.  

SH: Patricks comments below are relevant insofar that the national standards will need to be incorporated 

in our HC & PH Licensing Policy when it is reviewed in the coming months. These will then be considered 

as minimum standards for safe guarding and it is possible that our members may request a higher standard 

in some areas. We have already incorporated a number of the measures in our current policy, however 

there are a few areas we need to strengthen and the national standards will assist in us doing this. The 

policy will be reviewed over the next few months and is due to be taken before and adopted by Licensing 

committee prior to the end of January 2021. The position below has changed slightly, but is likely to have 

further changes once the new policy is adopted. 

Following changes to the policy in 2019, our position on safe guarding has already been strengthened; the 

mandatory exam which new drivers must pass now includes a series of compulsory questions on safe 

guarding (section 4.9 and appendix F of the policy) 

 

Page 124

https://www.southlakeland.gov.uk/media/6752/taxi-policy-2018-v7.pdf


Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 
In addition to this, changes were made to the Code of good conduct which drivers are expected to comply 

with (Appendix C of the Policy). Section 8 of the code details the steps drivers are required to take in 

relation to safe guarding. 

To support the changes, all drivers were contacted and made aware that voluntary training was 

available  which went ahead in early 2019 in partnership with Barnardo’s and Cumbria Police. A number of 

our drivers which work across border in Lancaster or Barrow had already undertaken the training and 

provided certification to update their file. Drivers who were unable to undertake the training are able to 

complete on line training and assessment.  

 

PC - For convenience I have pasted below a couple of sections I feel are linked to the work you are feeding 

in to – 

 

4.9 Testing of applicants  
The licensing authority shall not grant a licence to drive a hackney carriage or private hire vehicle 
unless it is satisfied that the applicant is a fit and proper person.  
In order to determine such fitness, the applicant shall be required to undertake the following:  
Written tests of the applicant’s knowledge of:  
(a) Local geography  

(b) The Highway Code  

(c) The hackney carriage and private hire licensing policy, as applicable  

(d) Numeracy  

(e) Disability Awareness and  

(f) Legislation Associated with hackney carriage or private hire vehicle driving  

(g) Safeguarding  
 
See further within Appendix F. 

 

Appendix F: Testing of applicants  
1.0 Introduction  
Applicant for hackney carriage and private hire drivers’ licences will be required to undergo written 
tests as part of the process of satisfying the council that they are suitable persons to hold such a 
licence. In addition, the council needs to be satisfied as to the medical fitness of applicants seeking a 
licence.  

2.0 Local Geography  
Applicants will be tested on their knowledge of South Lakeland District Council geography, by 
recording the shortest routes between locations in the area. Private hire drivers are not required to 
undertake and pass a test with respect of local geography because journeys taken will always be pre-
booked.  

3.0 Highway code  
Applicants will be asked to answer a number of questions as to driving skill, road information and 
etiquette as set out in the Highway Code.  

4.0 District Council Policy  

Page 125



Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 
Applicants will be tested on their knowledge and understanding of the hackney carriage and private 
hire licensing policy document.  

5.0 Numeracy  
Applicants will be tested on their ability to carry out elementary mental arithmetic, as encountered in 
calculating the change to be paid to a potential customer who overpays a fare.  

6.0 Disability awareness  
All applicants will be tested on their knowledge on the carriage of assistance animals and interaction 
with disabled customers.  

Page 126



Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

7.0 Safeguarding  
Applicants will be tested on their understanding and awareness of safeguarding. The local authority 
will also include some questions on safeguarding.  

8.0 General  
Questions covering vehicle maintenance, seat belts, smoking.  
A maximum number of three attempts has been imposed for which applicants (for the grant of a hackney 

carriage/private hire drivers licence) are able to undertake the council’s tests (numeracy, highway code, local 

geography and council Policy), after which there will be a minimum period of six months before any new testing 

may take place. Applicants will not be considered to be fit and proper to hold a licence unless or until they have 

achieved the requisite pass rate 75%in the test. If any safeguarding questions are failed, irrespective of overall 

pass rate, the test result will be a fail. 

Safeguarding  
On occasions, drivers may become aware of, or have suspicions that, their passengers may be the 
victim of abuse, neglect or exploitation either sexual or otherwise, or at risk of 48 becoming a victim. In 
addition, drivers themselves may be accused of misconduct or inappropriate behaviour through their 
actions or conversation.  
Therefore, South Lakeland District Council is proposing to introduce this Code of Conduct which is 
aimed at providing the best possible service by protecting both passengers and drivers. This ensures 
that concerns, suspicions of abuse, neglect or exploitation can be reported appropriately and minimise 
the risk of misunderstandings.  
Drivers are expected to comply with this Code of Conduct. Failure to do so may result in the driver 
being referred to the Licensing Regulatory Sub- Committee to explain the circumstances surrounding 
any incident. In the event of a repeated and/or serious failure to comply, drivers can expect that 
consideration will be given to the suspension or revocation of their licence.  
It should be noted that the code does not override any obligations that are enshrined in legislation, 
licence conditions or contractual obligations, such as County Council contracts.  
Drivers should:  

 Act in a professional manner at all times  

 Treat passengers and other road users with respect  

 Keep relationships with passengers on an appropriate, professional basis  

 Respect all individuals: regardless of age, disability, gender, sexual orientation, gender 
reassignment, religion/belief, language spoken, race or ethnicity  
 
And be aware of:  

 Safety and wellbeing of passengers must be paramount  

 The importance of the use of appropriate language  

 Be aware of the vulnerability of children and adults  

 Be aware of passengers with special needs  

 Any instruction given about the care or first aid requirements of a passenger  

 Personal beliefs and standards, including dress and religion  

 Passengers misreading situations  

 The use of social networking sites such as Facebook and Twitter. These are public websites and 
therefore passengers conveyed may access a Driver’s site. Ensure you use the appropriate privacy 
settings to avoid passengers viewing your social media sites  

 

Page 127



Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 
Drivers should never:  

 Become over friendly or unprofessional in any way with passengers or engage in any form of 
inappropriate relationship, infatuation or show favouritism  

 Inappropriately touch a passenger, unless in an emergency situation, or if required to do so because 
of the additional needs of the passenger  

 Administer medication unless a specific request has been made by the hirer  

 Photograph or video passengers in your care unless used in compliance with data protection 
legislation and any relevant codes of practice issued by the Home Office or Information 
Commissioner’s office  

 Engage with passengers through social networking sites (such as Facebook and Twitter), instant 
messengers or any other online communication software such as mobile phone applications or video 
games (other than for clear and obvious business connections)  

 Phone or send text messages to passengers other than directly concerning the hiring of your vehicle  

 Swear, make personal/humiliating comments, or tell inappropriate jokes in person or by any other 
means e.g. social media  

 Offer cigarettes or gifts of any sort  

 Stop anywhere other than the specified pick up/drop off points unless requested by the hirer  

 Show passengers videos or pictures on your mobile phone or any other electronic device  
 
Safeguarding:  
If a driver has concerns or suspects abuse, neglect or exploitation of a passenger then these should 
not be ignored. If there are any suspicions or concerns about the way someone is being treated it is 
important to report this. The safeguarding of children and vulnerable adults is everybody’s 
responsibility. Remember that your information could help a vulnerable child or adult.  
If a driver is working under a Cumbria County Council contract then their documents and guidance 
procedures should be followed alongside any training received by the driver.  
Otherwise, the following procedures should be complied with in reporting any information or suspicions 
you may have of anyone being subject to abuse, neglect or exploitation:  
Action to be taken if you have concerns:  

 If your concerns are of an urgent matter or you believe that a crime has been committed and there is 
an immediate risk of danger, telephone the police on 999 or 112  

 If you are suspicious or are concerned that a child or an adult is suffering or is likely to suffer 
significant harm, including any form of mistreatment, abuse, neglect or exploitation but it is not of an 
urgent matter, please call South Lakeland District Council Licensing Team on 01539 733 333  

 If you would prefer to speak to the police on a non-urgent matter then call them on 101 and follow 
the directions for Cumbria Constabulary  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 128



Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

 
ANNEX 6.4   MEMBERS – SPECIFIC PROCEDURES  
 

 

Members differ from employees in the way that conduct is investigated and sanctioned.   
 
The 2013 Code of Conduct for Members and Co-opted Members of the Authority makes clear that,  

“You must not bring your office or your Authority into disrepute” 
“You must promote high standards of conduct when serving in your office” 
 

Safeguarding children and young people is a key area where members must use their training and consult SLDC 
policy and procedures in order to apply appropriate conduct and make necessary interventions and share information. 
 
The Operational Procedures apply to the work they do in communities and they are supported in their role by SLDC 
Safeguarding policy officer and the Designated Safeguarding Lead. 
 
Members are supported also by a training and awareness raising programme on appointment.  Part of their induction 
comprises of a takeaway guide ‘Practical Guide for new councillors’ and from 2017 there will be a section in it referring 
to children’s safeguarding.   Members are also invited to regular bi-annual safeguarding training. 
 
 
 

Page 129



Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

ANNEX 6.5   SUB CONTRACTED SERVICES – SPECIFIC PROCEDURES 

 
The SLDC Safeguarding Children Policy 2016 states: 

 “Section 11 of the Children Act 2004 sets out the relevant duty: 
“Any person or body to whom the duty applies must ensure that their functions are 
discharged with regard to the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. 
The duty requires the council to ensure that: 

a) Its functions are discharged having regard to the need to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of children and; 

      b)  Services they contract out to others have regard to the need to 
           Safeguard and promote the welfare of children.” 

 
In practice this means that all procurement needs to take this into account in the sub-contracting of services. 

Both large-scale procurement (managed by a central co-ordinator) and small scale procurement (under £10,000) need 

to apply the same following protocols: 

1. Service analysis – If the service involves personnel who may have contact with children and young people or 

families then HR needs to be consulted regarding DBS, induction and training requirements for the specific roles. 

See Annex 6.1 for more guidance. 

2. Use of agency employees – SLDC use a formal job description for hiring agency employees with corporate 

conditions of service including safeguarding. 

3. Accountability –SLDC Leads are accountable for the discharge of S11 duties. Leads are responsible for writing 

the specification/ statement of requirements for the services to be delivered, including any Safeguarding and DBS 

requirements. This then forms part of the contract. They also monitor sub-contractor performance and conduct. 

 

  

Page 130



Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

ANNEX 6.6   PROTECTING YOUNG EMPLOYEES – SPECIFIC 
PROCEDURES 

 
Young people who do not hold a level 3 educational training are required to stay in education or training at least part-
time, until they are 18 years old. They are required to take part in education or training through either: 

 Full-time education or training, including school, or college. 

 Work-based learning, such as Apprenticeships or part-time education, or training, or volunteering more than 
20 hours a week. 

 The education or training can be work-based. 
 
Most likely, SLDC employees would come across young people in the workplace as either work experience 
(volunteers) or apprentices (employees). 
 
If SLDC employs a young person we will pay due attention to: 
1. Working time regulations 

 Normally younger workers (16 & 17 year olds) are entitled to 12 hours of uninterrupted rest within a 24 hour 
period in which they work. If a shift last longer than 4.5 hours then they will be entitled to a break of 30 
minutes. 

 They are entitled to 2 days off per week and these cannot be averaged over a 2 week period, and they should 
be consecutive days. These workers do not normally work for more than 40 hours per week (Council 
maximum working hours = 37 per week). 

 All workers are entitled to at least the statutory annual leave allowance of 5.6 of their working week. 
 
2. Night work limits 
Workers under 18 are not usually allowed to work at night, however, exceptions can apply in some circumstances. 
Younger workers may work during the night if they are employed in a hospital or similar places of work, or in areas 
such as, advertising, sporting or cultural activities. 
 
Key points: 

 Young workers are entitled to two days off per week. 

 A daily rest break of 12 consecutive hours (the break between finishing work one day and starting work the 
next). 

 A rest break of at least 30 minutes if the working day lasts more than 4.5 hours. 

 Young workers normally will not work more than 8 hours a day and 40 hours a week. 

 Young workers don't normally work at night - however, there are some exceptions. 

 Workers aged 16-17 are entitled to be paid at least the National Minimum Wage at the relevant rate. 
 

SLDC EMPLOYEE SUPPORT AND MANAGEMENT OF YOUNG EMPLOYEES 
 
SLDC managers will: 

 Induct a young employee paying more attention to: 
o Helping them understand health and safety risks (health and safety research indicate this is an important 

area) 
o Their general welfare in the work environment – recognising this may be the first time they are alongside 

adults as peers 
o Addressing their rights as employees 

 Consider if they themselves or another colleague now require a DBS check (this is dependent on role and would 
only really be necessary if there was an element of extended travel or an overnight stay (for example to a training 
event or conference) 

 
SLDC colleagues will: 

 Recognise the difference between a volunteer work placement and a young employee and will be aware of the 
difference in duty of care accordingly. 

 

SLDC EMPLOYEE SUPPORT AND MANAGEMENT OF WORK EXPERIENCE 
PLACEMENTS 

 
Children aged 17 or under on any work experience opportunity should be treated as children (from a safeguarding 
perspective).  Simply this requires: 

 An agreement with school/college regarding responsibility and duty of care 

 SLDC employees to have requisite DBS checks (dependent on length of placement/nature of role) 

 Welfare provision – such as mentoring and supervision  

Page 131



Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

ANNEX 6.7 PUBLIC BUILDINGS – SPECIFIC PROCEDURES 

Every facility SLDC manages, operates or sub contracts will be different.  Below are some guidelines regarding the 

safeguarding of children and young people as part of the wider community access to SLDC facilities. 

It is up to the Operational Lead to record a ‘safeguarding children and young person’ audit that they should create 

using the guidelines below as headings for consideration. 

Question: Consider: 

How do young people access the facilities?  Independently without a parent/carer 

 As a child, attending with a parent 

What ages are most common?  Babies 

 Toddlers 

 Primary aged children 

 teenagers 

What risks to children do the premises 
present? 

 Other users groups using communal areas such as 
lobby/kitchens/toilets 

 Where are the main entrance/exit routes? 

 Building security arrangements? 

 Employees working in isolation in public areas (e.g. cleaner?) 

 Shared toilet facilities between children and adults? 

 Access to alcohol/adults under the influence of alcohol? 

What safeguarding measures are already 
in place? 

 Employees trained in safeguarding 

 Relevant employees with DBS  

 Visible posters and information about safe employees /safe 
areas 

 Separate toilets 

 Agreements with other building users about conduct 

 Ways of segregating groups/users 

 Letting/hiring arrangements that cover safeguarding children 

 

Measures are in place to safeguard children who come in to use Kendal Town Hall:  

 

• All external hirers using KTH offering classes for children have to have supply a copy of their safeguarding 

policy 

 

• Regular checks on the toilets are carried out by the caretakers throughout the day and recorded 

 

• The majority of the caretaking team have received safe guarding training- this should ideally be refreshed 

when the building re-opens because I have 4 new members of staff within the caretaking team. 

 

• The conditions of hire for KTH has a section relating to children using the premises 

There is a difference between an SLDC led event in SLDC premises and an external group hiring SLDC premises for 

their own activity. 

SLDC has greater duty of care when running their own event and need to risk assess the entire activity from 

supervising children until they are collected, seeking health and consent information and maintaining the duty of care 

whilst children are on site –even when at the toilet/at a cafe. 

SLDC are not obliged to monitor the safeguarding policies of their users, however, the poor practice of another agency 

could have negative results for SLDC and impact upon reputation.  If there is a letting/hiring procedure in place then 

SLDC could aim to increase the adoption of strong safeguarding measures in the agreement minimising issues by 

ensuring that: 

 Children use a disabled toilet so they do not have to share with adult users/alternatively they go in pairs to a 

shared toilet block 

 Children use a separate toilet in groups if an alcohol related event on in the building 

 Users take responsibility for briefing the children on the layout of the building so that they don’t get lost or stray 

from their ‘designated area’ – perhaps SLDC could produce more signage if this was an issue  

Page 132



Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 
 Key employees (such as cleaners/caretakers) who operate in isolation are trained and vetted. 

  

Page 133



Appendix 2  V0.3 May 2020 

ANNEX 6.8 STREET SCENE – SPECIFIC PROCEDURES 

 

As part of a standard operating procedure, if a member of the Street Scene team comes across a ‘sharp’ that has not 

been safely disposed of, they collect it if they have the appropriate equipment, or call for a colleague to come and 

collect it. 

If the information is shared with Enforcement Officers then they are in a good position to consider whether there are 

children in the home and whether they think the information is worth sharing with the safeguarding hub or with a 

partner colleague (such as South lakes Housing) who may already be supporting the family as part of an Early Help 

Team Around the Family. 

Therefore, all Street Scene personal should be aware of the procedure for sharing information regarding ‘sharps’ as 

appropriate to an Enforcement Officer or partners agency. 

Underage drinking / drug use 

If members of the Street Scene team come across young people drinking alcohol or taking drugs they are advised to 

contact the Police through 101 or 999 as necessary. The police operator would grade the response depending on the 

circumstances. 

If Streetscene team members come across areas where these activities are taking place this should be shared with 

the Community team or the PCSO for the area.    

 

Other services: 

 Waste and recycling 

 Neighbourhood enforcement 

 Lake Windermere 

 Car parking 

 Parks and Open Spaces 

 Play areas 

 Cemeteries 

 Arts and Culture 

Refer to procedures in section 3. 

 

SLDC SAFEGUARDING COMMUNICATIONS FLOW CHART 

 

 

 

Page 134



Modern Slavery Statement 
South Lakeland District Council 
Appendix 3 
 

1 

Modern Slavery Statement 
Date: July 2020 
Version: DRAFT 
Classification: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 

Introduction 
This statement constitutes our actions to ensure there is no slavery or human trafficking in 
our business and supply chains. This statement is for the financial year ending 31 March 
2021 to meet the requirements of Section 54 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015. 
 
As part of the public sector we are committed to improving our practices to identify and 
combat this crime.  The Council recognises its responsibility to take a robust approach to 
modern slavery and human trafficking as an employer, commissioner and contractor of 
other bodies, and acknowledges its duty to notify the Secretary of State of suspected victims 
of slavery or human trafficking as required by section 52 of the Modern Slavery Act 2015. 
 
The Council is committed to preventing and taking action against identified slavery and 
human trafficking in its corporate activities, its supply chains and the wider community, and 
ensuring these are free from slavery and human trafficking. 
 
This statement covers the activities of South Lakeland District Council. The statement covers 
direct employees of the Council, agency workers and services delivered on behalf of the 
Council by third party organisations and in the Council’s supply chains. 
 

Our structure, our business and our supply chains 
The Council Cabinet has overall responsibility for services in South Lakeland and works 
within the overall policies and budget agreed by Council - a meeting of all elected members. 
Council Cabinet makes recommendations to Council on key items of policy and the annual 
budget. The Council has 51 elected councillors and the Council is led by a Cabinet of 7 
Portfolio Holders. 
 
The vision, as stated in South Lakeland District Council’s Council Plan is: 
 

“Working together to make  South Lakeland the best place to live, work and 
explore”. 
 
Through our 'Customer Connect' programme, we are transforming the way we deliver 
services to our customers and how we will achieve our vision. 
 
We aim to inspire and empower our communities to thrive. 
 
We aim to deliver excellent value-for-money, services, playing a leadership role and 
influencing others and considering the social, economic and environmental value of 
everything we do. This means: 
 

Page 135



Modern Slavery Statement 
South Lakeland District Council 
Appendix 3 
 

2 

Modern Slavery Statement 
Date: July 2020 
Version: DRAFT 
Classification: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 listening to our customers and our employees their ideas and comments will help us 
make improvements to customer service and workforce development 

 seeking continuous improvement in what we do, ensuring that our actions address 
the needs of South Lakeland 

 being courteous, efficient and transparent in our dealings with the public 
 

The Council is currently split into two directorates and is led by Chief Executive: 
 Customer and Commercial Services 
 Strategy, Innovation and Resources 

 
South Lakeland District Council is the district authority for South Lakeland with responsibility 
for providing a wide range of statutory and discretionary services for its residents, 
businesses, visitors and partners. The Council manages a wide range of services which are 
delivered directly and through external contractors. South Lakeland District Council only 
operates within the United Kingdom. 
 
Approximately 400 people work for the Council. The jobs they do range across a large 
number of services such as housing, local planning, economic development, street 
cleansing, parks, recycling and waste management. 
 
The Council procures goods and services from various suppliers and this is governed by our 
procurement strategy. 
 

Policies 
The following policies and procedures are considered to be key in meeting the requirements 
of the Modern Slavery Act. 
 
Council Plan  
The Council Plan is a key document that describes our priorities, resources and how we will 
monitor progress.  
 
Safeguarding 
The Council embraces its responsibility to develop, implement and monitor policies and 
procedures to safeguard the welfare of children and adults at risk. The Council has a 
comprehensive Safeguarding Policy which all staff and Councillors are expected to read and 
work within. The Council works within multi-agency partnerships to protect and safeguard 
people. 
 
Human Resources /Employment Policies and Practices 
The Council has a robust and ongoing Policy Review Programme with input from HR 
Advisors, Senior Managers, Team Leaders, Employees and Unions, reporting to the Joint 

Page 136



Modern Slavery Statement 
South Lakeland District Council 
Appendix 3 
 

3 

Modern Slavery Statement 
Date: July 2020 
Version: DRAFT 
Classification: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

Consultative Panel and Corporate Management Team. The Programme reviews all HR 
policiesensuring that these comply with national legislation and guidance. 
  

Page 137



Modern Slavery Statement 
South Lakeland District Council 
Appendix 3 
 

4 

Modern Slavery Statement 
Date: July 2020 
Version: DRAFT 
Classification: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
Recruitment 
The Council’s recruitment processes are transparent and reviewed regularly. They include 
robust procedures for vetting new employees, which ensures they are able to confirm their 
identities and qualifications, and they are paid directly into an appropriate, personal bank 
account. To comply with the Asylum, Immigration and Nationality Act 2006, all prospective 
employees are asked to supply evidence of their eligibility to work in the UK. References are 
also requested and followed up. 
 
Agency Workers 
The Council uses only reputable employment agencies to source labour and verifies the 
practices of any new agency it is using before accepting workers from that agency. 
 
Pay 
The Council operates a Job Evaluation Scheme to ensure that all employees are paid fairly 
and equitably.  
 
Employee Code of Conduct 
The Council’s Employee Code of Conduct makes clear to employees the actions and 
behaviours expected of them when representing the Council. The Council strives to 
maintain the highest standards of employee conduct and ethical behaviour and breaches 
are investigated. 
 
Whistleblowing 
The Council encourages all its employees, customers and other business partners to report 
any concerns related to the direct activities or the supply chains of the Council. The 
Council’s whistleblowing procedure is designed to make it easy for employees to make 
disclosures, without fear of retaliation. 
 
Procurement Contractors and Service Providers 
The Council is committed to ensuring that its contractors adhere to the highest standards of 
ethics. The Council expects its key contractors to have safeguarding policies, procedures and 
training in place. All tender processes require bidders to provide confirmation that they are 
compliant with the Modern Slavery Act 2015. In addition, before being added to the finance 
system, all new suppliers will have provided confirmation of compliance. 
 
Equality and Diversity 
The Council’s Equality Policy is a declaration of its commitment to making equality an 
integral part of its business. This includes a commitment to use our influence and 
purchasing power to help make equality a reality for all and to take action to eradicate 
discrimination and inequality when delivering services, when employing others to deliver 
services on our behalf and when providing funding to others to provide services. 
  

Page 138



Modern Slavery Statement 
South Lakeland District Council 
Appendix 3 
 

5 

Modern Slavery Statement 
Date: July 2020 
Version: DRAFT 
Classification: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 

Partnerships 
Through its Community Safety function, the council takes a leading role in disrupting 
perpetrators and supporting victims of human trafficking and modern day slavery in our 
area and further afield. We strive for a community wherein awareness of all forms of human 
trafficking and modern day slavery is commonplace and that across all sectors people work 
collectively to eradicate its existence in our community. 
 
The Council works in partnership with a wide range of agencies to prevent abuse and 
neglect, to detect and report occurrences and to support victims. This includes the Cumbria 
Safeguarding Children and Adults Boards and Safer Cumbria. 
 

Training and Awareness 
The Council has a programme of induction and ongoing mandatory training that all 
employees must complete, including Safeguarding Awareness Training. This enables officers 
in community-facing roles to identify and know how to report incidents of abuse and 
neglect, including modern slavery and human trafficking.  
 

Procurement  
Suppliers and contractors for South Lakeland District Council must: 
 

 Comply with all applicable anti-slavery and human trafficking laws, statutes, 
regulations and codes from time to time in force including but not limited to the 
Modern Slavery Act 2015 

 Warrant that none of its officers, employees or other persons associated with it: 
1. has been convicted of any offence involving slavery and human trafficking; 

and 
2. having made reasonable enquiries, so far as it is aware has been or is the 

subject of any investigation, inquiry or enforcement proceedings by any 
governmental, administrative or regulatory body regarding any offence or 
alleged offence of or in connection with slavery and human trafficking. 

 Implement due diligence procedures for its subcontractors servants agents and 
suppliers and other participants in its supply chains, to ensure that there is no slavery 
or human trafficking in its supply chains. 

 Notify the Council as soon as it becomes aware of any actual or suspected slavery or 
human trafficking in a supply chain which has a connection with this Contract. 

 
 

  

Page 139



Modern Slavery Statement 
South Lakeland District Council 
Appendix 3 
 

6 

Modern Slavery Statement 
Date: July 2020 
Version: DRAFT 
Classification: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 
Due diligence 
We adhere to Section 52 of the Modern Slavery Act - Duty to Notify. Incidents of modern 
slavery are referred to the police. 
 
The Council works to ensure the safeguarding of all vulnerable people and recognises at risk 
groups including workers in certain occupations such as car washes, care work and large 
numbers of adults in multiple occupancy domestic properties. 
 

Review and Approval 
This statement has been approved by the Council’s Corporate Management Team and the 
Portfolio Holder for Health, Wellbeing and Financial Resilience. This statement will be 
reviewed annually, and adopted formally each March. Responsibilities for the Statement 
and Modern Slavery are designated as: 
 
Modern Slavery Transparency Statement: Health, Wellbeing and Financial Resilience 
Portfolio Holder 

 The Portfolio Holder is responsible for the Council’s Modern Slavery Statement. 
 
Developing and Updating the Statement: Designated Modern Slavery Lead - Strategy 
Specialist 

 The Designated Modern Slavery Lead within Community Safety, in conjunction with 
HR, Procurement, Safeguarding and Legal, monitors and updates the Modern Slavery 
Statement in line with national guidelines and organisation development priorities. 

 
Risk Assessments and Prevention: Designated Modern Slavery Lead 

 The Designated Modern Slavery Lead within Community Safety is responsible for:  
o working with Operational Leads to identify high risk activities and appropriate 

actions relating to modern slavery and human trafficking; 
o ensuring appropriate information and training for Staff and Councillors; 
o ensuring that this Statement and resulting actions are embedded within the 

Council’s Safeguarding Policies and Procedures. 
 
Early Identification and Notification: Operational Leads 

 Operational Leads will notify any suspected modern slavery concerns encountered in 
the course of their work, to the Designated Modern Slavery Lead within Community 
Safety. They will ensure that they and their staff complete all relevant training. 

 
Identifying and Reporting Concerns: All Staff and Councillors 

Page 140



Modern Slavery Statement 
South Lakeland District Council 
Appendix 3 
 

7 

Modern Slavery Statement 
Date: July 2020 
Version: DRAFT 
Classification: NOT PROTECTIVELY MARKED 

 As with all safeguarding concerns, all Staff and Councillors are required to share 
these via the Council’s safeguarding processes in order that they can be investigated 
and action taken as required. 

 
For further information regarding this statement and our work on Modern Slavery, contact: 
Simon Blyth: Strategy Specialist  
Email: s.blyth@southlakeland.gov.uk  
Telephone: 01539 793262 
 

Page 141

mailto:s.blyth@southlakeland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 142



APPENDIX 4 

 South Lakeland District Council 

Health, Social, Economic & Environmental Impact Guidance & Proforma 
 

Project, policy or programme: Safeguarding Children and Modern Slavery 

Health Impacts Potential Impacts 

Positive No 
impact 

Negative Not 
sure 

Comments Recommendations 

Please tick the appropriate box   

Environmental Conditions 
Air quality 

 

 x     

Water quality and 
pollution 

 

 x     

Built environment 

 

 x     

Natural environment 
and biodiversity 

 

 x     

Energy 
consumption/efficiency 

 

 x     

Noise 

 

 x     

Transport 

 

 x     

Recycling 

 

 x     

Food production 

 

 x     

Social and Economic Factors 
Employment 

 

 x     

Income 

 

 x     

Poverty 

 

x    Interventions to 
support a child or 
victim of modern 
slavery will promote 
their welfare and 
improve their 
wellbeing. 

 

Education, skills and 
training 

 

x      

Housing 

 

x      

Page 143



APPENDIX 4 

Project, policy or programme: Safeguarding Children and Modern Slavery 

Health Impacts Potential Impacts 

Positive No 
impact 

Negative Not 
sure 

Comments Recommendations 

Please tick the appropriate box   
Crime 

 

x      

Work environment 

 

 x     

Factors that impact a person’s ability to improve their own health and wellbeing 
Nutrition and diet 

 

x      

Physical activity 

 

x      

Alcohol 

 

x      

Drugs 

 

x      

Risk taking behaviour 

 

x      

Smoking 

 

 x     

Loneliness and 
isolation 

 

x      

Access to services, spaces or social opportunities that impact health 
Communication 
methods 

 

 x     

Active travel 

 

 x     

Access to leisure 

 

 x     

Access to culture 

 

 x     

Access to green 
spaces 

 

 x     

 

Page 144



Document is Restricted

Page 145

Item No.12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 151

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 153

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Cabinet Executive Decisions
	3 Delegated Executive Decisions
	4 Lancaster and South Cumbria Joint Committee
	Minutes

	8 Forward Plan
	Plan

	9 Corporate Financial Update Quarter 2, 2020/21
	Corporate Finance Update Q2 2020/21  - Appendix 1
	Corporate Finance Update Q2 2020/21  - Appendix 2
	Corporate Finance Update Q2 2020/21  - Appendix 3
	Corporate Finance Update Q2 2020/21  - Appendix 4

	10 Council Tax Discounts and Premia
	Council Tax Discounts and Premia  - Appendix 1
	Council Tax Discounts and Premia  - Appendix 2

	11 Safeguarding Children and Modern Slavery Policies
	Safeguarding Children and Modern Slavery Policies - Appendix 1
	Safeguarding Children and Modern Slavery Policies - Appendix 2
	Safeguarding Children and Modern Slavery Policies - Appendix 3
	Safeguarding Children and Modern Slavery Policies - Appendix 4

	12 In House Repairs and Property Maintenance Service
	PART II In House Repairs and Property Maintenance Service - Appendix 1
	PART II In House Repairs and Property Maintenance Service - Appendix 2


